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For purposes of this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Form 10-K”), the terms “Verisign”, “the Company”, “we”, “us”, and “our” refer to VeriSign,
Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.
PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview
We are a global provider of domain name registry services and internet infrastructure, enabling internet navigation for many of the world’s most
recognized domain names. We enable the security, stability, and resiliency of key internet infrastructure and services, including providing root zone
maintainer services, operating two of the 13 global internet root servers, and providing registration services and authoritative resolution for the .com and
.net top-level domains (“TLDs”), which support the majority of global e-commerce.
We were incorporated in Delaware on April 12, 1995. Our principal executive offices are located at 12061 Bluemont Way, Reston, Virginia 20190.
Our telephone number at that address is (703) 948-3200. Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the ticker symbol VRSN.
VERISIGN, the VERISIGN logo, and certain other product or service names are registered or unregistered trademarks in the U.S. and other countries.
Other names used in this Form 10-K may be trademarks of their respective owners. Our primary website is https://www.Verisign.com. The information
available on, or accessible through, this website is not incorporated in this Form 10-K by reference.
Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), are available, free of charge, on the
Investor Relations section of our website as soon as is reasonably practicable after filing such reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”). The SEC maintains an internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC at https://www.sec.gov.
Pursuant to our agreements with the Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers (“ICANN”), we make available files containing all active
domain names registered in the .com and .net registries. Further, we also make available a summary of the active zone count registered in the .com and .net
registries and the number of .com and .net domain name registrations in the domain name base. The zone counts and information on how to obtain access to
the zone files can be found at https://www.Verisign.com/zone. The domain name base is the active zone plus the number of domain names that are
registered but not configured for use in the respective top-level domain zone file plus the number of domain names that are in a client or server hold status.
The domain name base may also reflect compensated or uncompensated judicial or administrative actions to add or remove from the active zone an
immaterial number of domain names. These files and the related summary data are updated at least once per day. The update times may vary each day. The
number of domain names provided in this Form 10-K are as of midnight of the date reported.
We announce material financial information to our investors using our investor relations website https://investor.Verisign.com, SEC filings, investor
events, news and earnings releases, public conference calls and webcasts. We use these channels as well as social media to communicate with our investors
and the public about our company, our products and services, and other issues. It is possible that the information we post on social media could be deemed
to be material information. Therefore, we encourage investors, the media, and others interested in our company to review the information we post on the
social media channels and websites listed below. This list may be updated from time to time on our investor relations website.
https://www.Facebook.com/Verisign
https://www.Twitter.com/Verisign
https://www.LinkedIn.com/company/Verisign
https://www.YouTube.com/user/Verisign
https://www.Verisign.com
https://blog.Verisign.com
The contents of these websites are not intended to be incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K or in any other report or document we file.
Services
We operate the authoritative directory of and/or the back-end systems for all .com, .net, .cc, .tv, .gov, .jobs, .edu and .name domain names, among
others. Our services allow individuals and organizations to establish their online identities, while providing the secure, always-on access they need to
communicate and transact reliably with large-scale online audiences.
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We are the exclusive registry of domain names within the .com, .net, and .name generic top-level domains (“gTLDs”), among others, under
agreements with ICANN and also, with respect to the .com agreement, the U.S. Department of Commerce (“DOC”). We are also the exclusive registry of
domain names within certain transliterations of .com and .net in a number of different native languages and scripts (“IDN gTLDs”). As a registry, we
maintain the master directory of all second-level domain names (e.g., example.com and example.net) in these gTLDs and IDN gTLDs. Our global
constellation of DNS servers provides internet protocol (“IP”) address information in response to queries, enabling the use of browsers, email systems, and
other systems on the internet. In addition, we own and maintain the shared registration system that allows ICANN-accredited registrars to enter new
second-level domain names into central directories and to submit modifications, transfers, re-registrations, and deletions for existing second-level domain
names (“Shared Registration System”).
In addition to our registry agreements with ICANN, we have agreements to operate the registries for the .tv and .cc country code top-level domains
(“ccTLDs”) for Tuvalu and Cocos (Keeling) Islands, respectively, and to operate the back-end registry systems for the .gov, .jobs, and .edu sponsored
TLDs, among others. These TLDs are also supported by our global constellation of DNS servers and Shared Registration System.
We also provide internationalized domain name (“IDN”) services that enable internet users to access domain names in characters representing their
local language. Our gTLDs and ccTLDs can support standards-compliant domain name registrations in over 100 different native languages and scripts.
We also perform the root zone maintainer function under an agreement with ICANN for the core of the internet’s DNS and operate two of the 13 root
zone servers that contain authoritative data for the top of the DNS hierarchy.
Domain names can be registered for between one and 10 years. The fees charged for .com, .net and .name may only be increased according to
adjustments prescribed in our agreements with ICANN over the applicable term. Revenues for .cc and .tv domain names and our IDN gTLDs are based on
a similar fee system and registration system, although the fees charged are not subject to the same pricing restrictions as those imposed by the DOC on
.com, or ICANN with respect to .net and .name. The fees received from operating the .gov registry are based on the terms of Verisign’s agreement with the
U.S. Government. The fees received from operating the .jobs registry infrastructure, and that of others for which Verisign provides such services, are based
on the terms of Verisign’s agreements with those respective registry operators.
Operations Infrastructure
Our operations infrastructure consists of secure data centers in Dulles, Virginia; Ashburn, Virginia; New Castle, Delaware; and Fribourg, Switzerland
as well as more than 100 other sites around the world. Our domain name servers refer requestors to the associated authoritative name servers for second
level domains under our TLDs, thus enabling DNS resolution for every .com and .net domain name on the internet and for domain names under a large
number of other TLDs. Our servers process more than 215 billion queries daily. Our operations infrastructure operates 24 hours a day, supporting our
services. The performance and availability of our infrastructure are critical for our business. Key features of our operations infrastructure include:
• Distributed Servers: We operate a large number of high-speed servers globally to support localized capacity and performance demands. In
conjunction with our proprietary software, processes and procedures, this global constellation of servers offers rapid failover, global and local load
balancing, and threshold monitoring on critical servers.
• Networking: We deploy and maintain a redundant and diverse global network, maintain high-speed, redundant connections to numerous internet
service providers, and maintain peering relationships globally to ensure that our critical services are readily accessible to customers at all times.
• Security: We incorporate architectural concepts such as protected domains, restricted nodes, and distributed access control in our system
architecture. In addition, we employ firewalls and intrusion detection software, as well as proprietary security mechanisms at many points across
our infrastructure. We perform recurring internal vulnerability testing and controls audits, and also contract with third-party security consultants
who perform periodic penetration tests and security risk assessments on our systems. We have engineered resiliency and diversity into how we
host classes of products throughout our set of interconnected sites to mitigate unknown vendor defects and zero-hour security vulnerabilities. This
includes different physical security silos, which themselves are separated into bulkheads, and in which servers are located. Corporate networks are
in their own physical silo. Thus, the corporate networks to which personnel directly connect are separated from the silos that house production
services; administration of production gear from corporate systems must go through an internal, fortified intermediary; and account credentials
used within the corporate networks are not used within the production silos, nor on the fortified systems.
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• Data Integrity: We employ both phased and systemic integrity validation operations via a number of proprietary mechanisms on all internal DNS
publication operations.
We have continuously expanded our infrastructure to meet demands to support normal and peak system load and attack volumes based on what we
have experienced historically, as well as to address projected internet attack trends.
Call Centers and Help Desk: We provide customer support services over the phone, by email and through web-based self-help systems. Our support
teams are staffed with trained technical customer support agents. Support is available for customers 24 hours a day, every day of the year. Throughout the
COVID-19 pandemic, our support teams have continued servicing our customers while working remotely.
Operations Support and Monitoring: Through our network operations center, we have an extensive monitoring capability that enables us to track the
status and performance of our critical database systems and our global resolution systems. Our network operations center monitors our systems 24 hours a
day, every day of the year and has continued to be staffed by employees working remotely during the COVID-19 pandemic.
Disaster Recovery Plans: We have disaster recovery and business continuity capabilities that are designed to deal with the loss of entire data centers
and other facilities. We maintain data centers with mirrored services that allow failover with no data loss and no loss of function or capacity, as well as a
tertiary facility in Switzerland. Our critical data services (including domain name registration and global resolution) use advanced storage systems that
provide data protection through techniques such as synchronous mirroring and remote replication. We periodically operate services at an alternate data
center during maintenance windows to ensure the availability of our data centers for disaster recovery.
Marketing, Sales and Distribution
We seek to expand our business through focused marketing campaigns and programs that target growth in the .com and .net domain name base, both
domestically and in foreign markets. We provide tools to be used by both registrars and end users to enable them to find relevant domain names. We have
marketing and sales offices in several countries around the world.
Research and Development
We believe that timely development of new and enhanced services, including monitoring and visualization, registry provisioning platforms,
navigation and resolution services, data services, value added services, and new and enhanced ways to ensure the security, stability, and resiliency of our
services, is necessary to remain competitive in the marketplace.
Our future success will depend, in large part, on our ability to continue to maintain and enhance our current technologies and services and to develop
new ones. We actively investigate and incubate new concepts and evaluate new business ideas through our innovation pipeline. We expect that most of the
future enhancements to our existing services and our new services will be the result of internal development efforts in collaboration with suppliers, other
vendors, customers, and the technology community. Under certain circumstances, we may also acquire or license technology from third parties.
The markets for our services are dynamic, characterized by ongoing technological developments, shifting channel dynamics, frequent new product
introductions, and evolving industry standards. The constantly changing nature of these markets and the continued evolution of security threats will require
us to continually improve the performance, features, and reliability of our services, and to introduce both new and enhanced products and services.
Competition
We face competition in the domain name registry space from other gTLD and ccTLD registries that are competing for the business of entities and
individuals that are seeking to obtain a domain name registration. In addition to the gTLDs and ccTLDs we operate or for which we provide back-end
registry services, there are over 1,200 other operational gTLD registries, over 250 ASCII ccTLD registries, more than 50 IDN ccTLD registries, and over
90 IDN gTLD registries. Under our agreements with ICANN, we are subject to certain restrictions in the operation of .com, .net and .name on pricing,
bundling, marketing, methods of distribution, introduction of new registry services, and use of registrars, that do not apply to ccTLDs and other gTLDs and
therefore may create a competitive disadvantage. Among our competitors operating gTLD and ccTLD registries are China Internet Network Information
Center (CNNIC), DENIC, Nominet, Public Interest Registry (PIR), Donuts, GoDaddy, and Radix.
To the extent end-users navigate using search engines or social media, as opposed to direct navigation via domain names, or transact on e-commerce
platforms, we face competition from search engines such as Google, Bing, Yahoo!, and Baidu, social media networks such as Facebook and WeChat, ecommerce platforms such as Amazon, eBay and Taobao, and microblogging tools such as Twitter. In addition, we face competition from these social media
and e-commerce platforms if they are used by businesses and individuals to establish an online presence rather than through the use of a domain name.
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Furthermore, to the extent end-users increase the use of mobile applications to locate and access content, we face competition from providers of such web
and mobile applications.
New technologies and the expansion of existing technologies may increase competitive pressure. In addition, our industry is characterized by
collaborative relationships involving, and consolidation of, our competitors. Our ability to participate and benefit from such collaborative arrangements or
consolidations may be limited and such collaborative arrangements and consolidations could harm our competitive position and adversely impact our
business.
We compete with numerous companies that offer outsourced domain name registration, resolution and other DNS services to registries that require a
reliable and scalable infrastructure. Among our competitors are Donuts, CentralNic Ltd., and GoDaddy.
Industry Regulation
The internet is governed under a multi-stakeholder model comprising civil society, the private sector including for-profit and not-for-profit
organizations such as ICANN, governments including the U.S. government, academia, non-governmental organizations, and international organizations.
ICANN plays a central coordination role in this bottom-up multi-stakeholder system. ICANN is mandated through its bylaws to uphold a private sector-led
multi-stakeholder approach to internet governance for the public benefit. ICANN’s multi-stakeholder policy development processes have created and will
continue to create policies, programs, and standards that directly or indirectly impact our business. Certain policies can be adopted as Consensus or
Temporary Policies, which we are obligated to follow under our agreements with ICANN. For example, in response to the General Data Protection
Regulation, ICANN issued a Temporary Policy modifying public access to information from the Whois services delivered by registrars and registries.
We are also subject to country-level laws and regulations in the United States and in foreign countries. In China, we are required to maintain licenses
for .com and .net TLDs under regulations issued by the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology. The licenses for the .com and .net TLDs must be
renewed in 2022. Additionally, in many jurisdictions in which we operate, including California, the European Union, the United Kingdom, China and
elsewhere, strict new data security and data privacy regulations have been or are being adopted. Because we do not possess extensive personal information,
we have not yet experienced significant impacts from these regulations. However, compliance costs and other business impacts could become significant as
regulatory enforcement increases, as courts interpret these regulations, and as new laws and regulations continue to be adopted. Other regulations, or
changes to regulations, may also impact our business operations including changes to the Digital Services Act or Network and Information Security
Directive, in the European Union, or the Communications Decency Act, in the United States.
.com Top-Level Domain
Our operation of the .com TLD is subject to the terms of a registry agreement with ICANN (as amended, the “.com Registry Agreement”). The
current term of the .com Registry Agreement is six years and must be renewed or extended by November 30, 2024. The .com Registry Agreement contains
a “presumptive” right of renewal; although, ICANN could terminate or refuse to renew. See “Risk Factors - Any loss or modification of our right to operate
the .com and .net gTLDs could have a material adverse impact on our business and result in loss of revenues.” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K for
further information.
Other significant terms within the .com Registry Agreement include performance specifications and service level agreements for the availability of
our DNS resolution services, our shared registration system, and our Whois services. The .com Registry Agreement contains marketing limitations,
including limitations on our ability to bundle products and the manner in which we provide marketing support to ICANN-accredited registrars. We are also
required under the .com Registry Agreement to provide ICANN-accredited registrars with access to our systems to register or take other actions related to
domain names. In order to introduce new Registry Services or make material changes to existing Registry Services, we must follow prescribed procedures
which permit ICANN to review and approve such services.
The .com Registry Agreement requires that on a quarterly basis we pay $0.25 to ICANN for each annual term of a domain name registered or
renewed during such quarter. Amendment 3 to the .com Registry Agreement permits an increase to the Maximum Price (as defined in the .com Registry
Agreement) of .com domain name registrations by up to 7% over the previous year in each of the final four years of each six-year period. The first such sixyear period began on October 26, 2018. Amendment 3 also clarified that the restrictions in the .com Registry Agreement relating to vertical integration
apply solely to the .com TLD and also clarified that our ability to increase prices by 7% over the previous year due to new ICANN Consensus Policies or
documented extraordinary expense may occur only in years where we do not otherwise take the price increases described above.
Our operation of the .com TLD is also subject to the terms of a Cooperative Agreement with the DOC. The Cooperative Agreement has undergone
various amendments with the most recent, Amendment 35, on October 26, 2018. Amendment 35 extended the term of the Cooperative Agreement until
November 30, 2024, which will automatically renew on the same terms
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for successive six-year terms unless the DOC provides written notice of non-renewal 120 days prior to the end of the then-current term.
Amendment 35 includes the DOC’s consent to the modification of the pricing terms in the .com Registry Agreement (as described above). Further, we
are entitled to increase the Maximum Price of a .com domain name due to the imposition of any new Consensus Policy or documented extraordinary
expense resulting from an attack or threat of attack on the Security or Stability of the DNS as described in the .com Registry Agreement, provided that we
may not exercise such right unless the DOC provides prior written approval that the exercise of such right will serve the public interest, such approval not
to be unreasonably withheld. The Cooperative Agreement further provides that we shall be entitled at any time during the term of the .com Registry
Agreement to seek to remove the pricing restrictions contained in the .com Registry Agreement if we demonstrate to the DOC that market conditions no
longer warrant pricing restrictions in the .com Registry Agreement, as determined by the DOC.
DOC approval of changes to or the renewal of the .com Registry Agreement was limited by Amendment 35 to only the following circumstances: (1)
changes to the pricing provisions (other than as approved in Amendment 35), (2) changes to the vertical integration provisions (other than the clarification
approved in Amendment 35), (3) changes to the security, stability and resiliency posture as reflected in the functional or performance specifications
(including the service level agreements), (4) changes to the conditions for renewal or termination of the .com Registry Agreement, or (5) changes to the
Whois service (except as mandated by ICANN through Temporary or Consensus Policies). As was the case with prior amendments, Amendment 35 is not
intended to confer federal antitrust immunity on the Company with respect to the .com Registry Agreement.
Finally, Amendment 35 clarified that the restrictions in the .com Registry Agreement relating to vertical integration apply solely to the .com TLD. As
to the .com TLD, we are not permitted to acquire, directly or indirectly, control of, or a greater than 15% ownership interest in, any ICANN-accredited
registrar that sells .com domain names. In addition, under Amendment 35, we have agreed to continue to operate the .com TLD in a content-neutral manner
and to work within ICANN processes to promote the development of content-neutral policies for the operation of the DNS.
.net Top-Level Domain
Our operation of the .net TLD is subject to the terms of a registry agreement with ICANN (as amended, the “.net Registry Agreement”). The current
term of this agreement is six years and must be renewed or extended by July 1, 2023. The terms of the .net Registry Agreement are substantially similar to
the terms of the .com Registry Agreement, except that we are entitled to raise the annual price for new and renewal .net domain name registrations by 10%
each year.
Root Operations
We operate two of the world’s thirteen root servers. Along with the ICANN community, we are involved in discussions to establish criteria for
operations of the root server system including the root servers that we operate. We also publish the root zone file, as the Root Zone Maintainer, under the
Root Zone Maintainer Service Agreement (“RZMA”) with ICANN. The RZMA will expire on October 19, 2024, with an automatic renewal, unless earlier
terminated.
The descriptions of the .com Registry Agreement, the Cooperative Agreement, and the .net Registry Agreement are qualified in their entirety by
reference to the text of the complete agreements that are incorporated by reference as exhibits in this Form 10-K.
Human Capital Management
We recognize the importance of talent and culture in driving an environment that fosters high performance. Our employee value proposition and
collaborative working environment allows us to attract a strong talent base to meet the current and future demands of our business.
We are committed to attracting, developing, and retaining the best talent, and we routinely monitor and present our progress in these areas to
executive management and the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors through a variety of workforce metrics (e.g. workforce demographics,
hiring, turnover, and promotion rates, including diversity characteristics for each of these metrics). As of December 31, 2020, we had 909 employees, of
which 907 were full-time. 839 employees (representing approximately 92% of our total workforce) were based in the U.S., and 70 employees (representing
approximately 8% of our total workforce) were based outside the U.S. As of December 31, 2020, approximately 29% of our global workforce was female,
and approximately 43% of our U.S. employees were ethnically and racially diverse. No U.S.-based employees are represented under collective bargaining
agreements. Based on periodic monitoring, we believe that our employee turnover rate is low compared to competitive benchmarks and historical trends.
We attribute our strong retention rates to our passion and focus on the Company’s mission, values, continual development of talent, and provision of
competitive and equitable reward programs. We regularly review our workforce policies, procedures, and training programs, as well as our overall
workforce demographics, in an effort to create a work environment that is diverse, equitable, inclusive, and free from discrimination.
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Key human capital areas that we focus on in managing our business include Employee Engagement and Retention, Compensation and Employee
Benefits, Talent Development, and Talent Acquisition.
•

Employee Engagement and Retention: We use employee feedback to monitor morale and engagement. During 2020, we conducted two surveys to
better understand our employees’ well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic and to more effectively guide our response. Over 86% of the
employee population participated in these surveys. The results indicated high satisfaction rates with our response to the pandemic, as well as our
communications during the pandemic. In addition, the survey results indicated that our employees remain highly engaged. In a separate Ethics and
Compliance survey, which 90% of our employees completed, the results indicated that our employees believe we live our values and have a
culture that is inclusive and ethical. We are a diverse organization, and we believe that drives stronger performance, better decision making, and a
culture where differences are valued. We continue to focus on the hiring, retention, and advancement of women and underrepresented populations.
Moreover, when we hire talent, they tend to stay. The average tenure of our employees is approximately 8 years and we maintain comparatively
low employee turnover rates.

• Compensation and Employee Benefits: To align with our philosophy of providing compelling total rewards, we have practices in place to deliver
fair and equitable compensation for employees based on their contribution and performance. We benchmark for market practices and regularly
review our compensation and benefits against the market to confirm they remain competitive. We also offer a comprehensive set of benefits.
• Talent Development: We are committed to the continued development of our people. Strategic talent reviews and succession planning occur on a
regular basis. Our management training is designed to increase capability in the areas of communication, engagement, coaching, conflict
management and business skills, and to foster an ethical, supportive work environment free from bias and harassment. We sponsor continuous skill
development for all employees through our online learning and development platform. In addition, we host a series of in-person and on-demand
learning sessions designed to build our team’s skills and knowledge required for the future.
• Talent Acquisition: We are focused on the increasingly competitive labor market, and we are working diligently to attract the best talent from a
diverse range of sources. Over the last several years we have refreshed our employment branding and developed targeted recruitment strategies for
specialized skill sets. In 2020, we hired 111 new employees.
During the COVID-19 pandemic, the safety and well-being of our employees has remained a key focus. Beginning in March 2020, we transitioned
approximately 95% of our employees to a work-from-home status. To protect the health of our employees who work on site, we have implemented rigorous
cleaning and safety protocols for our facilities. We adjusted employee leave and other policies with the intention of ensuring that our workforce had the
flexibility it needed to manage personal challenges arising from the pandemic. We enhanced mental health resources available to our employees, and
unique individual requirements are supported to the greatest degree possible. In addition, we have taken steps to ensure that our employees have the
equipment and resources that they require to work remotely. Finally, to reinforce our connection with our employees, we have significantly increased
leadership updates and management outreach. The health and well-being of our workforce remain a priority.
The following table shows a comparison of our consolidated employee headcount, by function:
As of December 31,
2020
2019
2018
Employee headcount by function:
Cost of revenues
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative

235
68
260
346
909

Total

259
71
214
328
872

281
84
219
316
900

Intellectual Property
We rely on a combination of copyrighted software, trademarks, service marks, patents, trade secrets, know-how, restrictions on disclosure, and other
methods to protect our proprietary assets. We also enter into confidentiality and/or intellectual property assignment agreements with our employees,
consultants and current and potential affiliates, customers and business partners. We also control access to and distribution of proprietary documentation
and other confidential information.
We have been issued numerous patents in the U.S. and abroad, covering a wide range of our technologies. Additionally, we continue to file patent
applications with respect to certain of our technologies in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and
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internationally. Patents may not be awarded with respect to these applications and even if such patents are awarded, such patents may not provide sufficient
protection of our technologies. We continue to consider opportunities for strategic growth and use of our patent portfolio.
We have obtained trademark registrations for the VERISIGN mark and VERISIGN logo in the U.S. and certain countries, and have pending
trademark applications for the VERISIGN logo in a number of other countries. We have common law rights in other proprietary names. We take steps to
enforce and police Verisign’s trademarks. We rely on the strength of our Verisign brand to help differentiate ourselves in the marketing of our products and
services.
Our principal intellectual property consists of, and our success is dependent upon, proprietary software used in our business and certain
methodologies (many of which are patented or for which patent applications are pending) and technical expertise and proprietary know-how we use in both
the design and implementation of our current and future registry services. We own our proprietary Shared Registration System through which registrars
submit second-level domain name registrations for each of the registries we operate, as well as the ATLAS distributed lookup system which processes
hundreds of billions of queries per day. Some of the software and protocols used in our business are in the public domain or are otherwise available to our
competitors, and some are based on open standards set by organizations such as the Internet Engineering Task Force. To the extent any of our patents are
considered “standard essential patents,” we may be required to license such patents to our competitors on reasonable and non-discriminatory terms or
otherwise be limited in our ability to assert such patents.
Information About Our Executive Officers
The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers as of February 19, 2021:
Name

D. James Bidzos
Todd B. Strubbe
George E. Kilguss, III
Thomas C. Indelicarto

Age

65
57
60
57

Position

Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
President and Chief Operating Officer
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

D. James Bidzos has served as Executive Chairman since August 2009 and Chief Executive Officer since August 2011. He served as President from
August 2011 to February 2020. He served as Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer on an interim basis from June 2008 to August 2009 and
served as President from June 2008 to January 2009. He served as Chairman of the Board since August 2007 and from April 1995 to December 2001. He
served as Vice Chairman of the Board from December 2001 to August 2007. Mr. Bidzos served as a director of VeriSign Japan from March 2008 to August
2010 and served as Representative Director of VeriSign Japan from March 2008 to September 2008. Mr. Bidzos served as Vice Chairman of RSA Security
Inc., an internet identity and access management solution provider, from March 1999 to May 2002, and Executive Vice President from July 1996 to
February 1999. Prior thereto, he served as President and Chief Executive Officer of RSA Data Security, Inc. from 1986 to February 1999.
Todd B. Strubbe has served as Chief Operating Officer since April 2015 and President since February 2020. From September 2009 to April 2015, he
served as the President of the Unified Communications Business Segment for West Corporation, a provider of technology-driven communications services.
Prior to this, he was a co-founder and Managing Partner of Arbor Capital, LLC. He has also served in executive leadership positions at First Data
Corporation and CompuBank, N.A. and as an associate and then as an engagement manager with McKinsey & Company, Inc. He also served for five years
as an infantry officer with the United States Army. Mr. Strubbe holds an M.B.A. degree from Harvard Business School and a B.S. degree from the United
States Military Academy at West Point.
George E. Kilguss, III has served as Chief Financial Officer since May 2012. From April 2008 to May 2012, he was the Chief Financial Officer of
Internap Network Services Corporation, an IT infrastructure solutions company. From December 2003 to December 2007, he served as the Chief Financial
Officer of Towerstream Corporation, a company that delivers high speed wireless internet access to businesses. From 1997 to 2000, he served as the Chief
Financial Officer of Stratos Global Corporation, a mobile satellite services company. Mr. Kilguss holds an M.B.A. degree from the University of Chicago’s
Graduate School of Business and a B.S. degree in Economics and Finance from the University of Hartford.
Thomas C. Indelicarto has served as General Counsel and Secretary since November 2014. From September 2008 to November 2014, he served as
Vice President and Associate General Counsel. From January 2006 to September 2008, he served as Litigation Counsel. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Indelicarto was in private practice as an associate at Arnold & Porter LLP and Buchanan Ingersoll (now, Buchanan Ingersoll & Rooney, PC). Mr.
Indelicarto also served as a U.S. Army officer for nine years. Mr. Indelicarto holds a J.D. degree from the University of Pittsburgh School of Law and a
B.S. degree from Indiana University of Pennsylvania.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Please carefully consider the following discussion of significant factors, events and uncertainties that make an investment in our securities risky. In
addition to other information in this Form 10-K, the following risk factors should be carefully considered in evaluating us and our business. When the
factors, events and contingencies described below or elsewhere in this Form 10-K materialize, our business, operating results, financial condition,
reputation, cash flows or prospects can be materially adversely affected. In such case, the trading price of our common stock could decline and you could
lose part or all of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also materially
adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition, reputation, cash flows and prospects. Actual results could differ materially from those
projected in the forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K as a result of the risk factors discussed below and elsewhere in this Form 10-K
and in other filings we make with the SEC. Additional or unforeseen effects from the COVID-19 pandemic and the global economic climate may give rise to
or amplify many of the risks discussed below.
Cybersecurity and Technology Risk Factors
Attempted security breaches, including from the exploitation of vulnerabilities, cyber-attacks and Distributed Denial of Service (“DDoS”) attacks
against our systems and services increase our costs, expose us to potentially material liability, and could materially harm our business and
reputation.
As an operator of critical internet infrastructure, we experience a high rate of cyber-attacks and attempted security breaches targeting our systems and
services, including the most sophisticated forms of attacks, such as advanced persistent threat attacks and zero-hour threats. The forms of these attacks are
constantly evolving and may involve methods, tools and strategies that have not been previously identified or observed until the moment of launch, or until
sometime after, making these attacks virtually impossible to anticipate and difficult to defend against. In addition to external threats, our systems and
services are subject to insider threat risks, including physical or electronic break-ins, sabotage, and from suppliers, such as consultants and advisors, SaaS
providers, hardware, software, and network systems manufacturers, regional internet registries, and other vendors, or from current or former contractors or
employees. These threats and any resulting security breach can arise from intentional or unintentional actions. Our continued exposure to these threats and
the potential that they could lead to material liability claims against us requires us to expend significant financial and other resources. Our failure to
identify, remediate and mitigate security threats, including insider threats, could result in material harm to our business, including loss of or delay in
revenues, failure to meet contracted service-level obligations, material liability claims, failure to maintain market acceptance, injury to our reputation, and
increased costs, and could call into question our ability to preserve the security and stability of the internet.
Security vulnerabilities in our systems and our vendors’ systems, including vulnerabilities in third party software and hardware, pose a material risk
to our operations. We use externally-developed technology, systems and services, including both hardware and software, for a variety of purposes,
including compute, storage, encryption and authentication, back-office support, and other functions. We have developed policies and procedures to reduce
the impact of security vulnerabilities in system components, as well as at any vendors where our data is stored or processed. However, such measures
cannot provide absolute security. While we strive to remediate known vulnerabilities on a timely basis, such vulnerabilities could be exploited before our
remediation is effective and if so, could cause systems and service interruptions, data loss and other damages. Our failure to identify, remediate and
mitigate security vulnerabilities, including any potential failure to timely replace and upgrade network equipment, servers, or other technology assets, could
result in material harm to our business, including loss of or delay in revenues, failure to meet contracted service-level obligations, material liability claims,
failure to maintain market acceptance, injury to our reputation, increased costs, and call into question our ability to preserve the security and stability of the
internet.
In addition, our networks have been, and likely will continue to be, subject to DDoS attacks. Recent industry experience has demonstrated that DDoS
attacks continue to grow in size and sophistication and have the ability to widely disrupt internet services. In recent years, the size of DDoS attacks has
grown rapidly. We have successfully mitigated DDoS attacks during this time frame that are significantly larger than those we have historically
experienced. While we have adopted mitigation techniques, procedures and strategies to defend against DDoS attacks, there can be no assurance that we
will be able to defend against every attack, especially as the attacks increase in size and sophistication. Any attack, even if only partially successful, could
disrupt our networks, increase response time, negatively impact our ability to meet our service level obligations, and generally impede our ability to
provide reliable service to our customers and the broader internet community. We have historically incurred, and will continue to incur, significant costs to
enable our infrastructure to process levels of attack traffic that are significant multiples of our normal transaction volume. We are employing new
technologies and new and different services and capabilities to help mitigate DDoS attacks. If these new technologies, services and capabilities are not
effective, our networks could be disrupted, our response times could increase, our ability to meet our contracted service level obligations could be
negatively impacted, and our ability to provide reliable service to our customers and the broader internet community could be impeded.
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We may introduce undetected or unknown defects into our systems or services, which could materially harm our business and harm our vendors
or our customers.
Despite testing, services as complex as those we offer or develop could contain undetected defects or errors, which could result in service outages or
disruptions, compromised customer data, including DNS data, diversion of development resources, injury to our reputation, tort or contract claims,
increased insurance costs or increased service costs. Performance of our services, whether or not defective, could have unforeseen or unknown adverse
effects on the networks over which they are delivered, on internet users and consumers, and on third-party applications and services that use our services,
any of which could result in legal claims against us. While we strive to prevent, detect and remediate defects or errors, they can and do occur and they
could result in our inability to meet customer expectations in a timely manner, failure to meet our contracted service level obligations, injury to our
reputation, and increased costs.
Our infrastructure and services are subject to vulnerabilities in the global routing system for the internet, as well as risks arising from internet
services providers’ increasing adoption of the Resource Public Key Infrastructure system.
Routing on the internet depends on the Border Gateway Protocol (“BGP”), which is a protocol that relies on networks within the internet
infrastructure acting in a trustworthy manner when sharing information about destinations for connectivity and the routing of internet traffic. As a trustbased protocol, BGP has a number of vulnerabilities that may lead to outages or disrupt our services, including as a result of “route hijacks” that involve
accidental or malicious rerouting of internet traffic, or “route leaks” that involve the malicious or unintentional propagation of routing information beyond
the intended scope of the originator, receiver, and/or one of the networks along the route’s path. Both route hijacks and route leaks can result in partial or
full rerouting of internet traffic for the impacted destinations. These events, which are beyond our control, could enable an array of attack conditions or
service disruptions, and could result in adverse publicity and adversely affect the public’s perception of the security of e-commerce and communications
over the internet, as well as of the security or reliability of our services.
To address internet routing system vulnerabilities, many internet service providers are beginning to adopt and apply internet reachability policies
based on a system known as the Resource Public Key Infrastructure (“RPKI”) operated by the regional internet registries (“RIRs”). The RIRs allocate
internet number resources, such as internet protocol addresses, to enterprises and network operators. We have limited visibility into the maturity of and
investment in the RIRs’ operational and security controls, which are outside of our control. When the availability, integrity, or confidentiality of any of the
information in the RPKI system, or systems used to maintain and administer RPKI data and systems, are impacted or otherwise compromised in any of the
RIRs, or any network operator that is a relying party of the RPKI system, or the operations or ingestion of data from the RPKI system are otherwise
impacted by a known or unknown vulnerability, our services may be negatively impacted. Such impacts may include degraded or full loss of reachability of
service addresses in the global internet routing system, resulting in degradation or complete loss of availability of our services. A compromise of the RPKI
system and related services, or unintentional or unauthorized manipulation of data therein, may also result in other denial of service attack conditions for
our infrastructure and services. The systemic dependencies introduced by RPKI and relying parties of the RPKI system, including network service
providers, are outside of our control and are only as secure as the weakest elements of the RPKI system. We may contract with one or more RIRs to employ
RPKI, which carries material operational risks, as described above, as well as material contractual risks, which may expose us to service disruptions and
material liability.
We could encounter system interruptions or systems failures resulting from activities beyond our direct control that could materially harm our
business.
We depend on the uninterrupted operation of our various systems, secure data centers and other computer and communication networks. Our systems
and operations are vulnerable to damage or interruption from power loss, transmission cable cuts and other telecommunications failures, damage or
interruption caused by fire, earthquake, and other natural disasters, intentional acts of vandalism, terrorist attacks, unintentional mistakes or errors. Our
systems and operations also face risks inherent in, or arising from, the terms and conditions of our agreements with service providers to operate our
networks and data centers. We are also subject to state suppression of internet operations. Any of these problems or outages could create potential liability
and exposure, including from a failure to meet our contracted service level obligations, and could decrease customer satisfaction, harming our business, or
resulting in adverse publicity and damage to our reputation or call into question our ability to preserve the security and stability of the internet.
Our data centers, including the Shared Registration Systems located at our data centers, and our resolution systems are vulnerable to damage or
interruption, which could impede our ability to provide our services, expose us to liability, and harm our reputation.
Most of the computing infrastructure for our Shared Registration System is located at, and most of our customer information is stored in, our owned
data centers. In 2019, we began expanding some of our data center services to a leased data center facility. These data centers are vulnerable to damage or
interruption, including from fires, earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, power loss, hardware or system failures, physical or electronic break-ins, human error or
interference. We are also updating our network architecture in several of our new and existing data centers. If our data center facilities or the updated
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network architecture do not operate as expected, including the ability to quickly switch over between sites, we could experience service interruptions or
outages. A failure in the operation of our Shared Registration System could result in the inability of one or more registrars to register or manage domain
names for a period of time. If such a registrar has not implemented robust services in a manner that preserves transactions until processed by the registry,
then the failure in the operation of our Shared Registration System could result in permanent loss of transactions at the registrar during that period. A
failure in the operation of our Shared Registration System could also impact our ability to provide up-to-date information in our resolution systems, which
could result in breaches of our service level obligations pertaining to our resolution services as well as impacting the resolution of domain names on the
internet. Although we carry insurance, we do not carry insurance or designated financial reserves for such interruptions.
In addition, our services depend on the secure and efficient operation of the internet connections to and from customers to our Shared Registration
System residing in our secure data centers. These connections depend upon the secure and efficient operation of internet service providers, internet
exchange point operators, and internet backbone service providers. Such providers have had periodic operational problems or experienced outages in the
past beyond our scope of control and may continue to encounter problems and outages or may choose to discontinue their service. If the providers that our
connections depend upon do not protect, maintain, improve, and reinvest in their networks or present inconsistent data regarding the DNS through their
networks, our business could be harmed.
A failure in the operation or update of the root zone servers, the root zone file, the Root Zone Management System, the TLD name servers, or the
TLD zone files that we operate, including, for example, the .gov registry, or other network functions, could result in (1) a DNS resolution or other service
outage or degradation, (2) the deletion of one or more TLDs from the internet for a period of time, (3) the deletion of one or more second-level domain
names from the internet for a period of time, or (4) a misdirection of a domain name to a different server. A failure in the operation or update of the
supporting cryptographic and other operational infrastructure that we maintain could result in similar consequences. Any of these problems or outages
could create potential material liability and exposure from litigation and investigations, could result in a failure to meet our service level agreements, and
could decrease customer satisfaction, harming our business. These problems could also result in adverse publicity, decrease the public’s trust in the security
of e-commerce, or call into question our ability to preserve the security and stability of the internet.
We retain certain customer and employee information in our data centers and various domain name registration systems. Any physical or electronic
break-in or other security breach or compromise of the information stored at our data centers or domain name registration systems may jeopardize the
security of information we retain or that is retained in the computer systems and networks of our customers. In such an event, we could face material
liability and exposure from litigation and investigations, fail to meet contracted service level obligations, or be at risk for loss of various security and
standards-based compliance certifications needed for operation of our businesses, and customers could be reluctant to use our services, any of which could
also adversely affect our reputation and harm our business or cause financial losses that are either not insured against or not fully covered through any
insurance.
We face risks from the operation of the root server system and our performance of the Root Zone Maintainer functions under the RZMA.
Although the overall root server system is redundant and dispersed, a failure or interruption in the operation of the root server system could impact
the effectiveness of our .com and .net authoritative servers and therefore negatively impact directory services necessary for the operation of the internet. We
also have an important operational role in support of a key Internet Assigned Numbers Authority (“IANA”) function as the Root Zone Maintainer. In this
role, we provision and publish the authoritative root zone data and make it available to all root server operators under the RZMA with ICANN. If we make
errors in the publication of the root zone, we may be subject to material claims challenging the RZMA or our performance under it, including tort claims,
and we may not have immunity from, or sufficient indemnification or insurance for, such claims.
Contractual, Regulatory, Legal and Compliance Risk Factors
Any loss or modification of our right to operate the .com and .net gTLDs could have a material adverse impact on our business and result in loss of
revenues.
Substantially all of our revenues are derived from our operation of the .com gTLD under our Cooperative Agreement with the DOC and our .com
Registry Agreement as well as our operation of the .net gTLD under our .net Registry Agreement. Any loss or modification of our right to operate the .com
and .net gTLDs could materially and adversely impact our ability to conduct our business and result in loss of revenues. Our .com and .net Registry
Agreements contain “presumptive” rights of renewal upon the expiration of their current terms on November 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, respectively.
ICANN could refuse to renew upon expiration or terminate our .com Registry Agreement or our .net Registry Agreement if, upon proper notice, (1) we fail
to cure a fundamental and material breach of certain specified obligations, and (2) we fail to timely comply with a final decision of an arbitrator or court.
Additionally, each of the .com and .net Registry Agreements provide that if certain terms of these agreements are not similar to such terms generally in
effect in the registry agreements of the five largest gTLDs, then a
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renewal of these agreements would be upon terms reasonably necessary to render such terms to be similar to the registry agreements for those other gTLDs.
Any such terms, if they apply, could be unfavorable to us and have a material adverse impact on our business.
Standard renewals of the .com Registry Agreement do not require further DOC approval, although the prior written approval of the DOC is required
for the removal of, or any changes to the pricing section (other than as approved in Amendment 35 to the Cooperative Agreement) and for changes to
certain other specified terms whether such removal or changes is made at a renewal or otherwise. We can provide no assurances that DOC approval would
be provided upon our request for any of these changes.
In addition, under Amendment 35 to the Cooperative Agreement, we have agreed to continue to operate the .com gTLD in a content-neutral manner
and to work within ICANN processes to promote the development of content-neutral policies for the operation of the DNS, and under our binding letter of
intent with ICANN, we have agreed to work with the ICANN community to develop certain best practices and other commitments for the security, stability
and resiliency of the DNS and the internet. Such policies and processes could expose us to compliance costs and substantial liability and result in costly and
time-consuming investigations or litigation.
Changes or challenges to the pricing provisions in the .com Registry Agreement could have a material adverse impact on our business.
Under the terms of the .com Registry Agreement, we may increase the annual fee of each .com domain name registration or renewal by up to 7% over
the previous year in each of the final four years of each six-year period. We can provide no assurance that we will exercise such right to increase the annual
fee. In addition to this contractual right, we are entitled to increase the annual fee of each .com domain name registration or renewal by up to 7% due to the
imposition of any new specifications or policies adopted by ICANN pursuant to the procedures set forth in its bylaws and due process (“Consensus
Policies”) or documented extraordinary expense resulting from an attack or threat of attack on the security and stability of the DNS (an “Extraordinary
Expense”). In addition, our ability to increase the price for .com domain name registrations and renewals due to a Consensus Policy or Extraordinary
Expense may occur only in years in which we do not increase the price for .com domain name registrations and renewals as described above. It is uncertain
whether circumstances would arise that would permit us to take a price increase due to a Consensus Policy or Extraordinary Expense, or if they do, whether
we would seek to increase the price for .com domain name registrations for this reason. A failure to seek and obtain a price increase due to a Consensus
Policy or Extraordinary Expense, when available, could negatively affect our operating results. We also have the right under the Cooperative Agreement to
seek the removal of these pricing restrictions on the .com TLD if we demonstrate to the DOC that market conditions no longer warrant these restrictions.
However, it is uncertain whether we will seek the removal of these restrictions, or whether the DOC would approve the removal of these restrictions.
Our .com Registry Agreement, including its pricing provisions, has faced, and could face in the future, challenges, including possible legal
challenges, or challenges under ICANN’s accountability mechanisms, from ICANN, registrars, registrants, and others, and any adverse outcome from these
challenges could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Governmental regulation and the application of new and existing laws in the U.S. and internationally may slow business growth, increase our costs
of doing business, create potential liability and have an adverse effect on our business.
Application of new and existing laws and regulations in the U.S. or internationally to the internet or the domain name industry have imposed and may
in the future impose new costs and new restrictions on our business. Laws and regulations, including those designed to restrict who can register and who
can distribute domain names or require registrants to provide additional documentation to register domain names, have, and may in the future, impose
significant additional costs on our business and subject us to additional liabilities or could prevent us from operating in certain jurisdictions. For example,
the government of China has indicated that it will issue, and has issued, new regulations, and has begun to enforce existing regulations, that impose
additional costs on, and risks to, our provision of registry services in China and could impact the growth or renewal rates of domain name registrations in
China. Registries, including us, and China-based registrars are also required by some of these regulations to obtain a government-issued license for each
TLD operating in China. Any failure to obtain the required licenses, or to comply with any license requirements or any updates thereto, by us or our Chinabased registrars could impact our current and future business in China.
In addition, laws have been, and may be in the future, adopted that are designed to restrict counterfeit goods or intellectual property violations such as
cybersquatting or that restrict the transfer of data. The costs of complying or failing to comply with these laws and regulations could limit our ability to
operate in our current locations, expose us to compliance costs and substantial liability, and result in costly and time-consuming litigation.
Similarly, the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation, which greatly increases the jurisdictional reach of European Union law and adds
broad new requirements for handling personal data, including the public disclosure of significant data breaches, and significant penalties, became effective
in May 2018. Other countries and other states, such as California with
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the California Consumer Privacy Act, have enacted or are enacting data protection laws regulating or limiting the collection, storage, and processing of
personal data as well as granting new rights to data subjects. To conduct our operations, we regularly move data across national borders and receive data
originating from different jurisdictions, and consequently we are subject to these continuously evolving and developing laws and regulations both in the
United States and internationally regarding privacy, data protection and data security. The scope of the laws and regulations that are applicable to us is often
uncertain and may be conflicting, particularly with respect to international laws and regulations. These evolving legal, regulatory and compliance
frameworks could impose significant costs for us that are likely to increase over time.
In addition, as we market our TLDs in international locations, we are likely to raise our profile in certain foreign countries thereby increasing the
regulatory and other scrutiny of our operations. Any negative developments arising from such increased scrutiny could diminish demand for our domain
names, increase our costs of regulatory compliance, affect our reputation, expose us to liability, penalties or fines, force us to change our business practices
or otherwise materially harm our business.
Our international operations expose us and our business to additional economic, legal, regulatory and political risks that could have an adverse
impact on our revenues and business.
A significant portion of our revenues is derived from customers outside the U.S. Our business operations in international locations have required, and
will continue to require, significant management attention and resources. We may also need to tailor some of our services for a particular location and to
enter into international distribution and operating relationships. We may fail to maintain our ability to conduct business, including potentially material
business operations in some international locations, or we may not succeed in expanding our services into new international locations or expand our
presence in existing locations. Failure to do so could materially harm our business. Moreover, local laws and customs in many countries differ significantly
from those in the U.S. In many foreign countries, particularly in those with developing economies, it is common for others to engage in business practices
that are prohibited by our internal policies and procedures or U.S. law or regulations applicable to us. There can be no assurance that our employees,
contractors and agents will not take actions in violation of such policies, procedures, laws and/or regulations. Violations of laws, regulations or internal
policies and procedures by our employees, contractors or agents could result in financial reporting problems, investigations, fines, penalties, or prohibition
on the importation or exportation of our products and services and could have a material adverse effect on our business. In addition, we face risks inherent
in doing business internationally, including:
•

competition with companies in international locations or other domestic companies entering international locations in which we operate, as well as
local governments actively promoting ccTLDs that we do not operate;

•

political and economic tensions between governments and changes in international trade policies and/or the economic and trade sanctions
programs administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) of the U.S. Department of the Treasury;

•

tariffs and other trade barriers and restrictions;

•

difficulties in staffing and managing international operations;

•

currency exchange rate fluctuations;

•

potential problems associated with adapting our services to technical conditions existing in different countries;

•

difficulties in verifying end-user information, including for the purposes of complying with the verification requirements of certain countries and
with the economic and trade sanctions programs administered by OFAC;

•

more stringent privacy and data localization policies in some international jurisdictions;

•

additional vulnerability from terrorist groups targeting U.S. interests abroad;

•

potentially conflicting or adverse tax consequences;

•

reliance on third parties in international locations in which we only recently started doing business; and

•

potential concerns of international governments or customers and prospects regarding doing business with U.S. technology companies due to
alleged U.S. government data collection policies.

Escalating political tensions between the United States and China in particular may pose additional risks to our business in China. Since 2018, the
United States and China have imposed tariffs on certain of each other’s exports. In 2019 and 2020, the U.S. government announced restrictions on trading
with certain Chinese companies. The Chinese government subsequently announced actions that, if implemented, could impose additional restrictions on the
Chinese operations of non-Chinese companies. These and future government actions impacting our ability to operate in China may cause our
management’s attention to be diverted, our reputation to be damaged, or our business in China to be adversely affected.
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Changes in, or interpretations of, tax rules and regulations or our tax positions may adversely affect our income taxes.
We are subject to income taxes in both the U.S. and numerous international jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining our
worldwide provision for income taxes. In the ordinary course of our business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Our effective tax rates may fluctuate significantly on a quarterly basis because of a variety of factors, including changes in the
mix of earnings and losses in countries with differing statutory tax rates, changes in our business or structure, changes in tax laws that could adversely
impact our income or non-income taxes or the expiration of or disputes about certain tax agreements in a particular country. We are subject to audit by
various tax authorities. In accordance with U.S. GAAP, we recognize income tax benefits, net of required valuation allowances and accrual for uncertain
tax positions. Although we believe our tax estimates are reasonable, the final determination of tax audits and any related litigation could be materially
different than that which is reflected in historical income tax provisions and accruals. Should additional taxes be assessed as a result of an audit or
litigation, an adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows in the period or periods for which that determination is made
could result.
The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (“OECD”) plans to issue a final report that will provide a long-term, multilateral
proposal on the taxation of the digital economy. If this proposal is ultimately agreed to and implemented by the OECD’s member states, there could be
significant modifications in the way multinational corporations are taxed. In addition, some international tax jurisdictions, independent of the OECD, have
enacted or may enact new tax regimes aimed at income resulting from digital services. Although we cannot predict the nature or outcome of such changes
or the likelihood of such proposals being adopted throughout the world and tax treaties being modified accordingly, any or all of these changes in tax policy
for the digital economy could increase our taxes and adversely impact our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.
Our business faces risks arising from ICANN’s consensus and temporary policies, technical standards and other processes.
Our Registry Agreements with ICANN require us to implement Consensus Policies and changes mandated by ICANN through temporary
specifications or policies (“Temporary Policies”). ICANN could adopt Consensus Policies or Temporary Policies that (1) are unfavorable to us as the
registry operator of .com, .net and other gTLDs that we operate, (2) are inconsistent with our current or future plans, (3) impose substantial costs on our
business, (4) subject the Company to additional legal risks, or (5) affect our competitive position. These Consensus Policies or Temporary Policies could
have a material adverse effect on our business. For example, ICANN has adopted a Consensus Policy that would require us to receive and display
registrants’ personal and contact information and designated administrative and technical contact information (“Thick Whois data”) for .com and .net,
although that Policy is undergoing modification by a new Consensus Policy that may make such transfer of Thick Whois data optional. We can provide no
assurances that such a modification will occur or that we would not choose to receive and display Thick Whois data for our .com and .net registries under
it. The costs of complying or failing to comply with Consensus and Temporary Policies could expose us to compliance costs and substantial liability and
exposure, and result in costly and time-consuming investigations or litigation.
Our Registry Agreements with ICANN require us to implement and comply with various technical standards and specifications published by the
Internet Engineering Task Force (“IETF”). ICANN could impose requirements on us through changes to these IETF standards, or new standards, that are
inconsistent with our current or future plans, that impose substantial costs on our business, that subject the Company to additional legal risks, or that affect
our competitive position. Any such changes to the IETF standards, or new standards, could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Changes to the multi-stakeholder model of internet governance could materially and adversely impact our business.
The internet is governed under a multi-stakeholder model comprising civil society, the private sector, including for-profit and not-for-profit
organizations such as ICANN, governments, including the U.S. government, academia, non-governmental organizations and international organizations. If
ICANN fails to uphold or significantly redefines the multi-stakeholder model, it could harm our business.
In the fourth quarter of 2016, the U.S. government completed a transition to the multi-stakeholder community of the historical role played by the
National Telecommunications and Information Administration (“NTIA”) in the coordination of the DNS. Changes arising from this transition to the multistakeholder model of internet governance could materially and adversely impact our business. For example, ICANN has adopted bylaws that are designed,
in part, to enhance its accountability through an organization called the Empowered Community, which is comprised of a cross section of stakeholders.
ICANN or the Empowered Community may assert positions that could negatively impact our strategy or our business. By completing the transition, the
U.S. government through the NTIA has ended its coordination and management of important aspects of the DNS including the IANA functions and the
root zone. There can be no assurance that the removal of the U.S. government oversight of these key functions will not negatively impact our business.
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Claims, lawsuits, audits or investigations in which we are or could become involved may result in adverse outcomes to our business.
We are, and may in the future become, involved in claims, lawsuits, audits and investigations, including intellectual property litigation and
infringement claims. Litigation is inherently unpredictable, and unexpected judgments or excessive verdicts do occur. In addition, proceedings that we
initially view as immaterial could prove to be material. Adverse outcomes in lawsuits, audits and investigations, could result in significant monetary
damages, including indemnification payments, or injunctive relief that could adversely affect our ability to conduct our business, and may have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. For example, the current arbitration proceeding against ICANN challenging
the validity of ICANN’s award of the .web gTLD to us could adversely affect our ability to operate the .web gTLD. Given the inherent uncertainties in
litigation, even when we are able to reasonably estimate the amount of possible loss or range of loss and therefore record an aggregate litigation accrual for
probable and reasonably estimable loss contingencies, the accrual may change in the future due to new developments or changes in approach. In addition,
such claims, lawsuits, audits and investigations could involve significant expense and diversion of management’s attention and resources from other
matters.
Strategic, Business and Operating Risk Factors
The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have impacted how we operate our business, and the extent to which the effects of the pandemic will
impact our business, operations, financial condition and results of operations remains uncertain.
The United States and the global community we serve are facing unprecedented challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic, and
the preventative measures taken in response to the pandemic (including “shelter-in-place” or “stay-at-home” and similar orders issued by international,
federal, state or local authorities and the subsequent relaxation and re-imposition of such orders), have resulted in, and are expected to continue to result in,
significant volatility, business and economic disruptions and uncertainty. In response to the pandemic, we have taken steps to protect our employees,
including arranging for most of our employees to work remotely, while we continue to operate all of our services, including our registry services for .com
and .net and our root operations. However, the extent to which the effects of the pandemic will continue to impact our business, operations, financial
condition and results of operations remains uncertain and depends on numerous evolving factors that we may not be able to control or predict, including:
•

the duration and scope of the pandemic;

•

the extent and effectiveness of responsive actions, including the relaxation and re-imposition of orders by authorities and the delivery and
administration of vaccines, and the impact of these and other factors on our employees, customers and vendors;

•

the impact of the pandemic on our key personnel and other employees (including the impact of work-from-home arrangements on employee
productivity and morale);

•

the extent to which we are able to maintain and replace critical internet infrastructure components when necessary;

•

our continued ability to execute on business continuity plans for the maintenance of our critical internet infrastructure while most of our
employees continue to work remotely; and

•

any negative impact on the demand for new and renewal domain name registrations resulting from the economic disruption caused by the
pandemic and responses thereto.

Further, the impact of COVID-19 and the volatile regional and global economic conditions stemming from the pandemic may also precipitate or exacerbate
other risks discussed in these Risk Factors, any of which could have a material effect on us. As of the date of this Form 10-K, our financial condition and
results of operations have not been adversely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Regardless, this situation is uncertain and additional effects may arise
that we are not presently aware of or that we currently do not consider present material risks to our operations. If we are unable to successfully respond to
and manage the impact of the pandemic, and the resulting responses to it, our business, operations, financial condition and results of operations could be
adversely impacted, and the impact could be material.
The business environment is highly competitive and, if we do not compete effectively, we may suffer lower demand for our products, reduced gross
margins, and loss of market share.
We face competition from services that provide an online identity or presence, including other gTLD and ccTLD registries. In order to remain
competitive and retain our market position, we must continually demonstrate the safety, security, and resiliency of our services and must adopt and support
new technologies to adapt our services to changing technologies, market conditions, and our customers’ and internet users’ preferences and practices. If we
do not successfully evolve and demonstrate the value of our services, we may not be able to compete effectively with current or future competitors, and
such competitive pressures could materially harm our business. In addition, competing technologies developed by others or the emergence of new industry
standards may adversely affect our competitive position or render our services or technologies
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noncompetitive or obsolete. Finally, consolidation within our industry has occurred and is likely to continue to occur. Our ability to participate and benefit
from such consolidations may be limited and consolidation within our industry amongst our competitors could harm our competitive position and adversely
impact our business.
We have been designated as the registry operator for certain new gTLDs, including certain IDN gTLDs. Our new gTLDs may not be as or more
successful than the new gTLDs obtained by our competitors. In addition, our new gTLDs may face additional universal acceptance and usability challenges
and it is possible that resolution of domain names within some of these new gTLDs may be blocked within certain state or organizational environments,
challenging universal resolvability of these strings and their general acceptance and usability.
See the “Competition” section in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-K for further information.
The evolution of technologies or internet practices and behaviors, the adoption of substitute technologies, or wholesale price increases of our
domain names may negatively impact the demand for the domain names for which we are the registry operator.
The growth of technologies, including social media, mobile devices, apps and the dominance of search engines, has evolved and continues to evolve,
changing the internet practices and behaviors of consumers and businesses. These ongoing changes can negatively impact the demand for our domain
names. In addition, registrants purchase domain names for a variety of reasons, including personal, commercial, and investment reasons. Changes in the
motivation of domain name registrants can negatively impact our business.
Technology changes to web browser or internet search technologies could reduce demand for domain names. Similarly, if internet users’ preferences
or practices shift away from recognizing and relying on web addresses or if internet users were to significantly decrease the use of web browsers in favor of
applications to locate and access content demand for our domain names could be negatively impacted. Demand for our domain names could be negatively
impacted by new technologies that significantly decrease the use of domain names to develop and protect an online identity. New technologies that
encourage internet users to expand the use of third-level domains or alternate identifiers, such as identifiers from social networking, e-commerce platforms
and microblogging sites, could also negatively impact the demand for our domain names. In addition, demand for domain names in our TLDs could be
impacted by alternative TLDs that are operated outside the single authoritative root zone have been and continue to be proposed, for example, as part of
certain blockchain namespace systems. To the extent that web browsers, applications, registrars and DNS resolvers recognize and support such TLDs, and
that internet users are able to perform online operations with such TLDs, demand for domain names in TLDs in the single authoritative root zone, including
our TLDs, could be negatively impacted.
Some registrars and registrants seek to purchase and resell domain names at an increased price. Adverse changes in the resale value of domain names,
changes in the business models for such domain name registrars and registrants, or other factors, including regulations limiting the resale of domain names,
could result in a decrease in the demand and/or renewal rates for domain names in our TLDs.
Some registrars and registrants seek to generate revenues by registering domain names specifically for website advertising. Changes in the way these
registrars and registrants are compensated (including changes in methodologies and metrics) by advertisers and advertisement placement networks, such as
Google, Yahoo!, Baidu and Bing, have adversely affected, and may continue to adversely affect the market for domain names used for this purpose, which
has resulted in, and may continue to result in, a decrease in demand and/or the renewal rate for such domain names. In addition, if spending on online
advertising and marketing is reduced, this may result in a further decline in the demand for domain names used for this purpose.
Under the terms of the .com Registry Agreement, as amended, we may increase the annual fee of each .com domain name registration or renewal by
up to 7% over the previous year in each of the final four years of each six-year period. To the extent we increase wholesale prices, there could be a decrease
in the demand and/or renewal rates for .com domain names.
If we fail to expand our services into developing and emerging economies in foreign locations, our business may not grow.
We seek to serve many new, developing and emerging economies in foreign locations to grow our business. These economies are rapidly evolving
and may not grow or even if they do grow, our services may not be widely used or accepted there. Accordingly, the demand for our services in these
locations is uncertain. Factors that may affect acceptance or adoption of our services in these locations include:
•

regional internet infrastructure development, expansion, penetration and adoption, and the development, maturity and depth of our sales channels;
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•

acceptance and adoption of substitute products and services that enable online presence without a domain name, including social media, ecommerce platforms, website builders and mobile applications;

•

increased acceptance and adoption of other substitute products and services, including ccTLDs or other gTLDs;

•

public perception of the security of our technologies and of IP and other networks;

•

the introduction and consumer acceptance of new generations of mobile devices, and in particular, the use of mobile applications as the primary
engagement mechanism for navigating the internet; and

•

government regulations affecting the internet, internet access and availability, domain name registrations or the provision of registry services, data
security or data localization, e-commerce or telecommunications.

If our services are not widely accepted or adopted in these locations, our business may not grow.
Our business depends on registrars and their resellers maintaining their focus on marketing our products and services.
All of the domain name registrations and renewals for the registries we operate occur through registrars. Registrars and their resellers engage in
substantial marketing efforts to increase the demand and/or renewal rates for domain names as well as their own associated offerings. Consolidation in the
registrar or reseller industry or changes in ownership, management, or strategy among individual registrars or resellers, including vertical integration by
registrar or reseller industry participants, could result in significant changes to their businesses, operating models, and cost structures. These changes could
include reduced marketing efforts or other operational changes that could adversely impact the demand and/or the renewal rates for the domain names for
which we are the registry operator.
With the introduction of new gTLDs, many of our registrars and resellers have chosen to, and may continue to choose to, focus their short- or longterm marketing efforts on these new offerings and/or reduce the prominence or visibility of our products and services on their e-commerce platforms. Our
registrars and resellers sell domain name registrations of other competing registries, including new gTLDs, and some also sell and support their own
services for websites such as email, website hosting, and other services. Our registrars and resellers may be more motivated to sell to registrants to whom
they can also market their own services. To the extent that registrars and resellers focus more on selling and supporting their services and less on the
registration and renewal of domain names in our TLDs, our revenues could be adversely impacted. Our ability to successfully market our services to, and
build and maintain strong relationships with, new and existing registrars or resellers is a factor upon which successful operation of our business is
dependent. If we are unable to keep a significant portion of their marketing efforts focused on selling registrations of domain names in our TLDs, as
opposed to other competing TLDs, including the new gTLDs, or their own services, our business could be harmed.
We depend on highly skilled employees to maintain and provide innovative solutions for our business, and our business could be harmed if we are
not able to attract and retain such qualified talent.
Our business is highly technical and requires individuals skilled and knowledgeable in unique technologies, configurations, operating systems, and
software development tools. We depend on the knowledge, experience, and performance of our highly skilled employees and leaders to effectively manage
and provide innovative solutions for our business. For example, we require employees with expertise in DNS operations and with certain cybersecurity
specialties. Because such employees are in high demand by our competitors and other companies, we must be able to attract, integrate, retain and motivate
such highly skilled employees and leaders, and we must implement succession plans for these employees, or our business could be harmed.
Intellectual Property Risk Factors
We rely on our intellectual property rights to protect our proprietary assets, and any failure by us to protect or enforce, or any misappropriation
of, our intellectual property could harm our business.
Our success depends in part on our internally developed technologies and related intellectual property. Despite our precautions, it may be possible for
an external party to copy or otherwise obtain and use our intellectual property without authorization. Furthermore, the laws of other countries may not
protect our proprietary rights in those countries to the same extent U.S. law protects these rights in the U.S. In addition, it is possible that others may
independently develop substantially equivalent intellectual property. If we do not effectively protect our intellectual property, our business could suffer.
Additionally, we have filed patent applications with respect to some of our technology in the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and patent offices outside
the U.S. Patents may not be awarded with respect to these applications and even if such patents are awarded, third parties may seek to oppose or otherwise
challenge our patents, and such patents’ scope may differ significantly from what was requested in the patent applications and may not provide us with
sufficient protection of our intellectual property. In the future, we may have to resort to litigation to enforce and protect our intellectual property rights, to
protect our trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. This type of litigation is inherently unpredictable and,
regardless of its outcome, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management attention and
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technical resources. Some of the software and protocols used in our business are based on standards set by standards setting organizations such as the IETF.
To the extent any of our patents are considered “standards essential patents,” in some cases we may be required to license such patents to our competitors
on reasonable and non-discriminatory terms or otherwise be limited in our ability to assert such patents.
We also license externally developed technology that is used in some of our products and services to perform key functions. These externally
developed technology licenses may not continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms or at all. The loss of, or our inability to obtain or
maintain, any of these technology licenses could hinder or increase the cost of our services, launching new products and services, entering into new markets
and/or otherwise harm our business. Some of the software and protocols used in our business are in the public domain or may otherwise become publicly
available, which means that such software and protocols are equally available to our competitors.
We rely on the strength of our Verisign brand to help differentiate Verisign in the marketing of our products. Dilution of the strength of our brand
could harm our business. We are at risk that we will be unable to fully register, build equity in, or enforce the Verisign logo in all markets where Verisign
products and services are sold.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
As of December 31, 2020, we owned each of our significant properties, which include our corporate headquarters facility in Reston, Virginia, and
data center facilities in New Castle, Delaware and Dulles, Virginia. We also lease a number of smaller office and data center locations around the world. We
believe that our existing facilities, both owned and leased, are in good condition and suitable for the conduct of our business.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
As previously disclosed, a subsidiary of Afilias plc (“Afilias”), a competitor and losing bidder in the .web auction, filed a form of arbitration
proceeding against ICANN, an Independent Review Process (“IRP”) under ICANN’s bylaws, on November 14, 2018. Afilias alleges that the agreement
between Verisign and Nu Dotco, LLC (“NDC”) pertaining to .web violated ICANN’s new gTLD Applicant Guidebook. As a result, Afilias claims that
ICANN had a duty to disqualify NDC’s bid and award the .web gTLD to Afilias. Afilias also claims that ICANN would violate its bylaws pertaining to
competition by awarding the .web gTLD to Verisign. Afilias amended its IRP request on March 21, 2019 in part to oppose Verisign’s and NDC’s
participation in the IRP. A hearing was held on Verisign’s and NDC’s applications for participation and, on February 12, 2020, the IRP panel permitted
Verisign and NDC to participate in aspects of the IRP. In early August 2020, the IRP panel held a hearing on Afilias’ claims. We expect the IRP panel to
issue its decision in the first quarter of 2021. We believe that Afilias’ claims regarding Verisign’s and NDC’s conduct are without merit, and we intend to
vigorously oppose Afilias’ claims in this matter.
We are also involved in various investigations, claims and lawsuits arising in the normal conduct of our business, none of which, in our opinion, will
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. We cannot assure you that we will prevail in any litigation.
Regardless of the outcome, any litigation may require us to incur significant litigation expense and may result in significant diversion of management
attention.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information
Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol VRSN. On February 12, 2021, there were 353 holders of record of
our common stock. We cannot estimate the number of beneficial owners since many brokers and other institutions hold our stock on behalf of stockholders.
Share Repurchases
The following table presents the share repurchase activity during the three months ended December 31, 2020:

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased

October 1 – 31, 2020
November 1 – 30, 2020
December 1 – 31, 2020

271
282
279
832

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Average
Announced
Price Paid
Plans or
per Share
Programs (1)
(Shares in thousands)

$205.95
$197.67
$209.14

271
282
279
832

Approximate
Dollar Value of
Shares That May
Yet Be Purchased
Under the Plans or
Programs (1)(2)

$
$
$

449.8 million
394.1 million
335.6 million

(1)

Effective February 6, 2020, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of our common stock in the amount of $743.0 million, in addition to the $257.0 million that remained available
for repurchases under the share repurchase program, for a total repurchase authorization of up to $1.0 billion under the program.

(2)

Effective February 11, 2021, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of our common stock in the amount of $747.0 million, in addition to the $253.0 million that remained
available for repurchases under the share repurchase program, for a total repurchase authorization of up to $1.0 billion under the program. The share repurchase program has no expiration
date. Purchases made under the program could be effected through open market transactions, block purchases, accelerated share repurchase agreements or other negotiated transactions.
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Performance Graph
The information contained in the Performance Graph shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or “filed” with the SEC or subject to the
liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into a document filed under the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the Exchange Act.
The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock, the Standard and Poor’s (“S&P”) 500 Index, and the
S&P 500 Information Technology Index. The graph assumes that $100 (and the reinvestment of any dividends thereafter) was invested in our common
stock, the S&P 500 Index and the S&P 500 Information Technology Index on December 31, 2015, and calculates the return annually through December 31,
2020. The stock price performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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$
$
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following table sets forth selected financial data for, and as of the end of, each of the last five fiscal years. The information set forth below is not
necessarily indicative of results of future operations, and should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations,” and our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Form 10-K, to fully understand factors that
may affect the comparability of the information presented below.
Selected Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income Data: (in millions, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31,

2020

Revenues
Operating income
Net income (1)
Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted

2019

2018

2017

2016

$
$
$

1,265
824
815

$
$
$

1,232
806
612

$
$
$

1,215
767
582

$
$
$

1,165
708
457

$
$
$

1,142
687
441

$
$

7.08
7.07

$
$

5.17
5.15

$
$

5.13
4.75

$
$

4.56
3.68

$
$

4.12
3.42

———————

(1) Net income for 2020 includes the recognition of $204.2 million of previously unrecognized income tax benefits. Net income for 2018 includes a $52.0 million after-tax gain related to our
divested security services business.

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data: (in millions)
2020

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities (1) (2)
Total assets (1) (2)
Deferred revenues
Subordinated convertible debentures, including contingent interest derivative
(2)
Long-term debt (1)

2019

As of December 31,
2018

2017

2016

$
$
$

1,167
1,767
1,063

$
$
$

1,218
1,854
1,034

$
$
$

1,270
1,915
1,018

$
$
$

2,415
2,941
999

$
$
$

1,798
2,335
976

$
$

—
1,790

$
$

—
1,788

$
$

—
1,785

$
$

628
1,783

$
$

630
1,237

——————

(1) The increases in Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, Total assets and Long-term debt from 2016 to 2017 was due to the issuance of $550.0 million aggregate principal amount
of 4.75% senior unsecured notes due 2027.
(2) The decreases in Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, Total assets and Subordinated convertible debentures, including contingent interest derivative from 2017 to 2018 was due
to the settlement of our subordinated convertible debentures in 2018.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act.
These forward-looking statements are based on current expectations and assumptions and involve risks and uncertainties, including, among other things,
statements regarding our expectations about (i) the impact from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, (ii) revenue growth in 2021, (iii) continued growth
in registrations in the domain name base in 2021, (iv) cost of revenues, sales and marketing expenses, research and development expenses, general and
administrative expenses, interest expense, and non-operating income, net, in 2021, (v) our effective tax rate for 2021, (vi) the sufficiency of our existing
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, and funds generated from operations, together with our ability to arrange for additional financing, (vii)
cash paid for income taxes in 2021, and (viii) our planned property and equipment expenditures for 2021. Forward-looking statements include, among
others, those statements including the words “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “believes” and similar language. Our actual results may differ
significantly from those projected in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited
to, those discussed in the section titled “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K. You should also carefully review the risks described in other
documents we file from time to time with the SEC, including the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or Current Reports on Form 8-K that we file in 2021. You
are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this Form 10-K. We undertake no
obligation to update publicly or revise such statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise, except as required by law.
This section of this Form 10-K generally discusses 2020 and 2019 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2020 and 2019. Discussions
of 2018 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2019 and 2018 that are not included in this Form 10-K can be found in “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2019.
Overview
We are a global provider of domain name registry services and internet infrastructure, enabling internet navigation for many of the world’s most
recognized domain names. We enable the security, stability, and resiliency of key internet infrastructure and services, including providing root zone
maintainer services, operating two of the 13 global internet root servers, and providing registration services and authoritative resolution for the .com and
.net top-level domains, which support the majority of global e-commerce.
As of December 31, 2020, we had approximately 165.2 million .com and .net registrations in the domain name base. The number of domain names
registered is largely driven by continued growth in online advertising, e-commerce, and the number of internet users, which is partially driven by greater
availability of internet access, as well as marketing activities carried out by us and our registrars. Growth in the number of domain name registrations under
our management may be hindered by certain factors, including overall economic conditions, competition from ccTLDs, other gTLDs, services that offer
alternatives for an online presence, such as social media, and ongoing changes in the internet practices and behaviors of consumers and businesses. Factors
such as the evolving practices and preferences of internet users, and how they navigate the internet, as well as the motivation of domain name registrants
and how they will manage their investment in domain names, can negatively impact our business and the demand for new domain name registrations and
renewals.
2020 Business Highlights and Trends
•

We recorded revenues of $1,265.1 million in 2020, which represents an increase of 3% compared to 2019.

•

We recorded operating income of $824.2 million during 2020, which represents an increase of 2% as compared to 2019.

•

We finished 2020 with 165.2 million .com and .net registrations in the domain name base, which represents a 4% increase from December 31,
2019.

•

During 2020, we processed 42.4 million new domain name registrations for .com and .net compared to 40.3 million in 2019.

•

The final .com and .net renewal rate was 73.7% for the third quarter of 2020 and 2019. Renewal rates are not fully measurable until 45 days
after the end of the quarter.

•

We repurchased 3.7 million shares of our common stock for an aggregate cost of $734.9 million in 2020. As of December 31, 2020, there was
$335.6 million remaining for future share repurchases under the share repurchase program.
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•

Effective February 11, 2021, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of our common stock in the amount of $747.0 million, in
addition to the $253.0 million that remained available for repurchases under the share repurchase program, for a total repurchase authorization
of up to $1.0 billion under the program.

•

We generated cash flows from operating activities of $730.2 million in 2020, which represents a decrease of 3% as compared to 2019.

•

During 2020, we recognized an income tax benefit of $204.2 million as a result of the remeasurement of certain previously unrecognized
income tax benefits and the lapse of statutes of limitations related to other unrecognized income tax benefits.

•

During 2020, we announced a freeze on the registry prices for all of our TLDs, including .com and .net, through March 31, 2021.
Additionally, we announced a waiver of the wholesale restore fee for expired domain names through the end of 2020.

•

On February 11, 2021, we announced that we will increase the annual registry-level wholesale fee for each new and renewal .com domain
name registration from $7.85 to $8.39, effective September 1, 2021.

COVID-19 Update
The United States and the global community we serve are facing unprecedented challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic. In response to the
pandemic, we have established a task force to monitor the pandemic and have taken a number of actions to protect our employees, including restricting
travel, modifying our sick leave policy to encourage quarantine and isolation when warranted, and directing most of our employees to work from home. We
have implemented our readiness plans, which include the ability to maintain critical internet infrastructure with most employees working remotely. We
believe that the effects of the pandemic to date have led to a modest increase in the demand for domain names, particularly as businesses and entrepreneurs
have been seeking to establish or expand their presence online in response to the pandemic. Our revenues increased during 2020 primarily driven by an
increase in the domain name base for the .com TLD; however, the situation remains uncertain and hard to predict. The broader implications of the
pandemic on our business and operations and our financial results, including the extent to which the effects of the pandemic will impact future growth in
the domain name base, remain uncertain. The duration and severity of the economic disruptions from the pandemic may ultimately result in negative
impacts on our business and operations, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, liquidity and capital and financial resources. Because fees for
domain name registrations and renewals are generally due at the time of registration or renewal and revenues from such registrations and renewals are
recognized ratably over their terms, the effects of the pandemic may not be fully reflected in our results of operations until future periods. For further
discussion, see “Risk Factors – The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have impacted how we operate our business, and the extent to which the effects of
the pandemic will impact our business, operations, financial condition and results of operations remains uncertain” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Management Estimates
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to
make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates those estimates. Management bases its estimates on historical experience and on various
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily available from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.
An accounting estimate is considered critical if the nature of the estimates or assumptions is material due to the levels of subjectivity and judgment
involved, and the impact of changes in the estimates and assumptions would have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements. We believe the
following critical accounting estimates and policies have the most significant impact on our consolidated financial statements:
Income taxes
We operate in multiple tax jurisdictions in the United States and internationally. Tax laws and regulations in these jurisdictions are complex,
interrelated, and periodically changing. Significant judgment or interpretation of these laws and regulations is often required in determining our worldwide
provision for income taxes, including, for example, the calculations of taxable income in each jurisdiction, deferred taxes, and the availability and amount
of deductions and tax credits.
The final taxes payable are also dependent upon many factors, including negotiations with taxing authorities in various jurisdictions and resolution of
disputes arising from various tax examinations. We only recognize or continue to recognize tax positions and tax benefit amounts that are more likely than
not to be sustained upon examination. We adjust these amounts in light
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of changing facts and circumstances; however, due to the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in an outcome that is
materially different from our current estimate of unrecognized tax benefits. See Note 10, “Income Taxes” of our Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 8 of this Form 10-K for a discussion of significant changes in unrecognized tax benefits during 2020.

Results of Operations
The following table presents information regarding our results of operations as a percentage of revenues:
2020

Revenues
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Non-operating income, net
Income before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net income

Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

100.0 %

100.0 %

100.0 %

14.2
2.9
5.9
11.8
34.8
65.2
(7.1)
1.2
59.3
5.1
64.4 %

14.6
3.8
4.9
11.2
34.5
65.5
(7.4)
3.5
61.6
(11.9)
49.7 %

15.8
5.3
4.8
10.9
36.8
63.2
(9.5)
6.3
60.0
(12.1)
47.9 %

Revenues
Our revenues are primarily derived from registrations for domain names in the .com and .net domain name registries. We also derive revenues from
operating domain name registries for several other TLDs and from providing back-end registry services to a number of TLD registry operators, all of which
are not significant in relation to our consolidated revenues. For domain names registered in the .com and .net registries we receive a fee from registrars per
annual registration that is determined pursuant to our agreements with ICANN. Individual customers, called registrants, contract directly with registrars or
their resellers, and the registrars in turn register the domain names with Verisign. Changes in revenues are driven largely by changes in the number of new
domain name registrations and the renewal rate for existing registrations as well as the impact of new and prior price increases, to the extent permitted by
ICANN and the DOC. New registrations and the renewal rate for existing registrations are impacted by continued growth in online advertising, ecommerce, and the number of internet users, as well as marketing activities carried out by us and our registrars. The annual fee for a .com domain name
registration has been fixed at $7.85 since 2012. On October 26, 2018, Verisign and the DOC amended the Cooperative Agreement. The amendment, among
other items, extends the term of the Cooperative Agreement until November 30, 2024 and permits the price of a .com domain name to be increased, subject
to appropriate changes to the .com Registry Agreement, without further DOC approval, by up to 7% in each of the final four years of each six-year period
beginning on October 26, 2018. On March 27, 2020, Verisign and ICANN amended the .com Registry Agreement (“Third .com Amendment”) that, among
other items, incorporates these changes agreed to with the DOC to the pricing terms. We have the contractual right to increase the fees for .net domain
name registrations by up to 10% each year during the term of our agreement with ICANN, through June 30, 2023. As part of our response to the COVID19 crisis, we announced on March 25, 2020 that we would freeze registry prices for domain name registrations and renewals for all of our TLDs, including
.com and .net, through the end of 2020. On July 23, 2020, we announced that we would extend the freeze on registry prices for all of our TLDs, including
.com and .net, through March 31, 2021. On February 11, 2021, we announced that we will increase the annual registry-level wholesale fee for each new and
renewal .com domain name registration from $7.85 to $8.39, effective September 1, 2021. We offer promotional incentive-based discount programs to
registrars based upon market conditions and the business environment in which the registrars operate. All fees paid to us for .com and .net registrations are
in U.S. dollars.
A comparison of revenues is presented below:
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Year Ended December 31,
2020

Revenues

$

1,265,052

%
Change

2019
(Dollars in thousands)

3% $

1,231,661

%
Change

2018

1% $

1,214,969

The following table compares the .com and .net domain name registrations in the domain name base:
As of December 31,
2020

%
Change

165.2 million

.com and .net domain name registrations in the domain name base

2019

4%

158.8 million

%
Change

4%

2018

153.0 million

Growth in the domain name base has been primarily driven by continued internet growth and marketing activities carried out by us and our
registrars. However, competitive pressure from ccTLDs, other gTLDs, services that offer alternatives for an online presence, such as social media, ongoing
changes in internet practices and behaviors of consumers and business, as well as the motivation of existing domain name registrants managing their
investment in domain names, and historical global economic uncertainty, has limited the rate of growth of the domain name base in recent years and may
continue to do so in 2021 and beyond.
Revenues increased by $33.4 million in 2020 compared to 2019, primarily due to an increase in revenues from the operation of the registry for the
.com TLD, partially offset by the elimination of revenues from our sale of our security services customer contracts. The increase in revenues from the .com
TLD was driven by a 4% increase in the domain name base for .com.
Geographic revenues
We generate revenues in the U.S.; Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”); China; and certain other countries, including Canada, Australia
and Japan. The following table presents a comparison of the Company’s geographic revenues:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

U.S
EMEA
China
Other
Total revenues

$

$

804,647
214,204
113,048
133,153
1,265,052

%
Change

2019
(Dollars in thousands)

4% $
3%
(5)%
—%
3% $

772,586
206,975
119,291
132,809
1,231,661

%
Change

2% $
(3)%
12 %
(4)%
1% $

2018

756,907
212,699
106,841
138,522
1,214,969

Revenues in the table above are attributed to the country of domicile and the respective regions in which our registrars are located; however, this may
differ from the regions where the registrars operate or where registrants are located. Revenue growth for each region may be impacted by registrars
reincorporating, relocating, or from acquisitions or changes in affiliations of resellers. Revenue growth for each region may also be impacted by registrars
domiciled in one region, registering domain names in another region. The majority of our revenue growth in 2020 has come from increased sales to
registrars based in the U.S. and EMEA. Revenues from registrars based in China declined during 2020 as a result of lower new registrations and renewal
rates in the country.
We expect revenues to continue to grow in 2021, as a result of the increased volume of domain registrations in 2020, and continued growth in
registrations in the domain name base in 2021.
Cost of revenues
Cost of revenues consist primarily of salaries and employee benefits expenses for our personnel who manage the operational systems, depreciation
expenses, operational costs associated with the delivery of our services, fees paid to ICANN, customer support and training, costs of facilities and computer
equipment used in these activities, telecommunications expense and allocations of indirect costs such as corporate overhead.
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A comparison of cost of revenues is presented below:
Year Ended December 31,
%
Change

2020

Cost of revenues

$

180,177

2019
(Dollars in thousands)

—% $

%
Change

180,467

2018

(6)% $

192,134

Cost of revenues remained consistent in 2020 compared to 2019, as a decrease in salary and employee benefits expenses was offset by an increase in
direct cost of revenues. Salary and employee benefits expenses decreased by $2.3 million due to a functional realignment of some headcount to research
and development, partially offset by headcount increases throughout the year and an increase in expenses for other employee benefits including expanded
paid time off benefits provided to employees in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Direct cost of revenues increased by $1.8 million as a result of an
increase in registry fees primarily related to the .com TLD.
We expect cost of revenues as a percentage of revenues to increase slightly in 2021 as compared to 2020.
Sales and marketing
Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and other personnel-related expenses, travel and related expenses, trade shows, costs of
computer and communications equipment and support services, facilities costs, consulting fees, costs of marketing programs, such as online, television,
radio, print and direct mail advertising costs, and allocations of indirect costs such as corporate overhead.
A comparison of sales and marketing expenses is presented below:
Year Ended December 31,
%
Change

2020

Sales and marketing

$

36,790

2019
(Dollars in thousands)

(21)% $

%
Change

46,637

2018

(28)% $

64,891

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by $9.8 million in 2020 compared to 2019 primarily due to a $6.9 million decrease in advertising and
marketing expenses and a combination of other individually insignificant factors. Advertising and marketing expenses declined as a result of decreases in
marketing programs in various regions.
We expect sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenues to remain consistent in 2021 as compared to 2020.
Research and development
Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs related to research and development personnel, including salaries and other personnelrelated expenses, consulting fees, facilities costs, computer and communications equipment, support services used in our service and technology
development, and allocations of indirect costs such as corporate overhead.
A comparison of research and development expenses is presented below:
Year Ended December 31,
%
Change

2020

Research and development

$

74,671

2019
(Dollars in thousands)

23 % $

60,805

%
Change

2018

5% $

57,884

Research and development expenses increased by $13.9 million in 2020 compared to 2019 primarily due to increases in salary and employee benefits
expenses and allocated overhead expenses. Salary and employee benefits expenses increased by $10.2 million as a result of several factors, including a
functional realignment of some headcount from cost of revenues, additional headcount increases throughout the year, and an increase in expenses for other
employee benefits including expanded paid time off benefits provided to employees in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Allocated overhead expenses
increased by $4.0 million primarily due to an increase in average headcount relative to other cost types.
We expect research and development expenses as a percentage of revenues to remain consistent in 2021 as compared to 2020.
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General and administrative
General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and other personnel-related expenses for our executive, administrative, legal,
finance, information technology and human resources personnel, costs of facilities, computer and communications equipment, management information
systems, support services, professional services fees, and certain tax and license fees, offset by allocations of indirect costs such as facilities and shared
services expenses to other cost types.
A comparison of general and administrative expenses is presented below:
Year Ended December 31,
%
Change

2020

General and administrative

$

149,213

2019
(Dollars in thousands)

8% $

137,625

%
Change

2018

4% $

132,668

General and administrative expenses increased by $11.6 million in 2020 compared to 2019 primarily due to increases in salary and employee benefits
expenses, software license expenses, charitable contributions, and contract and professional services expenses, partially offset by a decrease in stock-based
compensation expenses and an increase in overhead expenses allocated to other cost types. Salary and employee benefits expenses increased by $8.1
million as a result of an increase in average headcount as well as an increase in expenses for other employee benefits including expanded paid time off
benefits provided to employees in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Software license expenses increased by $3.3 million due to expenses related to
network security and other software services. Charitable contributions increased by $3.6 million to support the response to the COVID-19 pandemic and to
promote equal justice. Contract and professional services expenses increased by $2.0 million due to increases in expenses for network security and other
corporate support services. Stock-based compensation expense decreased by $2.4 million as a result of a decrease in the projected achievement levels on
certain performance-based RSU grants. Overhead costs allocated to other cost types increased by $3.0 million due to an increase in total allocable
expenses.
We expect general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues to remain consistent in 2021 as compared to 2020.
Interest expense
See Note 4, “Debt and Interest Expense” of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. We expect interest expense
to remain consistent in 2021 as compared to 2020.
Non-operating income, net
See Note 9, “Non-operating Income, Net” of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Form 10-K. We expect Non-operating
income, net to decrease in 2021 as compared to 2020 due to the transition services income and gain recognized in 2020 in connection with the sale of our
security services customer contracts which will not recur in 2021, and lower interest income in 2021 as a result of lower interest rates.
Income tax (benefit) expense
Year Ended December 31,
2020

Income tax (benefit) expense
Effective tax rate

2019
(Dollars in thousands)

(64,644)
$
(9)%

146,477
$
19 %

2018

147,027
20 %

The effective tax rate for each of the periods in the table above differed from the statutory federal rate of 21% due to a lower foreign effective tax rate
and excess tax benefits related to stock-based compensation, offset by state income taxes and U.S. taxes on foreign earnings, net of foreign tax credits.
Additionally, during 2020, we recognized an income tax benefit of $204.2 million as a result of the remeasurement of certain previously unrecognized
income tax benefits. The majority of this tax benefit related to the worthless stock deduction taken in 2013. These remeasurements were based on written
confirmations from Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”), received in 2020, indicating no examination adjustments would be proposed related to the worthless
stock deduction or certain other matters reviewed as part of the audit of our federal income tax returns for 2010 through 2014, and the lapse of statutes of
limitations related to other unrecognized income tax benefits. Notwithstanding these written confirmations, our U.S. federal income tax returns for 2010
through 2014 remain under examination by the IRS.
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As of December 31, 2020, we had deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences, tax losses, and tax credits of $74.4 million, net of
valuation allowances, but before the offset of certain deferred tax liabilities. With the exception of deferred tax assets related to certain state and foreign net
operating loss carryforwards, we believe it is more likely than not that the tax effects of the deferred tax liabilities, together with future taxable income, will
be sufficient to fully recover the remaining deferred tax assets.
We qualified for a tax holiday in Switzerland until the end of 2019 which lowered tax rates on certain types of income and required certain thresholds
of foreign source income. The tax holiday reduced our foreign income tax expense by $17.3 million ($0.15 per share) in 2019. The benefit from the tax
holiday is calculated before consideration of any offsetting tax impact in the United States. Effective January 1, 2020, due to Swiss tax law changes, the tax
holiday was eliminated, which was partially offset by a lowered statutory tax rate.
We expect the effective tax rate for 2021 to be between 20% and 23%.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of December 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Total

$
$

401,194
765,713
1,166,907

$
$

508,196
709,863
1,218,059

As of December 31, 2020, our principal source of liquidity was $401.2 million of cash and cash equivalents and $765.7 million of marketable
securities. The marketable securities consist primarily of debt securities issued by the U.S. Treasury meeting the criteria of our investment policy, which is
focused on the preservation of our capital through investment in investment grade securities. The cash equivalents consist mainly of amounts invested in
money market funds and U.S. Treasury bills purchased with original maturities of three months or less. As of December 31, 2020, all of our debt securities
have contractual maturities of less than one year. Our cash and cash equivalents are readily accessible. For additional information on our investment
portfolio, see Note 2, “Financial Instruments,” of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
In 2020, we repurchased 3.7 million shares of our common stock at an average stock price of $200.06 for an aggregate cost of $734.9 million under
our share repurchase program. In 2019, we repurchased 3.9 million shares of our common stock at an average stock price of $188.84 for an aggregate cost
of $738.5 million. Effective February 11, 2021, our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of our common stock in the amount of $747.0 million, in
addition to the $253.0 million that remained available for repurchases under the share repurchase program, for a total repurchase authorization of up to $1.0
billion under the program.
As of December 31, 2020, we had $550.0 million principal amount outstanding of 4.75% senior unsecured notes due 2027, $500.0 million principal
amount outstanding of the 5.25% senior unsecured notes due 2025 and $750.0 million principal amount outstanding of the 4.625% senior unsecured notes
due 2023. As of December 31, 2020, there were no borrowings outstanding under the $200.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility that will expire in
2024.
We believe existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities, and funds generated from operations, together with our ability to arrange for
additional financing should be sufficient to meet our working capital, capital expenditure requirements, and to service our debt for the next 12 months. We
regularly assess our cash management approach and activities in view of our current and potential future needs.
In summary, our cash flows for 2020, 2019, and 2018 were as follows:
2020

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
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$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2019
(In thousands)

730,183 $
(72,258)
(764,877)
(48)
(107,000) $

2018

753,892 $
697,767
167,195
1,070,130
(770,303)
(1,875,325)
64
(958)
150,848 $
(108,386)
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Cash flows from operating activities
Our largest source of operating cash flows is cash collections from our customers. Our primary uses of cash from operating activities are for
personnel related expenditures, and other general operating expenses, as well as payments related to taxes, interest and facilities.
Net cash provided by operating activities decreased in 2020 compared to 2019 primarily due to an increase in cash paid for income taxes and
decreases in cash received from interest on investments and from transition services, partially offset by an increase in cash received from customers. Cash
paid for income taxes increased as we used the majority of our net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards by the end of 2019. Cash
received from interest on investments decreased due to a decline in interest rates. Cash received from transition services decreased due to the expiration of
the transition services agreement related to our sale of our security services customer contracts in February 2020. Cash received from customers increased
primarily due to higher domain name registrations and renewals.
Cash flows from investing activities
The changes in cash flows from investing activities primarily relate to purchases, maturities and sales of marketable securities, purchases of property
and equipment and the sale of businesses.
We had net cash outflows from investing activities in 2020, compared to net cash inflows during 2019, primarily due to an increase in purchases of
marketable securities and investments, net of proceeds from maturities and sales of marketable securities and investments, and an increase in purchases of
property and equipment, partially offset by contingent consideration received related to our sale of security services customer contracts.
Cash flows from financing activities
The changes in cash flows from financing activities primarily relate to share repurchases, repayment of borrowings, and our employee stock purchase
plan.
Net cash used in financing activities decreased in 2020 compared to 2019 primarily due to a decrease in share repurchases.
Impact of Inflation
We do not believe that inflation has had a significant impact on our operations in any of the periods presented.
Income taxes
We expect cash paid for income taxes as a percentage of pre-tax income to be between 20% and 23% in 2021.
Property and Equipment Expenditures
Our planned property and equipment expenditures for 2021 are anticipated to be between $55.0 million and $65.0 million and will primarily be
focused on infrastructure upgrades and enhancements to our product portfolio.
Contractual Obligations
See Note 11, “Commitments and Contingencies,” Purchase Obligations and Contractual Agreements, of our Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
It is not our business practice to enter into off-balance sheet arrangements. As of December 31, 2020, we did not have any significant off-balance
sheet arrangements. See Note 11, “Commitments and Contingencies,” Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
in Item 8 of this Form 10-K for further information regarding off-balance sheet arrangements.
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Dilution from RSUs
Grants of stock-based awards are key components of the compensation packages we provide to attract and retain certain of our employees and align
their interests with the interests of existing stockholders. We recognize that these stock-based awards dilute existing stockholders and have sought to
control the number granted while providing competitive compensation packages. As of December 31, 2020, there are a total of 0.7 million unvested RSUs
which represent potential dilution of less than 1.0%. This maximum potential dilution will only result if all outstanding RSUs vest and are settled. In recent
years, our stock repurchase program has more than offset the dilutive effect of RSU grants to employees; however, we may reduce the level of our stock
repurchases in the future as we may use our available cash for other purposes.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We are exposed to financial market risks, including changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. We have not entered into any market risk
sensitive instruments for trading purposes.
Interest Rate Sensitivity
The fixed income securities in our investment portfolio are subject to interest rate risk. As of December 31, 2020, we had $1.01 billion of fixed
income securities, which consisted of U.S. Treasury bills with maturities of less than one year. A hypothetical change in interest rates by 100 basis points
would not have a significant impact on the fair value of our investments.
Foreign Exchange Risk Management
We conduct business in several countries and transact in multiple foreign currencies. The functional currency for all of our international subsidiaries
is the U.S. dollar. Our foreign currency risk management program is designed to mitigate foreign exchange risks associated with monetary assets and
liabilities of our operations that are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. The primary objective of this program is to minimize the gains
and losses to income resulting from fluctuations in exchange rates. We may choose not to hedge certain foreign exchange exposures due to immateriality,
prohibitive economic cost of hedging particular exposures, and limited availability of appropriate hedging instruments. We do not enter into foreign
currency transactions for trading or speculative purposes, nor do we hedge foreign currency exposures in a manner that entirely offsets the effects of
changes in exchange rates. The program may entail the use of forward or option contracts, which are usually placed and adjusted monthly. These foreign
currency forward contracts are derivatives and are recorded at fair market value. We attempt to limit our exposure to credit risk by executing foreign
exchange contracts with financial institutions that have investment grade ratings.
As of December 31, 2020, we held foreign currency forward contracts in notional amounts totaling $27.5 million to mitigate the impact of exchange
rate fluctuations associated with certain foreign currencies. Gains or losses on the foreign currency forward contracts would be largely offset by the
remeasurement of our foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities, resulting in an insignificant net impact to income.
A hypothetical uniform 10% strengthening or weakening in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the foreign currencies in which our revenues and
expenses are denominated would not result in a significant impact to our financial statements.
Market Risk Management
The fair market values of our senior notes are subject to interest rate risk. Generally, the fair market value of fixed interest rate debt will increase as
interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates rise. As of December 31, 2020, the fair values of the senior notes issued in 2013, 2015 and 2017 were $758.8
million, $569.1 million, and $589.9 million, respectively, based on available market information from public data sources.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
VeriSign, Inc.:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Verisign, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the
related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows
for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 19, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matter
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
Evaluation of accounting for income taxes
As discussed in Notes 1 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recognized $67.8 million of deferred tax assets, net as of
December 31, 2020. The Company’s income tax benefit was $64.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. The Company conducts business
globally and consequently is subject to U.S. federal, state, as well as foreign income taxes in the jurisdictions it operates. The Company exercises
judgment in the application of complex tax regulations in multiple jurisdictions.
We identified the evaluation of the accounting for income taxes as a critical audit matter. Evaluating the Company’s application of complex tax
regulations in the domestic and foreign jurisdictions it operates and the impact of those regulations on U.S. federal, state, and foreign income tax
provisions required complex auditor judgment, and the use of tax professionals with specialized skills and knowledge.
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the Company’s income tax process, including
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controls related to the application of complex tax regulations in the Company’s various tax jurisdictions and the impact on the Company’s U.S.
federal, state, and foreign income tax provision. We involved domestic and international tax professionals with specialized skills and knowledge in
various tax jurisdictions who assisted in evaluating the Company’s analyses over the application of complex tax regulations in those jurisdictions.

/s/ KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1995.
McLean, Virginia
February 19, 2021
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
VeriSign, Inc.:
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We have audited VeriSign, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income, stockholders’ deficit, and
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial
statements), and our report dated February 19, 2021 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ KPMG LLP
McLean, Virginia
February 19, 2021
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VERISIGN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value)
December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Deferred tax assets
Deposits to acquire intangible assets
Other long-term assets
Total long-term assets
Total assets

$

$

401,194
765,713
51,033
1,217,940
245,571
52,527
67,914
145,000
37,958
548,970
1,766,910

$

208,642
780,051
988,693
282,838
1,790,083
95,494
2,168,415
3,157,108

$

$

508,196
709,863
60,530
1,278,589
250,283
52,527
87,798
145,000
39,812
575,420
1,854,009

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
$
Deferred revenues
Total current liabilities
Long-term deferred revenues
Senior notes
Long-term tax and other liabilities
Total long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ deficit:
Preferred stock—par value $0.001 per share; Authorized shares: 5,000; Issued and outstanding shares: none
Common stock and additional paid-in capital—par value $0.001 per share; Authorized shares: 1,000,000;
Issued shares: 353,789 at December 31, 2020 and 353,157 at December 31, 2019; Outstanding shares:
113,470 at December 31, 2020 and 116,715 at December 31, 2019
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ deficit
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit
$
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

36

—
14,275,160
(15,662,602)
(2,756)
(1,390,198)
1,766,910 $

209,988
755,178
965,166
278,702
1,787,565
312,676
2,378,943
3,344,109

—
14,990,011
(16,477,490)
(2,621)
(1,490,100)
1,854,009
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VERISIGN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(In thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31,
2020

Revenues
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Non-operating income, net
Income before income taxes
Income tax benefit (expense)
Net income
Other comprehensive (loss) income
Comprehensive income

$

Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted

1,214,969

$

180,177
36,790
74,671
149,213
440,851
824,201
(90,144)
16,187
750,244
64,644
814,888
(135)
814,753 $

180,467
46,637
60,805
137,625
425,534
806,127
(90,611)
43,260
758,776
(146,477)
612,299
190
612,489 $

192,134
64,891
57,884
132,668
447,577
767,392
(114,845)
76,969
729,516
(147,027)
582,489
130
582,619

$

7.08

$

5.17

$

5.13

$

7.07

$

5.15

$

4.75

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

$

2018

$

Shares used to compute earnings per share
Basic
Diluted
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2019

1,265,052

1,231,661

115,058

118,513

113,452

115,298

118,968

122,661
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VERISIGN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2020

Total stockholders’ deficit, beginning of period

$

Common stock and additional paid-in capital
Beginning balance
Repurchase of common stock
Stock-based compensation expense
Issuance of common stock under stock plans
Conversion of subordinated convertible debentures
Balance, end of period
Accumulated deficit
Beginning balance
Net income
Cumulative effects of changes in accounting principles
Balance, end of period
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Beginning balance
Other comprehensive (loss) income
Balance, end of period
Total stockholders’ deficit, end of period

$

2018

(1,385,474) $

(1,260,271)

14,990,011
(777,454)
50,026
12,577
—
14,275,160

15,707,126
(782,583)
52,316
13,152
—
14,990,011

16,437,460
(638,152)
54,574
12,836
(159,592)
15,707,126

(16,477,490)
814,888
—
(15,662,602)

(17,089,789)
612,299
—
(16,477,490)

(17,694,790)
582,489
22,512
(17,089,789)

(2,621)
(135)
(2,756)

(2,811)
190
(2,621)

(2,941)
130
(2,811)

(1,390,198) $

(1,490,100) $

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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2019

(1,490,100) $

(1,385,474)
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VERISIGN, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2020

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation of property and equipment
Stock-based compensation
Amortization of discount on investments in debt securities
Gain on sale of business
Other, net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred revenues
Net deferred income taxes and other long-term tax liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from maturities and sales of marketable securities
Purchases of marketable securities
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds (payments) from sale of business
Other investing activities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repurchases of common stock
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan
Repayment of principal on subordinated convertible debentures
Other financing activities
Net cash used in financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period
Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds received

$

$

814,888

$

612,299

2018

$

582,489

46,352
48,243
(6,131)
(6,402)
3,425

46,330
50,626
(14,777)
(817)
3,668

48,367
52,504
(18,259)
(54,840)
14,646

(9,214)
2,227
29,009
(192,214)
730,183

(3,279)
(24)
16,191
43,675
753,892

1,041
(2,130)
19,825
54,124
697,767

2,305,732
(2,355,405)
(43,395)
20,810
—
(72,258)

2,247,904
(2,030,521)
(40,316)
(9,872)
—
167,195

4,031,809
(2,976,752)
(37,007)
52,240
(160)
1,070,130

(777,454)
12,577
—
—
(764,877)
(48)
(107,000)
517,601
410,601 $

(782,583)
13,152
—
(872)
(770,303)
64
150,848
366,753
517,601 $

(638,152)
12,836
(1,250,009)
—
(1,875,325)
(958)
(108,386)
475,139
366,753

$

87,354

$

87,683

$

117,956

$

132,683

$

89,974

$

84,906

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020, 2019 AND 2018

Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Business
VeriSign, Inc. (“Verisign” or “the Company”) was incorporated in Delaware on April 12, 1995. The Company has one reportable segment. The
Company enables the security, stability, and resiliency of key internet infrastructure and services, including providing root zone maintainer services,
operating two of the 13 global internet root servers, and providing registration services and authoritative resolution for the .com and .net top-level domains,
which support the majority of global e-commerce.
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Verisign and its subsidiaries have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles (“GAAP”) in the United States (“U.S.”). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions.
Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to conform to current period presentation. Such reclassifications have no effect on
net income as previously reported.
Significant Accounting Policies
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Verisign considers all highly-liquid investments purchased with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash
equivalents include certain money market funds, debt securities and various deposit accounts. Verisign maintains its cash and cash equivalents with
financial institutions that have investment grade ratings and, as part of its cash management process, performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit
standing of these financial institutions.
Marketable Securities
Marketable securities primarily consist of debt securities issued by the U.S. Treasury. All marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale and
are carried at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses, net of taxes, are reported as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive loss. The specific
identification method is used to determine the cost basis of the marketable securities sold. The Company classifies its marketable securities as current based
on their nature and availability for use in current operations.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets of 35 to 47 years for buildings, 10 years for building improvements and three years to five years for computer equipment,
software, office equipment, and furniture and fixtures. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of the
estimated useful lives of the assets or associated lease terms.
Capitalized Software
Software included in property and equipment includes amounts paid for purchased software and development costs for internally developed software.
The Company capitalized $12.8 million and $11.9 million of costs related to internally developed software during 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Goodwill and Other Long-lived Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of purchase consideration over fair value of net assets of businesses acquired. The Company has only one reporting
unit, which has a negative carrying value. Therefore, the goodwill is not subject to impairment.
Long-lived assets, such as property, plant, and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset, or asset group, may not be recoverable. Such events or circumstances include, but are not limited to, a significant decrease in
the fair value of the underlying business. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset, or
asset group, to estimated undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset, or asset group. An impairment charge is recognized in the
amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s assets include a deposit related to the purchase of the contractual rights to the .web gTLD. The amount
paid to date has been recorded as a deposit until such time that the contractual rights are transferred to the Company. This asset would be tested for
recoverability if the Company were to determine that it is no longer probable that the rights will be transferred. At the time of the transfer of the contractual
rights, the Company will record the amount as an indefinite-lived intangible asset subject to review for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment is more likely than not.
Foreign Currency Remeasurement
Verisign conducts business in several different countries and transacts in multiple currencies. The functional currency for all of Verisign’s
international subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. The Company’s subsidiaries’ financial statements are remeasured into U.S. dollars using a combination of
current and historical exchange rates and any remeasurement gains and losses are included in Non-operating income, net. Remeasurement gains and losses
were not significant in each of the last three years.
Verisign maintains a foreign currency risk management program designed to mitigate foreign exchange risks associated with the monetary assets and
liabilities that are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. The primary objective of this program is to minimize the gains and losses resulting
from fluctuations in exchange rates. The Company does not enter into foreign currency transactions for trading or speculative purposes, nor does it hedge
foreign currency exposures in a manner that entirely offsets the effects of changes in exchange rates. The program may entail the use of forward or option
contracts, which are usually placed and adjusted monthly. These foreign currency forward contracts are derivatives and are recorded at fair market value.
The Company records gains and losses on foreign currency forward contracts in Non-operating income, net. Gains and losses related to foreign currency
forward contracts were not significant in each of the last three years.
As of December 31, 2020, Verisign held foreign currency forward contracts in notional amounts totaling $27.5 million to mitigate the impact of
exchange rate fluctuations associated with certain assets and liabilities held in foreign currencies.
Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized when control of the promised services is transferred to customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company
expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services. Revenues primarily arise from fixed fees charged to registrars for the initial registration or renewal
of .com, .net, and other domain names. Fees for domain name registrations and renewals are generally due at the time of registration or renewal. Domain
name registration terms range from one year up to ten years.
Most customers either maintain a deposit with Verisign or provide an irrevocable letter of credit in excess of the amounts owed. Verisign also offers
promotional incentive-based discount programs to its registrars based upon market conditions and the business environment in which the registrars operate.
Amounts payable for these programs are recorded as a reduction of revenue.
Performance Obligations
A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to
each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. Each domain name registration or
renewal is considered a separate optional purchase and represents a single performance obligation, which is to allow its registration and maintain that
registration (by allowing updates, Domain Name System (“DNS”) resolution and Whois services, which allow users to find information about registered
domain names) through the registration term. These services are provided continuously throughout each registration term, and as such, revenues from the
initial registration or renewal of domain names are deferred and recognized ratably over the registration term. Fees for
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renewals and advance extensions to the existing term are deferred until the new incremental period commences. These fees are then recognized ratably over
the renewal term.
Costs Incurred to Obtain a Contract
The Company recognizes the fees payable to ICANN for each annual term of domain name registrations and renewals, as an asset which is amortized
on a straight-line basis over the related registration term. These assets are included in Other current assets and Other long-term assets.
Advertising Expenses
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are included in Sales and marketing expenses. Advertising expenses, including costs for advertising
campaigns conducted jointly with our registrars were $7.5 million, $12.8 million, and $15.2 million in 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.
Income Taxes
Verisign uses the asset and liability method to account for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases
and net operating loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax
assets to an amount whose realization is more likely than not. For every tax-paying component and within each tax jurisdiction, all deferred tax liabilities
and assets are offset and presented as a single net noncurrent asset or liability.
The Company recognizes the U.S. income tax effect of future global intangible low-taxed income inclusions in the period in which they arise.
The Company’s income taxes payable is reduced by the tax benefits from restricted stock unit (“RSU”) vestings equal to the fair market value of the
stock at the vesting date. If the income tax benefit at the exercise or vesting date differs from the income tax benefit recorded based on the grant date fair
value of the RSUs, the excess or shortfall of the tax benefit is recognized within income tax expense.
Verisign operates in multiple tax jurisdictions in the United States and internationally. Tax laws and regulations in these jurisdictions are complex,
interrelated, and periodically changing. Significant judgment or interpretation of these laws and regulations is often required in determining the Company’s
worldwide provision for income taxes, including, for example, the calculations of taxable income in each jurisdiction, deferred taxes, and the availability
and amount of deductions and tax credits. The final taxes payable are dependent upon many factors, including negotiations with taxing authorities in
various jurisdictions and resolution of disputes arising from various tax examinations. The Company only recognizes tax positions taken or expected to be
taken on its tax returns that are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination, and records a tax benefit amount that is more likely than not to be
realized upon ultimate settlement with the taxing authority. The Company adjusts its estimate of unrecognized tax benefits in light of changing facts and
circumstances; however, due to the complexity of some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution may result in an outcome that is materially different
from the estimate. See Note 10, “Income Taxes,” for a discussion of significant changes in unrecognized tax benefits during 2020.
The Company’s assumptions, judgments and estimates relative to the value of a deferred tax asset take into account predictions of the amount and
character of future taxable income, such as income from operations or capital gains income. Actual operating results and the underlying amount and
character of income in future years could render the Company’s current assumptions, judgments and estimates of recoverable net deferred taxes inaccurate.
Any of the assumptions, judgments and estimates mentioned above could cause the Company’s actual income tax obligations to differ from its estimates,
thus materially impacting its financial condition and results of operations.
Stock-based Compensation
The Company’s stock-based compensation consists of RSUs granted to employees and the employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”). Stock-based
compensation expense is typically recognized ratably over the requisite service period. Forfeitures of stock-based awards are recognized as they occur. The
Company also grants RSUs which include performance conditions, and in some cases market conditions, to certain executives. The expense for these
performance-based RSUs is recognized based on the probable outcome of the performance conditions. The expense recognized for awards with market
conditions is based on the grant date fair value of the awards including the impact of the market conditions, using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The
Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of its ESPP offerings. The determination of the fair value of stock-based
payment awards using the Monte Carlo simulation model or the Black-Scholes option-pricing
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model is affected by the Company’s stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables.
Earnings per Share
The Company computes basic earnings per share by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted earnings per share gives effect to dilutive potential common shares, including unvested RSUs, ESPP offerings and the conversion spread
related to the subordinated convertible debentures, prior to conversion on May 1, 2018, using the treasury stock method.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company applies the following fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three levels and bases the
categorization within the hierarchy upon the lowest level of input that is available and significant to the fair value measurement:
• Level 1: Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.
• Level 2: Inputs reflect quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not active; quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in
active markets; inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets or liabilities; or inputs that are derived principally from or
corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.
• Level 3: Unobservable inputs reflecting the Company’s own assumptions incorporated in valuation techniques used to determine fair value. These
assumptions are required to be consistent with market participant assumptions that are reasonably available.
Legal Proceedings
Verisign is involved in various investigations, claims and lawsuits arising in the normal conduct of its business, none of which, in its opinion, will
have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. The Company cannot assure you that it will prevail in any
litigation. Regardless of the outcome, any litigation may require the Company to incur significant litigation expense and may result in significant diversion
of management attention.
While certain legal proceedings and related indemnification obligations to which the Company is a party specify the amounts claimed, such claims
may not represent reasonably possible losses. Given the inherent uncertainties of the litigation, the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at
this time, nor can the amount of possible loss or range of loss, if any, be reasonably estimated, except in circumstances where an aggregate litigation
accrual has been recorded for probable and reasonably estimable loss contingencies. A determination of the amount of accrual required, if any, for these
contingencies is made after careful analysis of each matter. The required accrual may change in the future due to new developments in each matter or
changes in approach such as a change in settlement strategy in dealing with these matters. The Company does not believe that any such matter currently
being reviewed will have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
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Note 2. Financial Instruments
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Marketable Securities
The following table summarizes the Company’s cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities and the fair value categorization of the financial
instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
As of December 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Cash
Time deposits
Money market funds (Level 1)
Debt securities issued by the U.S. Treasury (Level 1)
Total

$

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash (included in Other long-term assets)
Total Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Marketable securities
Total

$

$

$

28,832
4,176
129,627
1,013,679
1,176,314

$

401,194
9,407
410,601
765,713
1,176,314

$

$

$

33,238
3,924
149,624
1,040,678
1,227,464
508,196
9,405
517,601
709,863
1,227,464

The fair value of the debt securities held as of December 31, 2020 was $1.01 billion, including less than $0.1 million of gross and net unrealized
gains. All of the debt securities held as of December 31, 2020 have contractual maturities of less than one year.
Fair Value Measurements
The fair value of the Company’s investments in money market funds approximates their face value. Such instruments are classified as Level 1 and
are included in Cash and cash equivalents.
The fair value of the debt securities consisting of U.S. Treasury bills is based on their quoted market prices and are classified as Level 1. Debt
securities purchased with original maturities in excess of three months are included in Marketable securities. Debt securities purchased with original
maturities less than three months are included in Cash and cash equivalents.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s other financial instruments include cash, accounts receivable, restricted cash, and accounts payable whose
carrying values approximated their fair values. The fair values of the Company’s senior notes due 2023 (the “2023 Senior Notes”), the senior notes due
2025 (the “2025 Senior Notes”), and the senior notes due 2027 (the “2027 Senior Notes”) were $758.8 million, $569.1 million, and $589.9 million,
respectively, as of December 31, 2020. The fair values of these debt instruments are based on available market information from public data sources and
are classified as Level 2.
Note 3. Selected Balance Sheet Items
Other Current Assets
Other current assets consist of the following:
As of December 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Prepaid registry fees
Prepaid expenses
Accounts receivable, net
Taxes receivable
Contingent consideration receivable
Other
Total other current assets

$

$

44

22,654
17,920
4,642
3,572
—
2,245
51,033

$

$

21,717
19,818
1,524
1,111
14,721
1,639
60,530
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Property and Equipment, Net
The following table presents the detail of property and equipment, net:
As of December 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Computer equipment and software
Buildings and building improvements
Land
Office equipment and furniture
Capital work in progress
Leasehold improvements
Total cost
Less: accumulated depreciation

$

$

Total property and equipment, net

415,086 $
250,431
31,141
9,179
4,330
1,458
711,625
(466,054)
245,571 $

470,237
248,885
31,141
8,437
6,779
1,458
766,937
(516,654)
250,283

Substantially all of the Company’s property and equipment were held in the U.S. for both periods presented.
Goodwill
The following table presents the detail of goodwill:
As of December 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Goodwill, gross
Accumulated goodwill impairment

$
$

Total goodwill

1,537,843 $
(1,485,316)
52,527 $

1,537,843
(1,485,316)
52,527

There was no impairment of goodwill or other long-lived assets recognized in any of the periods presented.
Deposits to Acquire Intangible Assets
The Company’s Deposit to acquire intangible assets represents the $145.0 million paid for the future assignment to the Company of contractual
rights to the .web gTLD, pending resolution of objections by other applicants, and approval from ICANN. Upon assignment of the contractual rights, the
Company will record the total investment as an indefinite-lived intangible asset.
Other Long-Term Assets
Other long-term assets consist of the following:
As of December 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Operating lease right-of-use asset
Restricted cash
Long-term prepaid registry fees
Other tax receivable
Long-term prepaid expenses and other assets

$

$

Total other long-term assets
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11,277
9,407
7,997
969
8,308
37,958

$

$

9,133
9,405
7,753
6,927
6,594
39,812
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The prepaid registry fees in the tables above relate to the fees the Company pays to ICANN for each annual term of .com domain name registrations
and renewals which are deferred and amortized over the domain name registration term. The amount of prepaid registry fees as of December 31, 2020
reflects amortization of $36.2 million during 2020 which was recorded in Cost of Revenues. Other tax receivables as of December 31, 2019 included
indirect benefits related to the previously unrecognized tax benefits that were remeasured during 2020, as discussed in Note 10. “Income Taxes.”
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following:
As of December 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued employee compensation
Customer deposits
Taxes payable and other tax liabilities
Interest Payable
Accrued registry fees
Customer incentives payable
Other accrued liabilities

$

$

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities

12,340
54,596
53,631
27,194
24,408
13,090
12,556
10,827
208,642

$

$

15,907
49,869
52,804
30,308
24,318
11,529
13,547
11,706
209,988

Long-term Tax and Other Liabilities
Long-term tax and other liabilities consist of the following:
As of December 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Long-term tax liabilities
Long-term operating lease liabilities
Long-term tax and other liabilities

$
$

90,335
5,159
95,494

$
$

308,112
4,564
312,676

Long-term tax liabilities include accruals for unrecognized tax benefits and the long-term portion of the U.S. income taxes payable on the Company’s
accumulated foreign earnings (“Transition Tax”) as discussed in Note 10. “Income Taxes.” During 2020, the Company recognized an income tax benefit of
$204.2 million, primarily as a result of the remeasurement of certain previously unrecognized income tax benefits as discussed in Note 10. “Income Taxes.”
Note 4. Debt and Interest Expense
Senior Notes
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had senior notes outstanding of $1.79 billion, net of unamortized issuance costs. All of the outstanding
senior notes were issued at par and are senior unsecured obligations of the Company. Interest is payable on each of the senior notes semi-annually. Each of
the senior notes issuances is redeemable, in whole or in part, at the Company’s option at times and redemption prices specified in the indentures.
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The following table summarizes information related to our Senior notes:
Issuance Date

Maturity Date

Interest Rate

Principal
As of December 31,
2020
2019
(in thousands except interest rates)

Senior notes due 2023
Senior notes due 2025
Senior notes due 2027
Unamortized issuance costs

April 16, 2013
March 27, 2015
July 5, 2017

May 1, 2023
April 1, 2025
July 15, 2027

4.625 % $
5.250 %
4.750 %
$

Total senior notes

750,000 $
500,000
550,000
(9,917)
1,790,083 $

750,000
500,000
550,000
(12,435)
1,787,565

The indenture governing the 2023 Senior Notes contains covenants that limit the ability of the Company and/or its restricted subsidiaries, under
certain circumstances, to, among other things: (i) pay dividends or make distributions on, or redeem or repurchase, its capital stock; (ii) make certain
investments; (iii) create liens on assets; (iv) enter into sale/leaseback transactions and (v) merge or consolidate or sell all or substantially all of its assets.
These covenants are subject to a number of important limitations and exceptions. The Indenture also provides for events of default, which, if any of them
occurs, may permit or, in certain circumstances, require the principal, premium, if any, accrued and unpaid interest and any other monetary obligations on
all the then outstanding Notes to be due and payable immediately. The Company has remained in compliance with these covenants and no events of default
have occurred over the term of the Notes.
2019 Credit Facility
On December 12, 2019, the Company entered into a credit agreement for a $200.0 million committed unsecured revolving credit facility (the “2019
Credit Facility”). The 2019 Credit Facility includes a financial covenant requiring that the Company’s leverage ratio not exceed 4.0 to 1.0. As of
December 31, 2020, there were no borrowings outstanding under the facility and the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants. The 2019
Credit Facility expires on December 12, 2024 at which time any outstanding borrowings are due. Verisign may from time to time request lenders to agree
on a discretionary basis to increase the commitment amount by up to an aggregate of $150.0 million.
Subordinated Convertible Debentures
In 2018 the Company settled all of its outstanding subordinated convertible debentures, paying the $1.25 billion principal value in cash, and issuing
26.1 million shares of common stock for the excess of the conversion value over the principal amount. The Company recognized a loss of $6.6 million
upon extinguishment of the subordinated convertible debentures based on the amount of the total consideration allocated to the liability component of the
debentures.
The following table presents the components of the Company’s interest expense:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

Contractual interest on Senior Notes
Contractual interest on subordinated convertible debentures
Amortization of debt discount on the subordinated convertible debentures
Amortization of debt issuance costs and other interest expense
Total interest expense

$

$

2019
(In thousands)

87,063
—
—
3,081
90,144

$

$

87,063
—
—
3,548
90,611

2018

$

$

87,063
20,015
4,236
3,531
114,845

Note 5. Stockholders’ Deficit
Treasury Stock
Treasury stock is accounted for under the cost method. Treasury stock includes shares repurchased under stock repurchase programs and shares
withheld in lieu of the tax withholding due upon vesting of RSUs.
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Effective on February 6, 2020, the Company’s Board of Directors (“Board”) authorized the repurchase of its common stock in the amount of
approximately $743.0 million, in addition to the $257.0 million that remained available for repurchases under the share repurchase program, for a total
repurchase authorization of up to $1.0 billion under the program. The program has no expiration date. Purchases made under the program could be effected
through open market transactions, block purchases, accelerated share repurchase agreements or other negotiated transactions. As of December 31, 2020
there was approximately $335.6 million remaining available for repurchases under the program.
Effective February 11, 2021, the Company’s Board authorized the repurchase of its common stock in the amount of $747.0 million, in addition to
the $253.0 million that remained available for repurchases under the program, for a total repurchase authorization of up to $1.0 billion under the program.
The summary of the Company’s common stock repurchases for 2020, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:
2020

2019
Average
Price

Shares

2018
Average
Price

Shares

Average
Price

Shares

(In thousands, except average price amounts)

Total repurchases under the repurchase plans
Total repurchases for tax withholdings

3,674
204
3,878

Total repurchases
Total costs

$

$
$

200.06
208.92

$

200.48

777,454

3,911
243
4,154
$

$
$

188.84
181.07

$

188.39

782,583

4,352
309
4,661
$

$
$

137.86
123.62

$

136.91

638,152

Since inception, the Company has repurchased 240.3 million shares of its common stock for an aggregate cost of $10.98 billion, which is recorded as
a reduction of Additional paid-in capital.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
The following table summarizes the changes in the components of Accumulated other comprehensive loss for 2020 and 2019:
Foreign Currency Translation
Adjustments Loss

Balance, December 31, 2018
Changes
Balance, December 31, 2019
Changes

$

Balance, December 31, 2020

$

Unrealized Gain (Loss) On
Investments
(In thousands)

(2,836) $
—
(2,836)
—
(2,836) $

Total Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss

25 $
190
215
(135)
80 $

(2,811)
190
(2,621)
(135)
(2,756)

Note 6. Calculation of Earnings per Share
The following table presents the computation of weighted-average shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
(In thousands)

2020

Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding
Weighted-average potential shares of common stock outstanding:
Conversion spread related to subordinated convertible debentures
Unvested RSUs, and ESPP
Shares used to compute diluted earnings per share

2018

115,058

118,513

113,452

—
240
115,298

—
455
118,968

8,589
620
122,661

The Company settled the subordinated convertible debentures in May 2018. The calculation of diluted weighted average shares outstanding, excludes
potentially dilutive securities, the effect of which would have been anti-dilutive, as well as
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performance-based RSUs granted by the Company for which the relevant performance criteria have not been achieved. The number of potential shares
excluded from the calculation was not significant in any period presented.
Note 7. Revenues
The Company generates revenues in the U.S.; Europe, the Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”); China; and certain other countries, including, but not
limited to Canada, Australia, and Japan. The following table presents our revenues disaggregated by geography, based on the billing addresses of our
customers:
2020

U.S
EMEA
China
Other

$

$

Total revenues

804,647
214,204
113,048
133,153
1,265,052

Year Ended December 31,
2019
(In thousands)

$

$

772,586
206,975
119,291
132,809
1,231,661

2018

$

$

756,907
212,699
106,841
138,522
1,214,969

Revenues in the table above are attributed to the country of domicile and the respective regions in which registrars are located; however, this may
differ from the regions where the registrars operate or where registrants are located. Revenues for each region may be impacted by registrars
reincorporating, relocating, or from acquisitions or changes in affiliations of resellers. Revenues for each region may also be impacted by registrars
domiciled in one region, registering domain names in another region.
Major Customers
Our largest customer accounted for approximately 34%, 33%, and 32% of revenues in 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. Another customer
accounted for 10% of revenues during 2018. The Company does not believe that the loss of these customers would have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business because, in that event, end-users of these customers would transfer to the Company’s other existing customers.
Deferred Revenues
As payment for domain name registrations and renewals are due in advance of our performance, we record these amounts as deferred revenues.
The increase in the deferred revenues balance in 2020 is primarily driven by amounts billed in 2020 for domain name registrations and renewals to be
recognized as revenues in future periods, offset by refunds for domain name renewals deleted during the 45-day grace period, and $729.0 million of
revenues recognized that were included in the deferred revenues balance at December 31, 2019. The balance of deferred revenues as of December 31, 2020
represents our aggregate remaining performance obligations. Amounts included in current deferred revenues are all expected to be recognized in revenues
within 12 months, except for a portion of deferred revenues that relates to domain name renewals that are deleted in the 45-day grace period following the
transaction. The long-term deferred revenues amounts will be recognized in revenues over several years and in some cases up to ten years.
Note 8. Employee Benefits and Stock-based Compensation
401(k) Plan
The Company maintains a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the “401(k) Plan”) for substantially all of its U.S. employees. Under the 401(k) Plan,
eligible employees may contribute up to 50% of their pre-tax salary, subject to the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) annual contribution limits. The
Company matches 50% of up to the first 8% of the employee’s annual salary contributed to the plan. The Company contributed $5.0 million in 2020, $4.7
million in 2019, and $4.3 million in 2018 under the 401(k) Plan. The Company can terminate matching contributions at its discretion at any time.
Equity Incentive Plan
The majority of Verisign’s stock-based compensation relates to RSUs granted under the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”). As of
December 31, 2020, a total of 8.4 million shares of common stock remain reserved for issuance upon the vesting of RSUs and for the future grant of equity
awards. The 2006 Plan authorizes the award of incentive stock options to employees and non-qualified stock options, restricted stock awards, RSUs, stock
bonus awards, stock appreciation rights and performance shares to eligible employees, officers, directors, consultants, independent contractors and
advisers. The 2006 Plan
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is administered by the Compensation Committee which may delegate to a committee of one or more members of the Board or Verisign’s officers the ability
to grant certain awards and take certain other actions with respect to participants who are not executive officers or non-employee directors. RSUs are
awards covering a specified number of shares of Verisign common stock that may be settled by issuance of those shares (which may be restricted
shares). RSUs generally vest over four years. Certain RSUs with performance and market conditions (“PSUs”), granted to the Company’s executives, vest
over either three-or four-year terms. Additionally, the Company has granted fully vested RSUs to members of its Board in each of the last three years. The
Compensation Committee may authorize grants with a different vesting schedule in the future.
2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
Eligible employees of the Company may purchase common stock under the 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan through payroll deductions by
electing to have between 2% and 25% of their compensation withheld to cover the purchase price. Each participant is granted an option to purchase
common stock. This option is automatically exercised on the last day of each six-month purchase period during the offering period. The purchase price for
the common stock under the ESPP is 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of the common stock on the first day of the applicable offering period or the
last day of the applicable purchase period. Offering periods begin on the first business day of February and August of each year. As of December 31, 2020,
3.1 million shares of the Company’s common stock remain reserved for future issuance under this plan.
Stock-based Compensation
Stock-based compensation is classified in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income in the same expense line items as cash
compensation. The following table presents the classification of stock-based compensation:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
(In thousands)

2020

Cost of revenues
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation

$

6,321
3,453
7,137
31,332
48,243

$

$

$

6,739
3,755
6,370
33,762
50,626

2018

$

6,835
4,972
6,728
33,969
52,504

$

The following table presents the nature of the Company’s total stock-based compensation:
2020

RSUs
PSUs
ESPP
Capitalization (Included in Property and equipment, net)
Total stock-based compensation expenses

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2019
(In thousands)

38,217 $
7,380
4,429
(1,783)
48,243 $

36,930 $
10,522
4,864
(1,690)
50,626 $

2018

38,005
12,403
4,166
(2,070)
52,504

The income tax benefit that was included within Income tax expense related to these stock-based compensation expenses for 2020, 2019, and 2018
was $11.0 million, $11.7 million, and $12.3 million, respectively.
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RSUs Information
The following table summarizes unvested RSUs activity for the year ended December 31, 2020:
Weighted-Average
Shares
Grant-Date Fair Value
(Shares in thousands)

Unvested at beginning of period
Granted
PSU achievement adjustment
Vested and settled
Forfeited

876
279
79
(551)
(22)
661

$
$
$
$
$
$

121.21
205.61
20.41
95.70
155.98
164.83

The RSUs in the table above include PSUs. The unvested RSUs as of December 31, 2020 include approximately 0.2 million PSUs. The number of
shares received upon vesting of these PSUs may range from zero to 0.4 million depending on the level of performance achieved and whether any market
conditions are satisfied.
The closing price of Verisign’s stock was $216.40 on December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, the aggregate market value of unvested RSUs
was $143.1 million. The fair values of RSUs that vested during 2020, 2019, and 2018 were $115.0 million, $124.1 million, and $107.2 million,
respectively. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, was $172.87 and $112.74,
respectively. As of December 31, 2020, total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSUs was $75.7 million which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.5 years.
Note 9. Non-operating Income, Net
The following table presents the components of Non-operating income, net:
Year Ended December 31,
2019
(In thousands)

2020

Interest income
Gain on sale of business
Transition services income
Loss on extinguishment of subordinated convertible debentures
Other, net

$

Total non-operating income, net

$

7,815 $
6,402
2,100
—
(130)
16,187 $

26,596
817
15,600
—
247
43,260

2018

$

26,490
54,840
1,132
(6,554)
1,061
76,969

$

Interest income is earned principally from the Company’s surplus cash balances and marketable securities. The lower interest income in 2020 reflects
a decline in interest rates on our investments in debt securities. Transition services income and gain on sale of business relate to the sale of our security
services customer contracts. The transition services agreement ended in February 2020. The gain on sale of business in 2020 primarily represents the excess
of the contingent consideration received related to the sale of our security services customer contracts compared to the estimated receivable.
Note 10. Income Taxes
Income before income taxes is categorized geographically as follows:

2020

United States
Foreign

$
$

Total income before income taxes

51

457,830
292,414
750,244

Year Ended December 31,
2019
(In thousands)

$
$

452,793
305,983
758,776

2018

$
$

420,597
308,919
729,516
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The provision for income taxes consisted of the following:

2020

Current (benefit) expense:
Federal
State
Foreign, including withholding tax

$

Deferred expense (benefit):
Federal
State
Foreign
$

Total income tax (benefit) expense

Year Ended December 31,
2019
(In thousands)

(123,933) $
10,522
29,152
(84,259)
4,348
17,388
(2,121)
19,615
(64,644) $

74,283
2,069
31,385
107,737

2018

$

99,127
1,088
76,199
176,414

30,462
22,899
(14,621)
38,740
146,477 $

(16,448)
42,624
(55,563)
(29,387)
147,027

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”) was enacted on December 22, 2017, and most of its provisions became effective in 2018. The Tax Act
made substantial changes to U.S. taxation of corporations, including lowering the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21% and instituting a
territorial tax system, along with a one-time Transition Tax.
Federal current expense and federal deferred benefit for 2018 includes $96.4 million related to the Transition Tax, net of $106.7 million of carried
forward and newly-generated foreign tax credits, payable as a result of the Tax Act. This amount is being paid in installments over an eight-year period
which began in 2018, as allowed by the Tax Act.
State tax expense for 2018 was increased by $10.0 million remeasurement of deferred tax assets because of changes in certain state apportionment
rates, and $5.6 million change in estimate related to the 2017 state income tax returns.
Foreign current expense and foreign deferred benefit for 2019 and 2018 includes $13.1 million and $60.7 million, respectively, of withholding taxes
paid upon the repatriation of cash held by foreign subsidiaries.
The difference between income tax (benefit) expense and the amount resulting from applying the federal statutory rate of 21% to Income before
income taxes is attributable to the following:

2020

Income tax expense at federal statutory rate
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Effect of non-U.S. operations
Stock-based compensation
Capital loss carryforwards expiration
Change in valuation allowance
Accrual for uncertain tax positions
Other

$

Total income tax (benefit) expense

$

Year Ended December 31,
2019
(In thousands)

157,551 $
23,167
(27,691)
(8,643)
—
(987)
(204,673)
(3,368)
(64,644) $

159,343 $
20,573
(25,178)
(9,204)
—
(3,555)
7,365
(2,867)
146,477 $

2018

153,199
35,852
(26,271)
(7,032)
769,706
(773,737)
2,637
(7,327)
147,027

During 2020, the Company recognized an income tax benefit as a result of the remeasurement of certain previously unrecognized income tax benefits.
The majority of these income tax benefits, related to the worthless stock deduction taken in 2013. These remeasurements were based on written
confirmations from IRS, indicating no examination adjustments would be proposed related to the worthless stock deduction or certain other matters
reviewed as part of the audit of the Company’s federal income tax returns for 2010 through 2014, and the lapse of statutes of limitations related to other
unrecognized income tax benefits. Notwithstanding these written confirmations, the Company’s U.S. federal income tax returns for those years
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remain under examination by the IRS. Tax years 2015 and 2016 are closed to IRS audit as the statutes of limitations have lapsed.
The Company qualified for a tax holiday in Switzerland until the end of 2019 which lowered tax rates on certain types of income and required certain
thresholds of foreign source income. The tax holiday reduced our foreign income tax expense by $17.3 million ($0.15 per share), and $16.9 million ($0.14)
in 2019, and 2018, respectively. The benefit from the tax holiday is calculated before consideration of any offsetting tax impact in the United States.
Effective January 1, 2020, due to Swiss tax law changes, the tax holiday was eliminated, which was partially offset by a lowered statutory tax rate.
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
As of December 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
Deferred revenues, accruals and reserves
Net operating loss carryforwards
Tax credit carryforwards
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities

$

$

Total net deferred tax assets

66,926 $
5,623
5,078
2,379
80,006
(5,613)
74,393

70,539
17,897
5,516
7,401
101,353
(6,598)
94,755

(4,167)
(2,394)
(6,561)
67,832 $

(3,466)
(3,608)
(7,074)
87,681

With the exception of deferred tax assets related to certain state net operating loss carryforwards, management believes it is more likely than not that
the tax effects of the deferred tax liabilities together with future taxable income, will be sufficient to fully recover the remaining deferred tax assets. As of
December 31, 2020, the Company’s Other long-term tax liabilities include the $66.1 million noncurrent liability for Transition Tax, net of applicable
foreign tax credits, while the $7.8 million current portion of the liability is included in Accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s deferred tax assets included $86.8 million of state net operating loss carryforwards, before applying tax
rates for the respective jurisdictions. The tax credit carryforwards as of December 31, 2020 consisted primarily of foreign tax credit carryforwards. The
state net operating loss carryforwards expire in various years from 2021 through 2034. The foreign tax credits will expire in 2028.
The Company maintains liabilities for uncertain tax positions. These liabilities involve considerable judgment and estimation and are continuously
monitored by management based on the best information available including changes in tax regulations and other information. A reconciliation of the
beginning and ending balances of the total amounts of gross unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
As of December 31,
2020

2019
(In thousands)

Beginning balance
Increases in tax positions for prior years
Decreases in tax positions for prior years
Increases in tax positions for current year
Lapse in statute of limitations

$

Ending balance

$
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231,339 $
7,138
(199,107)
1,613
(17,255)
23,728 $

223,455
4,467
(328)
3,745
—
231,339
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As of December 31, 2020, approximately $23.1 million of unrecognized tax benefits, including penalties and interest, could affect the Company’s tax
provision and effective tax rate. The Company does not expect the balance of unrecognized tax benefits to change materially during the next twelve
months.
In accordance with its accounting policy, the Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component
of tax expense. These accruals were not material in any period presented.
The Company’s major taxing jurisdictions are the U.S., the Commonwealth of Virginia, and Switzerland. The Company’s U.S. federal income tax
returns are currently under examination by the IRS for 2010 through 2014. The U.S. federal statutes of limitations are closed for the 2015 and 2016 tax
years. The Company’s other material tax returns are not currently under examination by their respective taxing jurisdictions. Because the Company has
previously used net operating loss carryforwards and other tax attributes to offset its taxable income in income tax returns for the U.S. and Virginia, such
attributes can be adjusted by these taxing authorities until the statute of limitations closes on the year in which such attributes were utilized. The open years
for examination in Switzerland are the 2012 tax year and forward.
Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies
Purchase Obligations and Contractual Agreements
The following table represents the minimum payments required by Verisign under certain purchase obligations, certain U.S. income tax obligations,
leases, and the interest payments and principal on the Senior Notes:
Purchase
Obligations

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

$

Total

$

48,691
10,462
5,450
4,095
4,039
—
72,737

Transition Tax

$

$

7,772
7,772
14,573
19,430
24,288
—
73,835

Operating Leases
(In thousands)

$

$

6,217
3,401
1,190
353
116
—
11,277

Senior Notes

$

$

87,063
87,063
819,719
52,375
539,250
602,250
2,187,720

Total

$

$

149,743
108,698
840,932
76,253
567,693
602,250
2,345,569

The amounts in the table above exclude $23.1 million of unrecognized tax benefits, as the Company is unable to reasonably estimate the ultimate
amount or time of settlement of those liabilities.
Verisign enters into certain purchase obligations with various vendors. The Company’s significant purchase obligations include firm commitments
with telecommunication carriers, other service providers and the fixed portion of registry fees related to the operation of certain top-level domains. Registry
fees for top-level domains that we operate where the amounts are variable or passed-through to registrars have been excluded from the table above. The
Company does not have any significant purchase obligations beyond 2025.
The Company has an agreement with Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers (“ICANN”) to be the sole registry operator for domain
names in the .com registry through November 30, 2024. Under this agreement, the Company pays ICANN on a quarterly basis, $0.25 for each annual term
of a domain name registered or renewed during such quarter. The Company incurred registry fees for the .com registry of $36.3 million in 2020, $34.7
million in 2019, and $33.0 million in 2018.
In connection with the .com Registry Agreement with ICANN, the Company is required to make annual payments of $4.0 million to ICANN from
2021 through 2025 to support efforts to maintain the security and stability of the DNS. These payments are included in Purchase obligations in the table
above.
The Transition Tax relates to the U.S. income taxes payable on our accumulated foreign earnings pursuant to the Tax Act as discussed in Note 10
“Income Taxes.” As permitted by the Tax Act, the Company will continue to pay the Transition Tax in installments as shown in the table above.
Verisign leases a small portion of its office space and a portion of its data center facilities under operating leases, the longest of which extends into
2025. Rental expenses under operating leases were not material in any period presented.

54

Table of Contents
VERISIGN, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)
DECEMBER 31, 2020, 2019 AND 2018

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as
entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance
sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. As such, the Company is not exposed to any financing, liquidity, market or credit risk
that could arise if the Company had engaged in such relationships.
It is not the Company’s business practice to enter into off-balance sheet arrangements. However, in the normal course of business, the Company does
enter into contracts in which it makes representations and warranties that guarantee the performance of the Company’s products and services. Historically,
there have been no significant losses related to such guarantees.
Supplementary Data (Unaudited)
The following tables set forth unaudited supplementary quarterly financial data for the two-year period ended December 31, 2020. In management’s
opinion, the unaudited data has been prepared on the same basis as the audited information and includes all adjustments (consisting only of normal
recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair presentation of the data for the periods presented.
2020
Quarter Ended
June 30
September 30 (2)
December 31 (3)
(In thousands, except per share data)

March 31 (1)

Revenues
Gross Profit
Operating Income
Net income
Earnings per share:
Basic (4)
Diluted (4)

$
$
$
$

312,524
266,951
206,264
334,116

$
$
$
$

314,365
270,757
206,780
152,479

$
$
$
$

317,879
272,855
206,649
170,979

$
$
$
$

320,284
274,312
204,508
157,314

$
$
$
$

1,265,052
1,084,875
824,201
814,888

$
$

2.87
2.86

$
$

1.32
1.32

$
$

1.49
1.49

$
$

1.38
1.38

$
$

7.08
7.07

2019
Quarter Ended
June 30
September 30
December 31
(In thousands, except per share data)

March 31

Revenues
Gross Profit
Operating Income
Net income
Earnings per share:
Basic
Diluted

Year Ended
December 31,

Year Ended
December 31,

$
$
$
$

306,408
260,904
200,252
162,527

$
$
$
$

306,289
262,223
201,693
147,534

$
$
$
$

308,421
263,978
205,616
153,913

$
$
$
$

310,543
264,089
198,566
148,325

$
$
$
$

1,231,661
1,051,194
806,127
612,299

$
$

1.36
1.35

$
$

1.24
1.24

$
$

1.30
1.30

$
$

1.27
1.26

$
$

5.17
5.15

——————

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Results for the quarter ended March 31, 2020 include the recognition of $167.8 million of previously unrecognized income tax benefits.
Results for the quarter ended September 30, 2020 include the recognition of $24.0 million of previously unrecognized income tax benefits.
Results for the quarter ended December 31, 2020 include the recognition of $12.4 million of previously unrecognized income tax benefits.
Earnings per share for the year is computed independently and may not equal the sum of the quarterly earnings per share.

We believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results are not necessarily meaningful, and should not be relied upon as an indication
of future performance. Also, operating results may fall below our expectations and the expectations of securities analysts or investors in one or more future
quarters. If this were to occur, the market price of our common stock would likely decline.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
a. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Based on our management’s evaluation, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer (our principal executive officer) and our Chief
Financial Officer (our principal financial officer), as of December 31, 2020, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are effective to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in SEC rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal
financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
b. Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020 using the
criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013 Framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (“COSO”).
Based on our evaluation under the COSO framework, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting is effective to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles.
KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has issued a report concerning the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2020. See “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
c. Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange
Act) during the three months ended December 31, 2020 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.
d. Inherent Limitations of Disclosure Controls and Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Because of their inherent limitations, our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting may not prevent
material errors or fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. The effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting is
subject to risks, including that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with our policies or
procedures may deteriorate.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
On February 16, 2021, our Board of Directors amended our Bylaws to decrease the aggregate ownership percentage of stockholders needed to call a
special meeting from 25% to 10% as described in Article I, Section 2 of the Bylaws. The amended Bylaws, which were effective upon approval by our
Board of Directors, contain certain notice and other requirements relevant to the ability of our stockholders to call a special meeting.
This description of the amendment to the Bylaws is qualified in its entirety by reference to the text of the Bylaws, as amended, a copy of which is
filed as Exhibit 3.02 to this Form 10-K.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this item regarding our directors and nominees, Audit Committee, Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee,
and Compensation Committee will be included under the captions “Proposal No. 1—Election of Directors,” “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners” and “Corporate Governance” in our Proxy Statement related to the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference
(our “2021 Proxy Statement”).
Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 10-K, the information required by this item relating to our executive officers is included under the
caption “Information About Our Executive Officers” in Part I of this Form 10-K.
We have adopted a written Code of Conduct, which is posted on our Investor Relations website under “Ethics and Business Conduct” at
https://investor.verisign.com/corporate-governance. The Code of Conduct applies to all of our directors, officers, and employees, including our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, and other senior accounting officers. We have also adopted the “Corporate Governance Principles for the
Board of Directors,” which provide guidance to our directors on corporate practices that serve the best interests of our company and our stockholders.
We intend to satisfy any disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of the Code of
Conduct, to the extent applicable to the principal executive officer, principal financial officer, or other senior accounting officers, by posting such
information on our website, on the web page found by clicking through to “Ethics and Business Conduct” as specified above.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2021 Proxy Statement from the discussions under the captions
“Compensation of Directors,” “Non-Employee Director Retainer Fees and Equity Compensation Information” and “Non-Employee Director Compensation
Table for 2020,” and “Executive Compensation.”
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS
Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the discussions under the captions “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in our 2021 Proxy Statement.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2021 Proxy Statement from the discussions under the captions “Policies
and Procedures with Respect to Transactions with Related Persons,” “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Independence of Directors.”
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2021 Proxy Statement from the discussions under the captions “Principal
Accountant Fees and Services” and “Policy on Audit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditors.”
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Documents filed as part of this report
1. Financial statements
The financial statements are set forth under Item 8 of this Form 10-K, as indexed below.
Page

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Deficit
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

33
36
37
38
39
40

2. Financial statement schedules
Financial statement schedules are omitted because the information called for is not material or is shown either in the consolidated financial
statements or the notes thereto.
3. Exhibits
(a) Index to Exhibits
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC, the Company has filed certain agreements as exhibits to this Form 10-K. These agreements may
contain representations and warranties by the parties thereto. These representations and warranties have been made solely for the benefit of the other party
or parties to such agreements and (1) may be intended not as statements of fact, but rather as a way of allocating the risk to one of the parties to such
agreements if those statements prove to be inaccurate, (2) may have been qualified by disclosures that were made to such other party or parties and that
either have been reflected in the Company’s filings or are not required to be disclosed in those filings, (3) may apply materiality standards different from
what may be viewed as material to investors and (4) were made only as of the date of such agreements or such other date(s) as may be specified in such
agreements and are subject to more recent developments. Accordingly, these representations and warranties may not describe the Company’s actual state of
affairs at the date hereof or at any other time.
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Form

Date

Filed
Herewith

Number

2.01

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of March 6, 2000, by and among the
Registrant, Nickel Acquisition Corporation and Network Solutions, Inc.

8-K

3/8/00

2.1

3.01

Sixth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant.

10-K

2/17/17

3.01

3.02

Bylaws of VeriSign, Inc.

4.01

Indenture, dated as of April 16, 2013, between VeriSign, Inc., each of the
subsidiary guarantors party thereto and U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustee.

8-K

4/17/13

4.1

4.02

Indenture dated as of March 27, 2015 between VeriSign, Inc. and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee.

8-K

3/30/15

4.1

4.03

Indenture, dated as of July 5, 2017, between VeriSign, Inc. and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee.

8-K

7/5/17

4.1

4.04

Description of Securities of the Registrant

X

X
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Filed
Herewith

Form
DEF 14A

4/12/17

Appendix A

7/12/07

10.27

Date

Number

10.01

Amended and Restated 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as adopted
August 30, 2007, and amended May 25, 2017. +

10.02

Amendment No. Thirty (30) to Cooperative Agreement - Special Awards
Conditions NCR-92-18742, between VeriSign and U.S. Department of
Commerce managers.

10-K

10.03

VeriSign, Inc. Annual Incentive Compensation Plan. +

DEF 14A

4/8/15

Appendix A

10.04

Form of Amended and Restated Change-in-Control and Retention
Agreement [CEO Form of Agreement]. +

10-Q

7/27/17

10.01

10.05

Amended and Restated Change-in-Control and Retention Agreement. +

10-Q

7/27/17

10.02

10.06

Purchase and Sale Agreement for 12061 Bluemont Way Reston, Virginia
between 12061 Bluemont Owner, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company, as Seller and VeriSign, Inc., a Delaware corporation, as Purchaser
Dated August 18, 2011.

8-K

9/7/11

10.01

10.07

VeriSign, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan Form of Non-Employee Director
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement. +

10-Q

7/27/12

10.03

10.08

Registry Agreement between VeriSign, Inc. and the Internet Corporation for
Assigned Names and Numbers, entered into on November 29, 2012.

8-K

11/30/12

10.1

10.09

Amendment Number Thirty-Two (32) to the Cooperative Agreement
between VeriSign, Inc. and Department of Commerce, entered into on
November 29, 2012.

8-K

11/30/12

10.2

10.10

VeriSign, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan Performance-Based Restricted
Stock Unit Agreement +

10-Q

4/28/16

10.01

10.11

Credit Agreement dated as of December 12, 2019 among VeriSign, Inc., the
Lenders as defined therein, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative
Agent, and J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, as London Agent.

8-K

12/13/19

10.1

10.12

VeriSign, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan Form of Employee Restricted
Stock Unit Agreement +

10-K

2/19/16

10.70

10.13

Amendment to the .com Registry Agreement between VeriSign, Inc. and the
Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers, entered into on
October 20, 2016

8-K

10/20/16

10.1

10.14

Amendment Number Thirty-Three (33) to the Cooperative Agreement
between VeriSign, Inc. and Department of Commerce, entered into on
October 20, 2016

8-K

10/20/16

10.2

10.15

Amendment Number Thirty-Four (34) to the Cooperative Agreement
between VeriSign, Inc. and Department of Commerce, entered into on
October 20, 2016

8-K

10/20/16

10.3

10.16

Amended and Restated VeriSign, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, as
amended and restated +

DEF 14A

4/29/16

Appendix A

10.17

.Net Registry Agreement between VeriSign, Inc. and the Internet Corporation 8-K
for Assigned Names and Numbers, entered into on June 28, 2017.

6/28/17

10.1
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Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number

Exhibit Description

Filed
Herewith

Form
8-K

11/1/18

10.1

10-K

2/15/19

10.20

Date

Number

10.18

Amendment Thirty-Five (35) to the Cooperative Agreement between
VeriSign, Inc. and the U.S. Department of Commerce, entered into on
October 26, 2018

10.19

Asset Purchase Agreement between Verisign, Inc., as the seller and Neustar,
Inc., as the buyer, dated as of October 24, 2018

10.20

Second Amendment to the .com Registry Agreement between VeriSign, Inc.
and the Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers, entered into
on March 27, 2019

10-K

2/14/20

10.21

Amendment to Asset Purchase Agreement and Transition Services
Agreement between Neustar, Inc. and VeriSign, Inc., dated as of December
10, 2019†

10-K

2/14/20

10.22

Third Amendment to the .com Registry Agreement between VeriSign, Inc.
and the Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers, entered into
on March 27, 2020.

8-K

03/27/20

10.1

First Amendment to the .net Registry Agreement between VeriSign, Inc. and
the Internet Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers, entered into on
April 27, 2020.

10-Q

10/22/20

10.01

21.01

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

10-K

2/14/20

21.01

23.01

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

X

24.01

Powers of Attorney (Included as part of the signature pages hereto).

X

31.01

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule
13a-14(a).

X

31.02

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule
13a-14(a).

X

32.01

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act
Rule 13a-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the U.S. Code
(18 U.S.C. 1350). *

X

32.02

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule
13a-14(b) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the U.S. Code (18
U.S.C. 1350). *

X

101

Interactive Data File. The instance document does not appear in the
Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline
XBRL document.
Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in
Exhibit 101).

X

10.21
10.22
10.23

104
*

As contemplated by SEC Release No. 33-8212, these exhibits are furnished with this Form 10-K and are not deemed filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and are not incorporated by reference in any filing of VeriSign, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any general incorporation language in such filings.

+

Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

†

Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 16. 10-K SUMMARY
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Reston, Commonwealth of Virginia, on the 19th day of February 2021.
VERISIGN, INC.

/S/ D. JAMES BIDZOS
D. James Bidzos

By:

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that each individual whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints D. James Bidzos, George E. Kilguss, III, and Thomas C.
Indelicarto, and each of them, his or her true lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to
sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto and all documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, granted unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and
about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or his,
her or their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on the
19th day of February 2021.
Signature

Title

/S/ D. JAMES BIDZOS
D. JAMES BIDZOS

Chief Executive Officer,
Executive Chairman and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/S/ GEORGE E. KILGUSS, III

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

GEORGE E. KILGUSS, III
/S/ YEHUDA ARI BUCHALTER
YEHUDA ARI BUCHALTER

Director

/S/ KATHLEEN A. COTE
KATHLEEN A. COTE

Director

/S/ THOMAS F. FRIST III
THOMAS F. FRIST III

Director

/S/ JAMIE S. GORELICK
JAMIE S. GORELICK

Director

/S/ ROGER H. MOORE
ROGER H. MOORE

Director

/S/

LOUIS A. SIMPSON
LOUIS A. SIMPSON

Director

/S/ TIMOTHY TOMLINSON
TIMOTHY TOMLINSON

Director
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Exhibit 3.02

BYLAWS
of
VERISIGN, INC.
(Effective February 16, 2021)
ARTICLE I
Stockholders
Section 1. Annual Meeting. An annual meeting of the stockholders of the corporation, for the election of the directors to
succeed those whose terms expire and for the transaction of such other business as may properly come before the meeting, shall
be held at such place, on such date and at such time as the Board of Directors shall each year fix.
Section 2. Special Meetings. (a) Special meetings of the stockholders, for any purpose or purposes prescribed in the notice
of the meeting, shall be held at such place, on such date, and at such time as determined by the Board of Directors and may be
called only by (i) the Board of Directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of directors authorized
by resolutions (whether or not there exist any vacancies in previously authorized directorships at the time any such resolution is
presented to the Board of Directors for adoption), (ii) the Chairman of the Board of Directors, (iii) the President or (iv) the
Secretary whenever a stockholder or group of stockholders Owning (as defined below) at least ten percent (10%) in the aggregate
of the capital stock issued, outstanding and entitled to vote, and who held that amount in a net long position continuously for at
least one year (the “Eligibility Criteria”), so request in writing. Business transacted at special meetings shall be confined to the
purpose or purposes stated in the notice of the meeting.
In the case of clause (iv) of the immediately preceding sentence, each such written request must be signed by each
stockholder making the request and delivered to the Secretary at the principal executive office of the corporation and shall set
forth (a) a brief description of the business desired to be brought before the special meeting of the stockholders, including the
complete text of any resolutions to be presented at the special meeting of the stockholders with respect to such business, and the
reasons for conducting such business at the meeting; (b) the date of request; (c)(i) if any stockholder making the request is a
registered holder of the corporation’s stock, the name, address and ownership information, as they appear on the corporation’s
books, of each such stockholder and (ii) if any stockholder making the request is not a registered holder of the corporation’s
stock, proof of satisfaction by each such stockholder of the Eligibility Criteria which shall be substantially similar to the proof
specified by Rule 14a-8(b)(2)(i) or (ii) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), as amended from time
to time, in each case, including a written agreement to update and supplement such information upon the occurrence of any
changes thereto; (d) a representation that each requesting stockholder intends to appear in person or by proxy at the special
meeting of the stockholders to transact the business specified; and (e) a representation that each requesting stockholder intends to
hold the shares of the corporation’s stock set forth in the written request through the date of the special meeting of the
stockholders; provided that, if any such requesting

1

stockholder (x) fails to satisfy the Eligibility Criteria or to follow one of the procedural requirements described in clauses (a)
through (e) of this sentence (the “Procedural Requirements”), the corporation shall not be obligated to call a special meeting
unless the remaining requesting stockholders continue to satisfy the Eligibility Criteria and the Procedural Requirements or (y)
fails to hold the required number of shares through the date of the special meeting (a “Non Performing Holder”), the corporation
may cancel the special meeting (if previously called but not yet held) unless the remaining requesting stockholders have not
failed to hold such shares through such date and continue to satisfy the Eligibility Criteria; provided, further, that the corporation
may disregard future requests to call special meetings from each Non Performing Holder for the following two calendar years.
Following receipt by the Secretary of a written request of stockholders that complies with the requirements set forth in this
Section 2 (a “Special Meeting Request”), the Secretary shall call a special meeting of the stockholders.
(b) Revocation of Special Meeting Request. A stockholder may revoke a Special Meeting Request at any time by written
revocation. Following such revocation, the Board of Directors, in its discretion, may cancel the special meeting unless, in the case
of a Special Meeting Request, any remaining requesting stockholders continue to satisfy the Eligibility Criteria and the
Procedural Requirements. For purposes of this Section 2, written revocation shall mean delivering a notice of revocation to the
Secretary.
(c) Limitations. The Secretary shall not call a special meeting in response to a Special Meeting Request if (i) an identical
or substantially similar item (as determined by the Board of Directors, a “Similar Item”) is included or will be included in the
corporation’s notice of meeting as an item of business to be brought before a meeting of stockholders that will be held not later
than ninety (90) days after the delivery date of the Special Meeting Request (the “Delivery Date”); (ii) the Delivery Date is
during the period commencing ninety (90) days prior to the date of the next annual meeting of stockholders and ending on the
date of the next annual meeting of stockholders; (iii) a Similar Item was presented at any meeting of stockholders held within one
hundred and eighty (180) days prior to the Delivery Date; (iv) the Special Meeting Request relates to an item of business that is
not a proper subject for stockholder action under applicable law; or (v) such Special Meeting Request was made in a manner that
involved a violation of Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act or other applicable law. For purposes of this Section 2, the
election of directors shall be deemed to be a Similar Item with respect to all items of business involving the election or removal
of directors.
For the purposes of this Section 2, a stockholder or beneficial owner is deemed to “Own” only those outstanding shares of
capital stock as to which the person possesses both (A) the full voting and investment rights pertaining to the shares and (B) the
full economic interest in (including the opportunity for profit and risk of loss on) such shares, except that the number of shares
calculated in accordance with clauses (A) and (B) shall not include any shares (1) sold by such person in any transaction that has
not been settled or closed, (2) borrowed by the person for any purposes or purchased by the person pursuant to an agreement to
resell, or (3) subject to any option, warrant, forward contract, swap, contract of sale, or other derivative or similar agreement
entered into by the person, whether the instrument or agreement is to be settled with shares or with cash based on the notional
amount or value of outstanding shares of capital stock, if the

2

instrument or agreement has, or is intended to have, or if exercised would have, the purpose or effect of (x) reducing in any
manner, to any extent or at any time in the future, the person’s full right to vote or direct the voting of the shares, and/or (y)
hedging, offsetting, or altering to any degree any gain or loss arising from the full economic ownership of the shares by the
person. The terms “Owned,” “Owning” and other variations of the word “Own,” when used with respect to a stockholder or
beneficial owner, have correlative meanings. For purposes of clauses (1) through (3), the term “person” includes its affiliates. A
stockholder or beneficial owner “Owns” shares held in the name of a nominee or other intermediary so long as the person retains
the right to instruct how the shares are voted with respect to the election of directors and the right to direct the disposition thereof
and possesses the full economic interest in the shares. The person’s Ownership of shares is deemed to continue during any period
in which the person has delegated any voting power by means of a proxy, power of attorney, or other instrument or arrangement
that is revocable at any time by the stockholder.
Section 3. Place of Meetings. All meetings of stockholders shall be held at the principal office of the corporation unless a
different place is fixed by the person or persons calling the meeting and stated in the notice of the meeting.
Section 4. Notices of Meetings and Adjourned Meetings. A written notice of each annual or special meeting of the
stockholders stating the place, date, and hour thereof, shall be given by the Secretary (or the person or persons calling the
meeting), not less than 10 nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting, to each stockholder entitled to such notice, and,
if mailed, shall be given by depositing it postage prepaid in the United States mail, directed to each stockholder at his or her
address as it appears on the records of the corporation. Notices of all special meetings of stockholders shall state the purpose or
purposes for which the meeting is called. An affidavit of the Secretary, Assistant Secretary, or transfer agent of the corporation
that the notice has been given shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein. No notice need be
given to any person with whom communication is unlawful or to any person who has waived such notice in the manner permitted
by Section 229 of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”). When a meeting is adjourned to another time and place,
notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the time and place thereof are announced at the meeting at which the
adjournment is taken except that, if the adjournment is for more than 30 days or if, after the adjournment, a new record date is
fixed for the adjourned meeting, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given as provided in this Section 4.
Section 5. Quorum. At any meeting of the stockholders, a quorum for the transaction of business shall consist of one or
more individuals appearing in person or represented by proxy and owning or representing a majority of the shares of the
corporation then outstanding and entitled to vote thereat, unless or except to the extent that the presence of a larger number may
be required by law (including as required from time to time by the DGCL or the Certificate of Incorporation of the corporation
(the “Certificate of Incorporation”)). Where a separate vote by a class or classes is required, a majority of the shares of such class
or classes then outstanding and entitled to vote present in person or by proxy shall constitute a quorum entitled to take action with
respect to that vote on that matter. If a quorum shall fail to attend any meeting, the chairman

3

of the meeting or the holders of a majority of the shares of stock entitled to vote thereat who are present, in person or by proxy,
may adjourn the meeting to another place, date, or time.
Section 6. Organization. Such person as the Board of Directors may have designated or, in the absence of such a person,
the President of the corporation or, in his or her absence, such person as may be chosen by the holders of a majority of the shares
entitled to vote thereat who are present, in person or by proxy, shall call to order any meeting of the stockholders and act as
chairman of the meeting. In the absence of the Secretary of the corporation, the secretary of the meeting shall be such person as
the chairman appoints.
Section 7. Conduct of Business. The chairman of any meeting of stockholders shall determine the order of business and
the procedure at the meeting, including such regulation of the manner of voting and the conduct of discussion as seems to him or
her in order.
Section 8. Voting. Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation and subject to the provisions of Section 6
of Article IV hereof, each stockholder shall have one vote for each share of stock entitled to vote held by him or her of record
according to the records of the corporation. Persons holding stock in a fiduciary capacity shall be entitled to vote the shares so
held. Persons whose stock is pledged shall be entitled to vote unless the pledgor in a transfer on the books of the corporation has
expressly empowered the pledgee to vote the pledged shares, in which case only the pledgee or his or her proxy shall be entitled
to vote. If shares stand of record in the names of two or more persons or if two or more persons have the same fiduciary
relationship respecting the shares then, unless the Secretary is given written notice to the contrary and is furnished with a copy of
the instrument or order appointing them or creating the relationship wherein it is so provided to the contrary: (a) if only one
votes, his or her act binds all; (b) if more than one votes, the act of the majority so voting binds all; and (c) if more than one votes
and the vote is evenly split, the effect shall be as provided by law.
Section 9. Proxies. Each stockholder entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders may authorize another person or any
group of persons to act for him or her by proxy, but no such proxy shall be voted or acted upon after three years from its date,
unless the proxy provides for a longer period.
Section 10. Action at Meeting.
(a) Voting – General. When a quorum is present at any meeting, action of the stockholders on any matter properly brought
before such meeting, other than the election of directors, shall require, and may be effected by, the affirmative vote of the holders
of a majority in interest of the stock present or represented by proxy and entitled to vote on the subject matter, except where a
different vote is expressly required by law, the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws, in which case such express provision
shall govern and control.
(b) Voting – Directors. Except as provided in Section 7 of Article II of these Bylaws, each director shall be elected by the
affirmative vote of the Majority of the Votes Cast (as defined herein) with respect to that director at any meeting for the election
of directors at which a
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quorum is present, provided that if as of a date that is five business days in advance of the date the corporation files its definitive
proxy statement (regardless of whether or not thereafter revised or supplemented) with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) the number of nominees exceeds the number of directors to be elected, the directors shall be elected by the vote of a
plurality of the votes cast at such meeting. If the Certificate of Incorporation so provides, no ballot shall be required for the
election of directors unless requested by a stockholder present or represented at the meeting and entitled to vote in the election.
For purposes of this paragraph (b), the term “Majority of the Votes Cast” means, with respect to a nominee for director, that the
number of shares voted “for” the election of that nominee must exceed the number of votes cast “against” that nominee.
Section 11. Stockholder Lists. The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of the corporation shall prepare and make
available, at least 10 days before every meeting of stockholders, a complete list of stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting,
arranged in alphabetical order, and showing the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of
each stockholder. Such list shall be open to the examination of any stockholder for any purpose germane to the meeting for a
period of at least 10 days prior to the meeting during ordinary business hours, at the principal place of business of the
corporation. Such list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and
may be inspected by any stockholder who is present. The stock ledger shall be the only evidence as to who are the stockholders
entitled to examine the stock ledger, the list required by this section or the books of the corporation, or to vote in person or by
proxy at any meeting of stockholders.
Section 12. Submission of Information by Director Nominees. (a) To be eligible to be a nominee for election or reelection as a director of the corporation, a person must deliver to the Secretary at the principal executive office of the corporation
the following information:
(i) a written representation and agreement, which shall be signed by such person and shall represent and agree
that such person: (A) consents to serving as a director if elected and (if applicable) to being named in the corporation’s proxy
statement and form of proxy as a nominee; (B) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or
understanding with, and has not given any commitment or assurance to, any person or entity: (1) as to how the person, if elected
as a director, will act or vote on any issue or question that has not been disclosed to the corporation, or (2) that could limit or
interfere with the person’s ability to comply, if elected as a director, with such person’s fiduciary duties under applicable law;
(C) is not and will not become a party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with any person or entity other than the
corporation with respect to any direct or indirect compensation, reimbursement or indemnification in connection with service or
action as a director that has not been disclosed to the corporation; and (D) if elected as a director, will comply with all of the
corporation’s corporate governance, conflict of interest, confidentiality, and stock ownership and trading policies and guidelines,
and any other corporation policies and guidelines applicable to directors (which will be provided to such person promptly
following a request therefor); and
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(ii) all completed and signed questionnaires required of the corporation’s directors (which will be provided to
such person promptly following a request therefor).
(b) A nominee for election or re-election as a director of the corporation shall also provide to the corporation such other
information as it may reasonably request. The corporation may request such additional information as necessary to permit the
corporation to determine the eligibility of such person to serve as a director of the corporation, including information relevant to a
determination whether such person can be considered an independent director.
(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of these Bylaws, if a stockholder has submitted notice of an intent to
nominate a candidate for election or re-election as a director pursuant to Section 13 of this Article I or Section 14 of this Article I,
the questionnaires described in Section 12(a)(ii) above and the additional information described in clause (b) of this Section 12
above shall be considered timely if provided to the corporation promptly upon request by the corporation, but in any event within
the time period for delivery of a stockholder’s notice pursuant to Section 13 of this Article I or Section 14 of this Article I,
respectively, and all information provided pursuant to this Section 12 shall be deemed part of the stockholder’s notice submitted
pursuant to Section 13 of this Article I or Section 14 of this Article I, respectively.
Section 13. Notice of Stockholder Business; Nominations.
(a) Annual Meeting.
(i) Nominations of persons for election to the Board of Directors and the proposal of business other than
nominations to be considered by the stockholders may be made at an annual meeting of stockholders only (A) pursuant to the
corporation’s notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto), (B) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors (C) by any
stockholder of the corporation who is a stockholder of record at the time the notice provided for in this Section 13(a) is delivered
to the Secretary of the corporation, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who complies with the notice procedures set forth in
this Section 13(a) or (D) by an Eligible Stockholder (as defined in clause (c) of Section 14 of this Article I) pursuant to the
requirements of Section 14 of this Article I. For the avoidance of doubt, the foregoing clauses (C) and (D) shall be the exclusive
means for a stockholder to make nominations or propose other business at an annual meeting of stockholders (other than a
proposal included in the corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to and in compliance with Rule 14a8 under the Exchange Act).
(ii) For nominations or other business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder pursuant
to clause (C) of the foregoing paragraph, the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in writing to the Secretary of the
corporation and, in the case of business other than nominations, such business must be a proper subject for stockholder action. To
be timely, a stockholder’s notice must be delivered to the Secretary at the principal executive office of the corporation not later
than the close of business (as defined in clause (c)(ii) of this Section 13) on the 90th day nor earlier than the close of business on
the 120th day prior to the
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first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting; provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting
is more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after such anniversary date, or if no annual meeting was held in the preceding
year, notice by the stockholder to be timely must be so delivered not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to
such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such annual meeting or the 10th
day following the date on which public announcement (as defined in clause (c)(ii) of this Section 13) of the date of such meeting
is first made by the corporation. In no event shall an adjournment or recess of an annual meeting, or a postponement of an annual
meeting for which notice of the meeting has already been given to stockholders or with respect to which there has been a public
announcement of the date of the meeting, commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a
stockholder’s notice as described above. Such stockholder’s notice shall set forth:
(A) as to each person whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or re-election as a director
(1) all information relating to such person that is required to be disclosed in solicitations of proxies for election of directors in an
election contest, or is otherwise required, in each case pursuant to and in accordance with Regulation 14A under the Exchange
Act, and (2) the information required to be submitted by nominees pursuant to clause (a)(i) of Section 12 of this Article I above;
(B) as to any other business that the stockholder proposes to bring before the meeting, a brief description
of the business desired to be brought before the meeting, the text of the proposal or business (including the text of any resolutions
proposed for consideration and in the event that such business includes a proposal to amend these Bylaws, the language of the
proposed amendment), the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting and any substantial interest (within the meaning
of Item 5 of Schedule 14A under the Exchange Act) in such business of such stockholder and the beneficial owner (within the
meaning of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act), if any, on whose behalf the proposal is made;
(C) as to the stockholder giving the notice and the beneficial owner, if any, on whose behalf the nomination
is made or the other business is proposed:
(1) the name and address of such stockholder, as they appear on the corporation’s books, and the
name and address of such beneficial owner,
(2) the class or series and number of shares of stock of the corporation which are owned of record
by such stockholder and such beneficial owner as of the date of the notice, and a representation that the stockholder will notify
the corporation in writing within five business days after the record date for such meeting of the class or series and number of
shares of stock of the corporation owned of record by the stockholder and such beneficial owner as of the record date for the
meeting, and
(3) a representation that the stockholder (or a qualified representative of the stockholder) intends to
appear at the meeting to make such nomination or propose such business;
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(D) as to the stockholder giving the notice or, if the notice is given on behalf of a beneficial owner on
whose behalf the nomination is made or the other business is proposed, as to such beneficial owner, and if such stockholder or
beneficial owner is an entity, as to each director, executive, managing member or control person of such entity (any such
individual or control person, a “Control Person”):
(1) the class or series and number of shares of stock of the corporation which are beneficially
owned (as defined in clause (c)(ii) of this Section 13) by such stockholder or beneficial owner and by any Control Person as of
the date of the notice, and a representation that the stockholder will notify the corporation in writing within five business days
after the record date for such meeting of the class or series and number of shares of stock of the corporation beneficially owned
by such stockholder or beneficial owner and by any Control Person as of the record date for the meeting,
(2) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding with respect to the nomination or
other business between or among such stockholder, beneficial owner or Control Person and any other person, including without
limitation any agreements that would be required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 5 or Item 6 of Exchange Act Schedule 13D
(regardless of whether the requirement to file a Schedule 13D is applicable) and a representation that the stockholder will notify
the corporation in writing within five business days after the record date for such meeting of any such agreement, arrangement or
understanding in effect as of the record date for the meeting,
(3) a description of any agreement, arrangement or understanding (including without limitation any
derivative or short positions, profit interests, options, hedging transactions, and borrowed or loaned shares) that has been entered
into as of the date of the stockholder’s notice by, or on behalf of, such stockholder, beneficial owner or Control Person, the effect
or intent of which is to mitigate loss, manage risk or benefit from changes in the share price of any class or series of the
corporation’s stock, or maintain, increase or decrease the voting power of the stockholder, beneficial owner or Control Person
with respect to securities of the corporation, and a representation that the stockholder will notify the corporation in writing within
five business days after the record date for such meeting of any such agreement, arrangement or understanding in effect as of the
record date for the meeting,
(4) a representation whether the stockholder or the beneficial owner, if any, will engage in a
solicitation, within the meaning of Exchange Act Rule 14a-1(l), with respect to the nomination or other business and, if so, the
name of each participant (as defined in Item 4 of Schedule 14A under the Exchange Act) in such solicitation and whether such
person intends or is part of a group which intends to deliver a proxy statement and/or form of proxy to holders of at least fifty
percent (50%) of the corporation’s stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors in the case of a nomination and to
holders of at least the percentage of the corporation’s stock required to approve or adopt the business to be proposed, in the case
of a proposal.
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(iii) Notwithstanding anything in clause (ii) of this Section 13(a) or clause (b) of this Section 13 to the contrary, if
the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders is different from the record date
for determining the stockholders entitled to notice of the meeting, a stockholder’s notice required by this Section 13 shall set forth
a representation that the stockholder will notify the corporation in writing within five business days after the record date for
determining the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, or by the opening of business on the date of the meeting (whichever
is earlier), of the information required under clauses (ii)(C)(2) and (ii)(D)(1)(3) of this Section 13(a), and such information when
provided to the corporation shall be current as of the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting.
(iv) This Section 13(a) shall not apply to a proposal proposed to be made by a stockholder if the stockholder has
notified the corporation of his or her intention to present the proposal at an annual or special meeting only pursuant to and in
compliance with Rule 14a8 under the Exchange Act and such proposal has been included in a proxy statement that has been
prepared by the corporation to solicit proxies for such meeting.
(v) Notwithstanding anything in this Section 13(a) to the contrary, in the event that the number of directors to be
elected to the Board of Directors at an annual meeting is increased and there is no public announcement by the corporation
naming all of the nominees for directors or specifying the size of the increased Board of Directors made by the corporation at
least 10 days prior to the last day a stockholder may deliver a notice in accordance with clause (ii) of this Section 13(a), a
stockholder’s notice required by this Section 13(a) shall also be considered timely, but only with respect to nominees for any new
positions created by such increase, if it shall be delivered to the Secretary of the corporation at the principal executive office of
the corporation not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the day on which such public announcement is first
made by the corporation.
(b) Special Meeting. Only such business shall be conducted at a special meeting of stockholders as shall have been
brought before the meeting pursuant to the corporation’s notice of meeting. Nominations of persons for election to the Board of
Directors may be made at a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected pursuant to the corporation’s
notice of meeting (i) by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, (ii) provided that one or more directors are to be elected at
such meeting, by any stockholder of the corporation who is a stockholder of record at the time the notice provided for in this
Section 13(b) is delivered to the Secretary of the corporation, who is entitled to vote at the meeting and upon such election and
who delivers a written notice setting forth the information required by clause (a) of this Section 13 and provides the additional
information required by clause (a) of Section 12 of this Article I above, or (iii) in the case of a stockholder-requested special
meeting, by any stockholder of the corporation pursuant to clause (a)(iv) of Section 2 of this Article I. In the event the
corporation calls a special meeting of stockholders for the purpose of electing one or more directors to the Board of Directors,
any stockholder entitled to vote in such election of directors may nominate a person or persons (as the case may be) for election
to such position(s) as specified in the corporation’s notice of meeting, if the notice required by this Section 13(b) shall be
delivered to the Secretary at the principal executive office of the corporation not earlier than
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the close of business on the 120th day prior to such special meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the
90th day prior to such special meeting or the 10th day following the date on which public announcement of the date of the special
meeting and of the nominees proposed by the Board of Directors to be elected at such meeting is first made by the corporation. In
no event shall an adjournment, recess or postponement of a special meeting commence a new time period (or extend any time
period) for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described above.
(c) General.
(i) Except as otherwise required by law, only such persons who are nominated in accordance with the procedures
set forth in this Section 13 shall be eligible to be elected or re-elected at any meeting of stockholders of the corporation to serve
as directors and only such other business shall be conducted at a meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the
meeting in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 13. Except as otherwise required by law, each of the Chairman
of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors or the chairman of the meeting shall have the power to determine whether a
nomination or any other business proposed to be brought before the meeting was made or proposed, as the case may be, in
accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 13. If any proposed nomination or other business is not in compliance
with this Section 13, then except as otherwise required by law, the chairman of the meeting shall have the power to declare that
such nomination shall be disregarded or that such other business shall not be transacted. Notwithstanding the foregoing
provisions of this Section 13, unless otherwise required by law, or otherwise determined by the Chairman of the Board of
Directors, the Board of Directors or the chairman of the meeting, if the stockholder does not provide the information required
under Section 12 of this Article I above or clauses (a)(ii)(C)(2) and (a)(ii)(D)(1)(3) of this Section 13 to the corporation within
the time frames specified herein, or if the stockholder (or a qualified representative of the stockholder) does not appear at the
annual or special meeting of stockholders of the corporation to present a nomination or other business, such nomination shall be
disregarded and such other business shall not be transacted, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been
received by the corporation. For purposes of these Bylaws, to be considered a qualified representative of a stockholder, a person
must be a duly authorized officer, manager or partner of such stockholder or authorized by a writing executed by such
stockholder (or a reliable reproduction or electronic transmission of the writing) delivered to the corporation prior to the making
of such nomination or proposal at such meeting stating that such person is authorized to act for such stockholder as proxy at the
meeting of stockholders.
(ii) For purposes of this Section 13, the “close of business” shall mean 6:00 p.m. local time at the principal
executive office of the corporation on any calendar day, whether or not the day is a business day, and a “public announcement”
shall mean disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or a comparable national
news service or in a document publicly filed by the corporation with the SEC pursuant to Sections 13, 14 or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act. For purposes of clause (a)(ii)(D)(1) of this Section 13, shares shall be treated as “beneficially owned” by a person
if the person beneficially owns such shares, directly or indirectly, for purposes of Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act and
Regulations 13D
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and 13G thereunder or has or shares pursuant to any agreement, arrangement or understanding (whether or not in writing):
(A) the right to acquire such shares (whether such right is exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time or the
fulfillment of a condition or both), (B) the right to vote such shares, alone or in concert with others and/or (C) investment power
with respect to such shares, including the power to dispose of, or to direct the disposition of, such shares.
Section 14. Proxy Access for Director Nominations.
(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of these Bylaws, in connection with an annual meeting of stockholders at which
directors are to be elected, the corporation (i) shall include in its proxy statement and on its form of proxy the names of, and (ii)
shall include in its proxy statement the “Additional Information” (as defined below) relating to, a number of nominees specified
pursuant to clause (b) of this Section 14 below(the “Authorized Number”) for election to the Board of Directors submitted
pursuant to this Section 14 (each, a “Stockholder Nominee”), if:
(i) the Stockholder Nominee satisfies the eligibility requirements in this Section 14;
(ii) the Stockholder Nominee is identified in a timely notice (the “Stockholder Notice”) that satisfies this Section
14 and is delivered by a stockholder that qualifies as, or is acting on behalf of, an Eligible Stockholder (as defined below);
(iii) the Eligible Stockholder satisfies the requirements in this Section 14 and expressly elects at the time of the
delivery of the Stockholder Notice to have the Stockholder Nominee included in the corporation’s proxy materials; and
(iv) the additional requirements of these Bylaws are met.
(b) The maximum number of Stockholder Nominees appearing in the corporation’s proxy materials with respect to an
annual meeting of stockholders (the “Authorized Number”) shall not exceed the greater of (i) two or (ii) twenty percent (20%) of
the number of directors in office as of the last day on which a Stockholder Notice may be delivered pursuant to this Section 14
with respect to the annual meeting, or if such amount is not a whole number, the closest whole number (rounding down) below
twenty percent (20%); provided that the Authorized Number shall be reduced (i) by any Stockholder Nominee whose name was
submitted for inclusion in the corporation’s proxy materials pursuant to this Section 14 but whom the Board of Directors decides
to nominate as a Board of Directors nominee, and (ii) by any nominees who were previously elected to the Board of Directors as
Stockholder Nominees at any of the preceding two annual meetings and who are nominated for election at the annual meeting by
the Board of Directors as a Board of Directors nominee. In the event that one or more vacancies for any reason occurs after the
date of the Stockholder Notice but before the annual meeting and the Board of Directors resolves to reduce the size of the Board
of Directors in connection therewith,
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the Authorized Number shall be calculated based on the number of directors in office as so reduced.
(c) To qualify as an “Eligible Stockholder,” a stockholder or a group as described in this Section 14(c) must:
(i) Own and have Owned (as defined below), continuously for at least three years as of the date of the Stockholder
Notice, a number of shares (as adjusted to account for any stock dividend, stock split, subdivision, combination, reclassification
or recapitalization of the shares of capital stock issued, outstanding and entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (for
purposes of this Section 14, “Voting Capital Stock”)) that represents at least three percent (3%) of the outstanding shares of
Voting Capital Stock as of the date of the Stockholder Notice (the “Required Shares”); and
(ii) thereafter continue to Own the Required Shares through such annual meeting of stockholders.
For purposes of satisfying the ownership requirements of this Section 14(c), a group of not more than twenty (20) stockholders
and/or beneficial owners may aggregate the number of shares of Voting Capital Stock that each group member has individually
Owned continuously for at least three years as of the date of the Stockholder Notice if all other requirements and obligations for
an Eligible Stockholder set forth in this Section 14 are satisfied by and as to each stockholder or beneficial owner comprising the
group whose shares are aggregated. No shares may be attributed to more than one Eligible Stockholder, and no stockholder or
beneficial owner, alone or together with any of its affiliates, may individually or as a member of a group qualify as or constitute
more than one Eligible Stockholder under this Section 14. A group of any two or more funds shall be treated as only one
stockholder or beneficial owner for this purpose if they are (A) under common management and investment control or (B) under
common management and funded primarily by a single employer. For the purposes of this Section 14, the term “affiliate” or
“affiliates” shall have the meanings ascribed thereto under the rules and regulations promulgated under the Exchange Act.
(d) For purposes of this Section 14:
(i) The terms “Own,” “Owned,” “Owning” and other variations of the word “Own” when used with respect to a
stockholder or beneficial owner shall have the same meanings as defined in Section 2 of this Article I.
(ii) A stockholder or beneficial owner’s Ownership of shares shall be deemed to continue during any period in
which the person has loaned the shares if the person has the power to recall the loaned shares on not more than five business
days’ notice.
(e) For purposes of this Section 14, the “Additional Information” referred to in clause (a) of this Section 14 that the
corporation will include in its proxy statement is:
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(i) the information set forth in the Schedule 14N provided with the Stockholder Notice concerning each
Stockholder Nominee and the Eligible Stockholder that is required to be disclosed in the corporation’s proxy statement by the
applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder; and
(ii) if the Eligible Stockholder so elects, a written statement of the Eligible Stockholder (or, in the case of a group,
a written statement of the group), not to exceed 500 words, in support of its Stockholder Nominee(s), which must be provided at
the same time as the Stockholder Notice for inclusion in the corporation’s proxy statement for the annual meeting (the
“Statement”).
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 14, the corporation may omit from its proxy materials any
information or Statement that it, in good faith, believes is untrue in any material respect (or omits a material fact necessary in
order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading) or would violate
any applicable law, rule, regulation or listing standard. Nothing in this Section 14 shall limit the corporation’s ability to solicit
against and include in its proxy materials its own statements relating to any Eligible Stockholder or Stockholder Nominee.
(f) The Stockholder Notice shall set forth all information, representations and agreements required under clause (a)(ii) of
Section 13 of this Article I above, including the information required with respect to (i) any nominee for election as a director, (ii)
any stockholder giving notice of an intent to nominate a candidate for election, and (iii) any stockholder, beneficial owner or
other person on whose behalf the nomination is made under this Section 14. In addition, such Stockholder Notice shall include:
(i) a copy of the Schedule 14N that has been or concurrently is filed with the SEC under the Exchange Act;
(ii) a written statement of the Eligible Stockholder (and in the case of a group, the written statement of each
stockholder or beneficial owner whose shares are aggregated for purposes of constituting an Eligible Stockholder), which
statement(s) shall also be included in the Schedule 14N filed with the SEC: (A) setting forth and certifying to the number of
shares of Voting Capital Stock the Eligible Stockholder Owns and has Owned (as defined in clause (d) of this Section 14)
continuously for at least three years as of the date of the Stockholder Notice, and (B) agreeing to continue to Own such shares
through the annual meeting;
(iii) the written agreement of the Eligible Stockholder (and in the case of a group, the written agreement of each
stockholder or beneficial owner whose shares are aggregated for purposes of constituting an Eligible Stockholder) addressed to
the corporation, setting forth the following additional agreements, representations, and warranties:
(A) it shall provide (1) within five business days after the date of the Stockholder Notice, one or more
written statements from the record holder(s) of the Required Shares and from each intermediary through which the Required
Shares are or have been held, in
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each case during the requisite three-year holding period, specifying the number of shares that the Eligible Stockholder Owns, and
has Owned continuously in compliance with this Section 14, (2) within five business days after the record date for the annual
meeting both the information required under clause (a)(ii)(D)(1) of Section 13 of this Article I and notification in writing
verifying the Eligible Stockholder’s continuous Ownership of the Required Shares, in each case, as of such date, and (3)
immediate notice to the corporation if the Eligible Stockholder ceases to own any of the Required Shares prior to the annual
meeting;
(B) it (1) acquired the Required Shares in the ordinary course of business and not with the intent to change
or influence control at the corporation, and does not presently have this intent, (2) has not nominated and shall not nominate for
election to the Board of Directors at the annual meeting any person other than the Stockholder Nominee(s) being nominated
pursuant to this Section 14, (3) has not engaged and shall not engage in, and has not been and shall not be a participant (as
defined in Item 4 of Exchange Act Schedule 14A) in, a solicitation within the meaning of Exchange Act Rule 14a-1(l), in support
of the election of any individual as a director at the annual meeting other than its Stockholder Nominee or a nominee of the Board
of Directors, and (4) shall not distribute to any stockholder any form of proxy for the annual meeting other than the form
distributed by the corporation; and
(C) it will (1) assume all liability stemming from any legal or regulatory violation arising out of the Eligible
Stockholder’s communications with the stockholders of the corporation or out of the information that the Eligible Stockholder
provided to the corporation, (2) indemnify and hold harmless the corporation and each of its directors, officers and employees
individually against any liability, loss or damages in connection with any threatened or pending action, suit or proceeding,
whether legal, administrative or investigative, against the corporation or any of its directors, officers or employees arising out of
the nomination or solicitation process pursuant to this Section 14, (3) comply with all laws, rules, regulations and listing
standards applicable to its nomination or any solicitation in connection with the annual meeting, (4) file with the SEC any
solicitation or other communication by or on behalf of the Eligible Stockholder relating to the corporation’s annual meeting of
stockholders, one or more of the corporation’s directors or director nominees or any Stockholder Nominee, regardless of whether
the filing is required under Exchange Act Regulation 14A, or whether any exemption from filing is available for such materials
under Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act, and (5) at the request of the corporation, promptly, but in any event within five
business days after such request, (or by the day prior to the day of the annual meeting, if earlier) provide to the corporation such
additional information as reasonably requested by the corporation; and
(iv) in the case of a nomination by a group, the designation by all group members of one group member that is
authorized to act on behalf of all members of the group with respect to the nomination and matters related thereto, including
withdrawal of the nomination and the written agreement, representation, and warranty of the Eligible Stockholder that it shall
provide within five business days after the date of the Stockholder Notice, documentation reasonably satisfactory to the
corporation demonstrating that the number of stockholders and/or beneficial owners within such group does not exceed twenty
(20), including whether a group of funds
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qualifies as one stockholder or beneficial owner within the meaning of clause (c) of this Section 14.
All information provided pursuant to this Section 14(f) shall be deemed part of the Stockholder Notice for purposes of this
Section 14.
(g) To be timely under this Section 14, the Stockholder Notice must be delivered by a stockholder to the Secretary of the
corporation at the principal executive office of the corporation not later than the close of business (as defined in clause (c)(ii) of
Section 13 of this Article I) on the 120th day nor earlier than the close of business on the 150th day prior to the first anniversary
of the date or approximate date (as stated in the corporation’s proxy materials) the definitive proxy statement was first released to
stockholders in connection with the preceding year’s annual meeting of stockholders; provided, however, that in the event the
annual meeting is more than 30 days before or after the anniversary of the previous year’s annual meeting, or if no annual
meeting was held in the preceding year, to be timely, the Stockholder Notice must be so delivered not earlier than the close of
business on the 150th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 120th day prior
to such annual meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement (as defined in clause (c)(ii) of Section
13 of this Article I) of the date of such meeting is first made by the corporation. In no event shall an adjournment or recess of an
annual meeting, or a postponement of an annual meeting for which notice has been given or with respect to which there has been
a public announcement of the date of the meeting, commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of the
Stockholder Notice as described above.
(h) Within the time period for delivery of the Stockholder Notice, for each Stockholder Nominee, all written and signed
representations and agreements and all completed and signed questionnaires required pursuant to clause (a) of Section 12 of this
Article I, including consent to being named in the corporation’s proxy statement and form of proxy as a nominee, shall be
delivered to the Secretary of the corporation at the principal executive office of the corporation. The Stockholder Nominee must
promptly, but in any event within five business days after such request, provide to the corporation such other information as it
may reasonably request. The corporation may request such additional information as necessary to permit the Board of Directors
to determine if each Stockholder Nominee satisfies the requirements of this Section 14.
(i) In the event that any information or communications provided by the Eligible Stockholder or any Stockholder
Nominees to the corporation or its stockholders is not, when provided, or thereafter ceases to be, true, correct and complete in all
material respects (including omitting a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading), such Eligible Stockholder or Stockholder Nominee, as the case may be, shall promptly
notify the Secretary and provide the information that is required to make such information or communication true, correct,
complete and not misleading; it being understood that providing any such notification shall not be deemed to cure any defect or
limit the corporation’s right to omit a Stockholder Nominee from its proxy materials as provided in this Section 14.
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(j) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 14, the corporation may omit from its proxy
materials any Stockholder Nominee, and such nomination shall be disregarded and no vote on such Stockholder Nominee shall
occur, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of such vote may have been received by the corporation, if:
(i) the Eligible Stockholder or Stockholder Nominee breaches any of its agreements, representations, or warranties
set forth in the Stockholder Notice (or otherwise submitted pursuant to this Section 14), any of the information in the Stockholder
Notice (or otherwise submitted pursuant to this Section 14) was not, when provided, true, correct and complete, or the Eligible
Stockholder or applicable Stockholder Nominee otherwise fails to comply with its obligations pursuant to these Bylaws,
including, but not limited to, its obligations under this Section 14;
(ii) the Stockholder Nominee (A) is not independent under any applicable listing standards, any applicable rules of
the SEC, and any publicly disclosed standards used by the Board of Directors in determining and disclosing the independence of
the corporation’s directors, (B) is or has been, within the past three years, an officer or director of a competitor, as defined in
Section 8 of the Clayton Antitrust Act of 1914, as amended, (C) is a named subject of a pending criminal proceeding (excluding
traffic violations and other minor offenses) or has been convicted in a criminal proceeding (excluding traffic violations and other
minor offenses) within the past 10 years or (D) is subject to any order of the type specified in Rule 506(d) of Regulation D
promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended;
(iii) the corporation has received a notice (whether or not subsequently withdrawn) that a stockholder intends to
nominate any candidate for election to the Board of Directors pursuant to the advance notice requirements for stockholder
nominees for director in clause (a)(i)(C) of Section 13 of this Article I; or
(iv) the election of the Stockholder Nominee to the Board of Directors would cause the corporation to violate the
Certificate of Incorporation of the corporation, these Bylaws, any applicable law, rule, regulation or listing standard.
(k) An Eligible Stockholder submitting more than one Stockholder Nominee for inclusion in the corporation’s proxy
materials pursuant to this Section 14 shall rank such Stockholder Nominees based on the order that the Eligible Stockholder
desires such Stockholder Nominees to be selected for inclusion in the corporation’s proxy materials and include such assigned
rank in its Stockholder Notice submitted to the corporation. In the event that the number of Stockholder Nominees submitted by
Eligible Stockholders pursuant to this Section 14 exceeds the Authorized Number, the Stockholder Nominees to be included in
the corporation’s proxy materials shall be determined in accordance with the following provisions: one Stockholder Nominee
who satisfies the eligibility requirements in this Section 14 shall be selected from each Eligible Stockholder for inclusion in the
corporation’s proxy materials until the Authorized Number is reached, going in order of the amount (largest to smallest) of shares
of the corporation each Eligible Stockholder disclosed as Owned in its Stockholder Notice submitted to the corporation and going
in the order of rank (highest to lowest) assigned to each Stockholder Nominee by such Eligible Stockholder.
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If the Authorized Number is not reached after one Stockholder Nominee who satisfies the eligibility requirements in this Section
14 has been selected from each Eligible Stockholder, this selection process shall continue as many times as necessary, following
the same order each time, until the Authorized Number is reached. Following such determination, if any Stockholder Nominee
who satisfies the eligibility requirements in this Section 14 thereafter is nominated by the Board of Directors, thereafter is not
included in the corporation’s proxy materials or thereafter is not submitted for director election for any reason (including the
Eligible Stockholder’s or Stockholder Nominee’s failure to comply with this Section 14), no other nominee or nominees shall be
included in the corporation’s proxy materials or otherwise submitted for election as a director at the applicable annual meeting in
substitution for such Stockholder Nominee.
(l) Any Stockholder Nominee who is included in the corporation’s proxy materials for a particular annual meeting of
stockholders but withdraws from or becomes ineligible or unavailable for election at the annual meeting for any reason, including
for the failure to comply with any provision of these Bylaws (provided that in no event shall any such withdrawal, ineligibility or
unavailability commence a new time period (or extend any time period) for the giving of a Stockholder Notice), shall be
ineligible to be a Stockholder Nominee pursuant to this Section 14 for the next two annual meetings.
(m) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 14, unless otherwise required by law or otherwise
determined by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors or the chairman of the meeting, if the stockholder
delivering the Stockholder Notice (or a qualified representative of the stockholder, as defined in clause (c)(i) of Section 13 of this
Article I) does not appear at the annual meeting of stockholders of the corporation to present its Stockholder Nominee or
Stockholder Nominees, such nomination or nominations shall be disregarded, notwithstanding that proxies in respect of the
election of the Stockholder Nominee or Stockholder Nominees may have been received by the corporation. Without limiting the
Board of Directors’ power and authority to interpret any other provisions of these Bylaws, the Board of Directors (and any other
person or body authorized by the Board of Directors) shall have the power and authority to interpret this Section 14 and to make
any and all determinations necessary or advisable to apply this Section 14 to any persons, facts or circumstances, in each case,
acting in good faith. This Section 14 shall be the exclusive method for stockholders to include nominees for director election in
the corporation’s proxy materials.
ARTICLE II
Directors
Section 1. Powers. The business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of
Directors, which may exercise all such powers of the corporation and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by law or these
Bylaws directed or required to be exercised or done by the stockholders.
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Section 2. Number of Directors. The Board of Directors shall consist of one or more members. The number of directors
shall be no less than six (6) and no more than nine (9), the number thereof to be fixed from time to time by resolution of the
Board of Directors.
Section 3. Election and Tenure. Each director shall be elected by the vote specified in clause (b) of Section 10 of Article I
or as provided in Section 7 of this Article II. Each director shall serve until his or her successor is elected and qualified, or until
his or her earlier resignation or removal.
Section 4. Qualification. No director need be a stockholder.
Section 5. Removal. Any director or the entire Board of Directors may be removed with or without cause, by the holders
of a majority of the shares then entitled to vote at an election of the directors except as otherwise provided by law.
Section 6. Resignation. Any director of the corporation may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board of
Directors, to the Chairman of the Board of Directors, if any, to the President, or to the Secretary, and any member of a committee
may resign therefrom at any time by giving notice as aforesaid or to the chairman or secretary of such committee. Any such
resignation shall take effect at the time (or upon the happening of an event) specified therein, or, if the time (or event) be not
specified, upon receipt thereof; and unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary
to make it effective.
Section 7. Vacancies and Newly Created Directorships. Vacancies and newly created directorships resulting from any
increase in the authorized number of directors may be filled (a) by the stockholders at any meeting, (b) by a majority of the
directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or (c) by a sole remaining director. Whenever the holders of any class or
classes of stock or series thereof are entitled to elect one or more Directors by the Certificate of Incorporation, vacancies and
newly created directorships of such class or classes or series may be filled by a majority of the Directors elected by such class,
classes or series then in office or by the sole remaining director so elected. When one or more directors shall resign from the
Board of Directors, effective at a future date, a majority of directors who are entitled to act on the filling of such vacancy or
vacancies and who are then in office, including those who have so resigned, shall have power to fill such vacancy or vacancies by
vote to take effect when such resignation or resignations shall become effective.
Section 8. Annual Meeting. The first meeting of each newly elected Board of Directors may be held without notice
immediately after an annual meeting of stockholders (or a special meeting of stockholders held in lieu of an annual meeting) at
the same place as that at which such meeting of stockholders was held; or such first meeting may be held at such place and time
as shall be fixed by the consent in writing of all the directors, or may be called in the manner hereinafter provided with respect to
the call of special meetings.
Section 9. Regular Meetings. Regular meetings of the directors may be held at such times and places as shall from time to
time be fixed by resolution of the Board of Directors, and no
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notice need be given of regular meetings held at times and places so fixed, provided, however, that any resolution relating to the
holding of regular meetings shall remain in force only until the next annual meeting of stockholders and that, if at any meeting of
Directors at which a resolution is adopted fixing the times or place or places for any regular meetings any Director is absent, no
meeting shall be held pursuant to such resolution without notice to or waiver by such absent Director pursuant to Section 11 of
this Article II.
Section 10. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the directors may be called by the Chairman of the Board of Directors,
if any, the President, or by at least one- third of the directors then in office (rounded up to the nearest whole number), and shall be
held at the place and on the date and hour designated in the call thereof.
Section 11. Notices. Notices of any special meeting of the directors shall be given to each director by the Secretary or an
Assistant Secretary (a) by mailing to him or her, postage prepaid, and addressed to him or her at his or her address as registered
on the books of the corporation, or if not so registered at his or her last known home or business address, a written notice of such
meeting at least 4 days before the meeting, (b) by delivering such notice by hand or by telegram, telecopy, telex, facsimile or
electronic transmission (including without limitation e-mail) to him or her at least 48 hours before the meeting, or (c) by giving
such notice in person or by telephone at least 48 hours in advance of the meeting. Any notice given personally or by telephone,
telegram, telecopy, telex, facsimile or electronic transmission (including without limitation e-mail) may be communicated either
to the director or to a person at the office of the director who the person giving the notice has reason to believe will promptly
communicate it to the director. In the absence of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary, such notice may be given by the officer
or one of the directors calling the meeting. Notice need not be given to any director who has waived notice in accordance with
Section 229 of the DGCL. A notice or waiver of notice of a meeting of the directors need not specify the business to be
transacted at or the purpose of the meeting.
Section 12. Quorum. At any meeting of the directors, a majority of the authorized number of directors shall constitute a
quorum for the transaction of business. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting of the Board of Directors, a majority of
those present (or, if not more than two directors are present, any director present) may adjourn the meeting from time to time to
another place, date or time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting prior to adjournment, until a quorum shall be
present.
Section 13. Participation in Meetings by Conference Telephone. One or more members of the Board of Directors, or any
committee thereof, may participate in a meeting of such Board of Directors or committee by means of conference telephone or
other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and
participation in a meeting pursuant to this Section 13 shall constitute presence in person at such meeting.
Section 14. Conduct of Business; Action by Written Consent. At any meeting of the Board of Directors at which a
quorum is present, business shall be transacted in such order and manner as the Board of Directors may from time to time
determine, and all matters shall be
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determined by the vote of a majority of the directors present, except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws or required by law.
Without limiting the manner by which a consent of directors may be given under Section 141(f) of the DGCL, action may be
taken by the Board of Directors, or any committee thereof, without a meeting if all members of the Board of Directors or
committee, as the case may be, consent thereto in writing, and the writing or writings are filed with the records of proceedings of
the Board of Directors or committee.
Section 15. Place of Meetings. The Board of Directors may hold its meetings, and have an office or offices, within or
without the State of Delaware.
Section 16. Compensation. The Board of Directors shall have the authority to fix stated salaries for directors for their
service in such capacity and to provide for payment of a fixed sum and expenses of attendance, if any, for attendance at each
regular or special meeting of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall also have the authority to provide for payment
of a fixed sum and expenses of attendance, if any, payable to members of committees for attending committee meetings. Nothing
herein contained shall preclude any director from serving the corporation in any other capacity and receiving compensation for
such services.
Section 17. Committees. (a) The Board of Directors, by resolution passed by a majority of the number of directors
required at the time to constitute a full Board of Directors as fixed in or determined pursuant to these Bylaws as then in effect,
may from time to time designate one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the
corporation. The Board of Directors may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may
replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. In the absence or disqualification of a member of a
committee, the member or members thereof present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not he or she or
they constitute a quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the Board of Directors to act at the meeting in the place
of any such absent or disqualified member. Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board of
Directors, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the business
and affairs of the corporation, and may authorize the seal of the corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it; but
no such committee shall have such power or authority in reference to amending the Certificate of Incorporation (except that a
committee may, to the extent authorized in the resolution or resolutions providing for the issuance of shares of stock adopted by
the Board of Directors as provided in Subsection (a) of Section 151 of the DGCL, fix the designations and any preferences or
rights of such shares relating to dividends, redemption, dissolution, any distribution of assets of the corporation or conversion
into, or the exchange of such shares for, shares of any other class or classes or any other series of the same or any other class or
classes of stock of the corporation or fix the number of shares in a series of stock or authorize the increase or decrease in the
shares of any series), adopting an agreement of merger or consolidation under Sections 251, 252, 254, 255, 256, 257, 258, 263, or
264 of the DGCL, recommending to the stockholders the sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the corporation’s
property or assets, recommending to the stockholders a dissolution of the corporation or a revocation of a dissolution, or
amending the Bylaws of the corporation. Such a committee may, to the extent expressly provided in the resolution of the Board
of Directors, have
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the power or authority to declare a dividend or to authorize the issuance of stock or to adopt a certificate of ownership and merger
pursuant to Section 253 of the DGCL.
(b) At any meeting of any committee or subcommittee of a committee, a majority of the directors then serving on such
committee of the Board of Directors or subcommittee of a committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business by
the committee or subcommittee, unless the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws, a resolution of the Board of Directors or a
resolution of a committee that created the subcommittee requires a greater or lesser number, provided that in no case shall a
quorum be less than 1/3 of the directors then serving on the committee or subcommittee. The vote of the majority of the members
of a committee or subcommittee present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee or
subcommittee, unless the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws, a resolution of the Board of Directors or a resolution of a
committee that created the subcommittee requires a greater number.
(c) Each committee, except as otherwise provided by resolution of the Board of Directors, shall fix the time and place of
its meetings within or without the State of Delaware, shall adopt its own rules and procedures, and shall keep a record of its acts
and proceedings and report the same from time to time to the Board of Directors.
(d) Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, these Bylaws or the resolution of the Board of Directors
designating the committee, a committee may create one or more subcommittees, each subcommittee to consist of one or more
members of the committee, and delegate to a subcommittee any or all of the powers and authority of the committee.
ARTICLE III
Officers
Section 1. Officers and Their Election. The officers of the corporation shall be a Chief Executive Officer, a President, a
Secretary, a Chief Financial Officer and such Vice Presidents, Assistant Secretaries, Assistant Chief Financial Officers and other
officers as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine and elect or appoint. The Board of Directors may appoint one
of its members to the office of Chairman of the Board of Directors and another of its members to the office of Vice-Chairman of
the Board of Directors and from time to time define the powers and duties of these and other officers, employees or agents of the
corporation notwithstanding any other provisions of these Bylaws. All officers shall be elected by the Board of Directors and
shall serve at the will of the Board of Directors. Any officer may, but need not, be a director. Two or more offices may be held by
the same person. All officers shall perform such duties and have such powers as the Board of Directors shall designate by
resolution, or in the absence of such resolution, as set forth in these Bylaws. The Board of Directors may from time to time
delegate the powers or duties of any officer to any other officers or agents, notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this
Article III.
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Section 2. Term of Office. The Chief Executive Officer, the President, the Chief Financial Officer and the Secretary shall
hold office until his or her successor is elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation or removal.
Section 3. Vacancies. Any vacancy at any time existing in any office may be filled by the Board of Directors.
Section 4. Chairman of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may, in its discretion, elect a Chairman of the
Board of Directors from among its members. He or she may be the Chief Executive Officer of the corporation if so designated by
the Board of Directors, and he or she shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors at which he or she is present and shall
exercise and perform such other powers and duties as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the Board of Directors
or prescribed by the Bylaws.
Section 5. Chief Executive Officer. The Board of Directors may elect a Chief Executive Officer of the corporation who
may also be the Chairman of the Board of Directors or President of the corporation or both. It shall be his or her duty and he or
she shall have the power to see that all orders and resolutions of the Board of Directors are carried into effect. He or she shall
from time to time report to the Board of Directors all matters within his or her knowledge which the interests of the corporation
may require to be brought to its notice.
Section 6. President. If there is no Chief Executive Officer, the President shall be the chief executive officer of the
corporation except as the Board of Directors may otherwise provide. The President shall perform such duties and have such
powers additional to the foregoing as the Board of Directors shall designate.
Section 7. Vice Presidents. In the absence or disability of the President, his or her powers and duties shall be performed by
the vice president, if only one, or, if more than one, by the one designated for the purpose by the Board of Directors. Each vice
president shall perform such duties and have such powers additional to the foregoing as the Board of Directors shall designate.
Section 8. Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer shall be the treasurer of the corporation and shall keep full
and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the corporation and shall deposit all monies and other
valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the corporation in such depositories as shall be designated by the Board of
Directors or in the absence of such designation in such depositories as he or she shall from time to time deem proper. The Chief
Financial Officer (or any Assistant Chief Financial Officer) shall sign all stock certificates as treasurer of the corporation. He or
she shall disburse the funds of the corporation as shall be ordered by the Board of Directors, taking proper vouchers for such
disbursements. He or she shall promptly render to the Chief Executive Officer and to the Board of Directors such statements of
his or her transactions and accounts as the Chief Executive Officer and Board of Directors respectively may from time to time
require. The Chief Financial Officer shall perform such duties and have such powers additional to the foregoing as the Board of
Directors may designate.
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Section 9. Assistant Chief Financial Officers. In the absence or disability of the Chief Financial Officer, his or her powers
and duties shall be performed by the Assistant Chief Financial Officer, if only one, or if more than one, by the one designated for
the purpose by the Board of Directors. Each Assistant Chief Financial Officer shall perform such duties and have such powers
additional to the foregoing as the Board of Directors shall designate.
Section 10. Secretary. The Secretary shall issue notices of all meetings of stockholders, of the Board of Directors and of
committees thereof where notices of such meetings are required by law or these Bylaws. He or she shall record the proceedings
of the meetings of the stockholders and of the Board of Directors and shall be responsible for the custody thereof in a book to be
kept for that purpose. He or she shall also record the proceedings of the committees of the Board of Directors unless such
committees appoint their own respective secretaries. Unless the Board of Directors shall appoint a transfer agent and/or registrar,
the Secretary shall be charged with the duty of keeping, or causing to be kept, accurate records of all stock outstanding, stock
certificates issued and stock transfers. He or she shall sign such instruments as require his or her signature. The Secretary shall
have custody of the corporate seal and shall affix and attest such seal on all documents whose execution under seal is duly
authorized. In his or her absence at any meeting, an Assistant Secretary or the Secretary pro tempore shall perform his or her
duties thereat. He or she shall perform such duties and have such powers additional to the foregoing as the Board of Directors
shall designate.
Section 11. Assistant Secretaries. In the absence or disability of the Secretary, his or her powers and duties shall be
performed by the Assistant Secretary, if only one, or, if more than one, by the one designated for the purpose by the Board of
Directors. Each Assistant Secretary shall perform such duties and have such powers additional to the foregoing as the Board of
Directors shall designate.
Section 12. Salaries. The salaries and other compensation of officers, agents and employees shall be fixed from time to
time by or under authority from the Board of Directors. No officer shall be prevented from receiving a salary or other
compensation by reason of the fact that he or she is also a director of the corporation.
Section 13. Removal. The Board of Directors may remove any officer, either with or without cause, at any time.
Section 14. Bond. The corporation may secure the fidelity of any or all of its officers or agents by bond or otherwise.
Section 15. Resignations. Any officer of the corporation may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Board of
Directors, to the Chairman of the Board of Directors, if any, to the Chief Executive Officer or to the Secretary of the corporation.
Any such resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, or, if the time be not specified, upon receipt thereof; and
unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.
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ARTICLE IV
Capital Stock
Section 1. Stock Certificates; Uncertificated Shares. The shares of capital stock of the corporation shall be represented by
certificates, provided that the Board of Directors may provide by resolution or resolutions that some or all of any or all classes or
series of its stock may be uncertificated shares. Any such resolution shall not apply to shares represented by a certificate until
such certificate is surrendered to the corporation (or the transfer agent or registrar, as the case may be). Notwithstanding the
adoption of such a resolution, every holder of stock represented by certificates and upon request every holder of uncertificated
shares shall be entitled to have a certificate signed by, or in the name of, the corporation by the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of
the Board of Directors or the President or a Vice President, and by the Chief Financial Officer (in his or her capacity as treasurer)
or an Assistant Chief Financial Officer (in his or her capacity as assistant treasurer), or the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary,
certifying the number of shares owned by him or her in the corporation. Any or all of the signatures on the certificate may be a
facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agent, or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a
certificate shall have ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before the certificate is issued, such certificate may
nevertheless be issued by the corporation with the same effect as if he or she were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the
date of issue.
Section 2. Classes of Stock. If the corporation shall be authorized to issue more than one class of stock or more than one
series of any class, the face or back of each certificate issued by the corporation to represent such class or series shall either (a)
set forth in full or summarize the powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of
each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, or (b) contain a statement that the
corporation will furnish a statement of the same without charge to each stockholder who so requests. Within a reasonable time
after the issuance or transfer of uncertificated shares, the corporation shall send to the registered holder thereof such written
notice as may be required by law as to the information required by law to be set forth or stated on stock certificates.
Section 3. Transfer of Stock. Shares of stock shall be transferable only upon the books of the corporation pursuant to
applicable law and such rules and regulations as the Board of Directors shall from time to time prescribe. The Board of Directors
may at any time or from time to time appoint a transfer agent or agents or a registrar or registrars for the transfer or registration of
shares of stock. Except where a certificate, or uncertificated shares, are issued in accordance with Section 5 of Article IV of these
Bylaws, one or more outstanding certificates representing in the aggregate the number of shares involved shall be surrendered for
cancellation before a new certificate, or uncertificated shares, are issued representing such shares.
Section 4. Holders of Record. Prior to due presentment for registration of transfer the corporation may treat the holder of
record of a share of its stock as the complete owner thereof
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exclusively entitled to vote, to receive notifications and otherwise entitled to all the rights and powers of a complete owner
thereof, notwithstanding notice to the contrary.
Section 5. Stock Certificates. The Board of Directors may direct that a new stock certificate or certificates, or
uncertificated shares, be issued in place of any certificate or certificates theretofore issued by the corporation alleged to have been
lost, stolen, or destroyed upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming the certificate of stock to be lost,
stolen or destroyed. When authorizing such issue of a new certificate or certificates, or uncertificated shares, the Board of
Directors may, in its discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen or
destroyed certificate or certificates or his or her legal representative, to give the corporation a bond sufficient to indemnify it
against any claim that may be made against the corporation on account of the alleged loss, theft, or destruction, of such
certificates or the issuance of such new certificate or certificates, or uncertificated shares.
Section 6. Record Date. In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any
meeting of stockholders, or to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights or to exercise any
rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or for the purpose of any other lawful action other than
stockholder action by written consent, the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date
on which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted and which record date shall not be more than 60 nor less than 10 days
before the date of any meeting of stockholders, nor more than 60 days prior to the time for such other action as hereinbefore
described; provided, however, that if no record date is fixed by the Board of Directors, the record date for determining
stockholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day next
preceding the day on which notice is given or, if notice is waived, at the close of business on the day next preceding the day on
which the meeting is held, and, for determining stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or
allotment of rights or to exercise any rights of change, conversion or exchange of stock or for any other purpose, the record date
shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board of Directors adopts a resolution relating thereto. A determination
of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the
meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting.
ARTICLE V
Miscellaneous Provisions
Section 1. Interested Directors and Officers. (a) No contract or transaction between the corporation and one or more of its
directors or officers, or between the corporation and any other corporation, partnership, association, or other organization in
which one or more of its directors or officers are directors or officers, or have a financial interest, shall be void or voidable solely
for this reason, or solely because the director or officer is present at or participates in the meeting
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of the Board of Directors or committee thereof which authorizes the contract or transaction, or solely because his or her or their
votes are counted for such purpose, if:
(i) the material facts as to his or her relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are
known to the Board of Directors or the committee, and the Board of Directors or committee in good faith authorizes the contract
or transaction by the affirmative vote of a majority of the disinterested directors, even though the number of disinterested
directors is less than a quorum; or
(ii) the material facts as to his or her relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or
are known to the stockholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by
vote of the stockholders; or
(iii) the contract or transaction is fair as to the corporation as of the time it is authorized, approved or ratified, by
the Board of Directors, a committee thereof, or the shareholders.
(b) Common or interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board of
Directors or of a committee which authorizes the contract or transaction.
Section 2. Indemnification.
(a) Right to Indemnification. The corporation shall indemnify and hold harmless each person who was or is made a party
or is threatened to be made a party to or is otherwise involved in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal,
administrative or investigative (hereinafter a “proceeding”), by reason of the fact that he or she is or was a director or an officer
of the corporation or is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another
corporation or of a partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including service with respect to an employee benefit plan
(hereinafter an “indemnitee”), whether the basis of such proceeding is alleged action in an official capacity as a director, officer,
employee or agent or in any other capacity while serving as a director or officer, to the fullest extent authorized by law, as the
same exists or may hereafter be amended (but, in the case of any such amendment, only to the extent that such amendment
permits the corporation to provide broader indemnification rights than such law permitted the corporation to provide prior to such
amendment), against all expense, liability and loss (including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines, ERISA excise taxes or penalties
and amounts paid in settlement) reasonably incurred or suffered by such indemnitee in connection therewith; provided, however,
that except as provided in Subsection (c) of this Section with respect to proceedings to enforce rights to indemnification, the
corporation shall indemnify any such indemnitee in connection with a proceeding (or part thereof) initiated by such indemnitee
only if such proceeding (or part thereof) was authorized by the Board of Directors of the corporation; and provided further that as
to any matter disposed of by a compromise payment by such person, pursuant to a consent decree or otherwise, no
indemnification either for said payment or for any other expenses shall be provided unless such compromise and indemnification
therefor shall be appropriated:
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(i) by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of disinterested directors;
(ii) if such a quorum cannot be obtained, then by a majority vote of a committee of the Board of Directors
consisting of all the disinterested directors;
(iii) if there are not two or more disinterested directors in office, then by a majority of the directors then in office,
provided they have obtained a written finding by special independent legal counsel appointed by a majority of the directors to the
effect that, based upon a reasonable investigation of the relevant facts as described in such opinion, the person to be indemnified
appears to have acted in good faith in the reasonable belief that his or her action was in the best interests of the corporation (or, to
the extent that such matter relates to service with respect to an employee benefit plan, in the best interests of the participants or
beneficiaries of such employee benefit plan);
(iv) by the holders of a majority of the shares of stock entitled to vote for the election of directors, which majority
may include interested directors and officers; or
(v) by a court of competent jurisdiction.
An “interested” director or officer is one against whom in such capacity the proceeding in question or other proceeding on
the same or similar grounds is then pending. The termination of any action, suit or proceeding by judgment, order, settlement,
conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption that the person did not act
in good faith and in a manner which he or she reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation,
and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that his or her conduct was unlawful.
(b) Right to Advancement of Expenses. The right to indemnification conferred in Subsection (a) of this Section shall
include the right to be paid by the corporation the expenses incurred in defending any such proceeding in advance of its final
disposition (hereinafter an “advancement of expenses”); provided, however, that if the DGCL requires, an advancement of
expenses incurred by an indemnitee in his or her capacity as a director or officer (and not in any other capacity in which service
was or is rendered by such indemnitee, including, without limitation, service to an employee benefit plan) shall be made only
upon delivery to the corporation of an undertaking (hereinafter an “undertaking”), by or on behalf of such indemnitee, to repay all
amounts so advanced if it shall ultimately be determined by final judicial decision from which there is no further right to appeal
(hereinafter a “final adjudication”) that such indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified for such expenses under this Section or
otherwise, which undertaking may be accepted without reference to the financial ability of such person to make repayment.
(c) Right of Indemnitee to Bring Suit. If a claim under Subsection (a) or (b) of this Section is not paid in full by the
corporation within 60 days after a written claim has been received by the corporation, except in the case of a claim for an
advancement of expenses, in
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which case the applicable period shall be 20 days, the indemnitee may at any time there after bring suit against the corporation to
recover the unpaid amount of the claim. If successful in whole or in part in any such suit, or in a suit brought by the corporation
to recover an advancement of expenses pursuant to the terms of an undertaking, the indemnitee shall be entitled to be paid also
the expense of prosecuting or defending such suit. In (i) any suit brought by the indemnitee to enforce a right to indemnification
hereunder (but not in a suit brought by the indemnitee to enforce a right to an advancement of expenses) it shall be a defense that,
and (ii) any suit by the corporation to recover an advancement of expenses pursuant to the terms of an undertaking the
corporation shall be entitled to recover such expenses upon a final adjudication that, the indemnitee has not met any applicable
standard for indemnification set forth in the DGCL. Neither the failure of the corporation (including its Board of Directors,
independent legal counsel, or its stockholders) to have made a determination prior to the commencement of such suit that
indemnification of the indemnitee is proper in the circumstances because the indemnitee has met the applicable standard of
conduct set forth in the DGCL, nor an actual determination by the corporation (including its Board of Directors, independent
legal counsel, or its stockholders) that the indemnitee has not met such applicable standard of conduct, shall create a presumption
that the indemnitee has not met the applicable standard of conduct or, in the case of such a suit brought by the indemnitee, be a
defense to such suit. In any suit brought by the indemnitee to enforce a right to indemnification or to an advancement of expenses
hereunder, or by the corporation to recover an advancement of expenses pursuant to the terms of an undertaking, the burden of
proving that the indemnitee is not entitled to be indemnified, or to such advancement of expenses, under this Section or otherwise
shall be on the corporation.
(d) Non-exclusivity of Rights. The rights to indemnification and to the advancement of expenses conferred in this Section
shall not be exclusive of any other right which any person may have or hereafter acquire under any statute, certificate of
incorporation, bylaw, agreement, vote of disinterested directors or otherwise. The corporation’s indemnification under this
Section 2 of any person who is or was a director or officer of the corporation, or is or was serving, at the request of the
corporation, as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise,
shall be reduced by any amounts such person receives as indemnification (i) under any policy of insurance purchased and
maintained on his or her behalf by the corporation, (ii) from such other corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise, or (iii) under any other applicable indemnification provision.
(e) Joint Representation. If both the corporation and any person to be indemnified are parties to an action, suit or
proceeding (other than an action or suit by or in the right of the corporation to procure a judgment in its favor), counsel
representing the corporation therein may also represent such indemnified person (unless such dual representation would involve
such counsel in a conflict of interest in violation of applicable principles of professional ethics), and the corporation shall pay all
fees and expenses of such counsel incurred during the period of dual representation other than those, if any, as would not have
been incurred if counsel were representing only the corporation; and any allocation made in good faith by such counsel of fees
and disbursements payable under this paragraph by the corporation versus fees and disbursements payable by any such
indemnified person shall be final and binding upon the corporation and such indemnified person.
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(f) Indemnification of Employees and Agents of the Corporation. Except to the extent that rights to indemnification and
advancement of expenses of employees or agents of the corporation may be required by any statute, the Certificate of
Incorporation, this Section or any other bylaw, agreement, vote of disinterested directors or otherwise, the corporation may, to the
extent authorized from time to time by the Board of Directors, grant rights to indemnification and to the advancement of
expenses to any employee or agent of the corporation to the fullest extent of the provisions of this Section with respect to the
indemnification and advancement of expenses of directors and officers of the corporation.
(g) Insurance. The corporation may maintain insurance, at its expense, to protect itself and any director, officer, employee
or agent of the corporation or another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise against any expense,
liability or loss, whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such expense, liability or
loss under the DGCL (as currently in effect or hereafter amended), the Certificate of Incorporation or these Bylaws.
(h) Nature of Indemnification Right; Modification of Repeal of Indemnification. Each person who is or becomes a
director or officer as described in subsection (a) of this Section 2 shall be deemed to have served or to have continued to serve in
such capacity in reliance upon the indemnity provided for in this Section 2. All rights to indemnification (and the advancement of
expenses) under this Section 2 shall be deemed to be provided by a contract between the corporation and the person who serves
as a director or officer of the corporation at any time while these Bylaws and other relevant provisions of the DGCL and other
applicable law, if any, are in effect. Such rights shall continue as to an indemnitee who has ceased to be a director, officer,
employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the indemnitee’s heirs, executors and administrators. Any modification or
repeal of this Section 2 shall not adversely affect any right or protection existing under this Section 2 at the time of such
modification or repeal.
Section 3. Stock in Other Corporations. Subject to any limitations that may be imposed by the Board of Directors, the
President or any person or persons authorized by the Board of Directors may, in the name and on behalf of the corporation, (a)
call meetings of the holders of stock or other securities of any corporation or other organization, stock or other securities of which
are held by this corporation, (b) act, or appoint any other person or persons (with or without powers of substitution) to act in the
name and on behalf of the corporation, or (c) express consent or dissent, as a holder of such securities, to corporate or other
action by such other corporation or organization.
Section 4. Checks, Notes, Drafts and Other Instruments. Checks, notes drafts and other instruments for the payment of
money drawn or endorsed in the name of the corporation may be signed by any officer or officers or person or persons authorized
by the Board of Directors to sign the same. No officer or person shall sign any such instrument as aforesaid unless authorized by
the Board of Directors to do so.
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Section 5. Corporate Seal. The seal of the corporation shall be circular in form, bearing the name of the corporation, the
word “Delaware”, and the year of incorporation, and the same may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or
affixed or in any other manner reproduced.
Section 6. Books and Records. The books, accounts and records of the corporation, except as may be otherwise required
by law, may be kept outside of the State of Delaware, at such place or places as the Board of Directors may from time to time
appoint. Except as may otherwise be provided by law, the Board of Directors shall determine whether and to what extent the
books, accounts, records and documents of the corporation, or any of them, shall be open to the inspection of the stockholders.
Section 7. Severability. If any term or provision of the Bylaws, or the application thereof to any person or circumstances
or period of time, shall to any extent be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of the Bylaws shall be valid and enforced to the
fullest extent permitted by law.
Section 8. Interpretations. Words importing persons include firms, associations and corporations, all words importing the
singular number include the plural number and vice versa, and all words importing the masculine gender include the feminine
gender.
Section 9. Amendments. The Board of Directors is expressly empowered to adopt, amend or repeal these Bylaws;
provided that the Board of Directors shall not have the power to alter, amend or repeal any bylaw adopted by the stockholders
that by its terms may be altered, amended or repealed only by the stockholders. The stockholders also have the power to adopt,
amend or repeal the Bylaws of the corporation.
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Exhibit 4.04

DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
VeriSign, Inc. (“Verisign,” “we,” “us” or “our”) has one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”): our common stock, par value $0.001 per share (our “common stock”).
DESCRIPTION OF COMMON STOCK
The following summary description sets forth some of the general terms and provisions of our common stock. Because
this is a summary description, it does not contain all of the information that may be important to you. For a more detailed
description of our common stock, you should refer to the provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and
our bylaws, each of which is filed or incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which this
description is an exhibit.
General
We are authorized to issue (i) 1,000,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share, and (ii) 5,000,000
shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share. The shares of our common stock currently outstanding are fully paid and
non-assessable. No shares of preferred stock are currently outstanding.
Voting Rights
The holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters submitted for action by our
stockholders. Except as otherwise required by law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our bylaws, matters
submitted to a vote of stockholders (other than director elections) will be decided by the affirmative vote of a majority of the
shares of our common stock present or represented by proxy and entitled to vote on the matter.
Each of our directors is elected by the affirmative vote of the majority of the votes cast (as defined in our bylaws) with
respect to that director at any meeting for the election of directors at which a quorum is present, unless the number of nominees
exceeds the number of directors to be elected, in which case the directors are elected by the vote of a plurality of the votes cast at
such meeting. There is no provision for cumulative voting with regard to the election of directors.
Dividend and Liquidation Rights
Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of outstanding
shares of common stock are entitled to receive dividends out of assets legally available therefor at such times and in such
amounts as our board of directors from time to time may determine. Upon liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of Verisign, the
assets legally available for distribution to stockholders would be distributed ratably among the holders
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of our common stock and any participating preferred stock outstanding at that time after payment of liquidation preferences, if
any, on any outstanding preferred stock and payment of other claims of creditors.
Other Rights
The holders of our common stock have no preemptive rights and no rights to convert their common stock into any other
securities, and our common stock is not subject to any redemption or sinking fund provisions.
Anti-Takeover Provisions
Various provisions contained in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our bylaws and Delaware law could
delay or discourage some transactions involving an actual or potential change in control of Verisign or our management and may
limit the ability of our stockholders to remove current management or approve transactions that our stockholders may deem to be
in their best interests. Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our bylaws:
•

authorize our board of directors to establish one or more series of undesignated preferred stock, the terms of which
can be determined by our board of directors at the time of issuance;

•

do not authorize cumulative voting;

•

authorize our board of directors, subject to certain exceptions, to alter, amend or repeal any bylaw;

•

provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by the chairman of our board of directors, the
president, our board of directors, or our secretary (acting as a representative of the stockholders) whenever a
stockholder or group of stockholders owning at least 10% in the aggregate of the capital stock issued, outstanding and
entitled to vote, and who held that amount in a net long position continuously for at least one year, so request in
writing;

•

provide that our stockholders may take action only at a duly called meeting and not by written consent;

•

in connection with stockholder meetings, provide an advanced written notice procedure with respect to stockholder
nomination for directors and bringing other business; and

•

provide that our directors may fill any vacancies on our board of directors, including newly created board seats
resulting from an increase in the authorized number of directors and vacancies resulting from the death, resignation, or
other cause.
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In addition, we are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which regulates, subject to some
exceptions, acquisitions of publicly held Delaware corporations. In general, Section 203 prohibits us from engaging in a
“business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years following the date the person becomes an
interested stockholder, unless:
•

our board of directors approved the business combination or the transaction in which the person became an interested
stockholder prior to the date the person attained this status;

•

upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the person becoming an interested stockholder, the person
owned at least 85% of our voting stock outstanding at the time the transaction commenced, excluding shares owned
by persons who are directors and also officers and issued under employee stock plans under which employee
participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered
in a tender or exchange offer; or

•

on or subsequent to the date the person became an interested stockholder, our board of directors approved the business
combination and the stockholders other than the interested stockholder authorized the transaction at an annual or
special meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding stock not owned by the
interested stockholder.

Section 203 defines a “business combination” to include:
•

any merger or consolidation involving us and the interested stockholder;

•

any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition involving the interested stockholder of 10% or more of our assets;

•

in general, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by us of any of our stock to the interested
stockholder;

•

any transaction involving us that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of our stock owned by the
interested stockholders; and

•

the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges, or other financial
benefits provided by or through us.

In general, Section 203 defines an “interested stockholder” as any person who, together with the person’s affiliates and
associates, owns, or within three years prior to the time of determination of interested stockholder status did own, 15% or more of
a corporation’s voting stock.
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Listing
Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol VRSN.
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Exhibit 23.01
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
VeriSign, Inc.:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-39212, 333-45237, 333-46803, 333-50072, 333-53230, 333-58583,
333-59458, 333-69818, 333-75236, 333-82941, 333-86178, 333-86188, 333-106395, 333-113431, 333-117908, 333-123937, 333-125052, 333-126352,
333-127249, 333-132988, 333-134026, 333-144590, 333-147136, and 333-223107) on Form S-8, the registration statement (No. 333-147135) on Form S1, the registration statements (Nos. 333-74393, 333-77433, 333-89991, 333-94445, 333-72222, and 333-76386) on Form S-3, and registration statements
(Nos. 333-190732, 333-204485, and 333-219525) on Form S-4 of VeriSign, Inc. (the Company) of our reports dated February 19, 2021, with respect to the
consolidated balance sheets of VeriSign, Inc. as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive income,
stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes, and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, which reports appear in the December 31, 2020 annual report on Form 10‑K of the
Company.
/s/ KPMG LLP
McLean, Virginia
February 19, 2021

EXHIBIT 31.01
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, D. James Bidzos, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of VeriSign, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 19, 2021

By:

/S/ D. JAMES BIDZOS
D. James Bidzos
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.02
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, George E. Kilguss, III, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of VeriSign, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: February 19, 2021

By:

/S/ GEORGE E. KILGUSS, III
George E. Kilguss, III
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.01
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, D. James Bidzos, Chief Executive Officer of VeriSign, Inc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
1. the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
Date: February 19, 2021

/S/ D. JAMES BIDZOS
D. James Bidzos
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.02
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, George E. Kilguss, III, Chief Financial Officer of VeriSign, Inc. (the “Company”), do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
1. the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2. the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.
Date: February 19, 2021

/S/ GEORGE E. KILGUSS, III
George E. Kilguss, III
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

